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SECTION A

GENERAL INFORMATION

The NIHSS occupies a singular position in the
South African higher education landscape
and the humanities and social sciences (HSS)
in particular. Neither a university nor a place
of learning or research entity, the Institute is
a fully fledged, publicly funded organisation
that works with higher education partners and
stakeholders to advance and strengthen HSS
disciplines and their contribution to equity,
justice and social responsibility. We also advise
the Minister of Higher Education and Training
on matters related to the Institute’s strategic
objectives, or on policy affecting teaching and
research in the HSS.
VISION AND MISSION
Our vision is of a new HSS that is at the epicentre
of scholarship, pedagogy, community practice
and social responsibility in Africa.
The NIHSS’s mission is to redress existing
deficits and to fund, coordinate and convene
academic and research programmes, projects,
collaborations and activities in the HSS
disciplines within and through South African
public universities.

A STATUTORY BODY
The Institute is a statutory body established on 5 December 2013
as a juristic entity. On that date, its mandate, governance, functions,
name and structures were published in Government Gazette
No 37118. Being publicly funded, the NIHSS’s focus is on supporting
South Africa’s public universities to advance and strengthen the HSS
disciplines, including their contribution to post-colonial and postapartheid nation building, national development and the building of
a democratic culture.
OUR EXPANDED MANDATE
Since the inception of the NIHSS in 2013, we have worked with
universities, think tanks and research bodies to convene and
coordinate PhD-level academic programmes, catalytic research and
international research collaborations. The Institute’s responsibilities
were expanded in 2015 when it became the custodian of the South
African BRICS Think Tank (SABTT). This expanded mandate, mission
and strategic objectives included:
• fostering international research collaborations between South
Africa, Africa and countries of the Global South, including Brazil,
Russia, India and China,
• acting as a dynamic broker between the worlds of knowledge and
policy action on behalf of South Africa and the SABTT,
• coordinating and managing all BRICS Think Tank-related activities
on behalf of South Africa, through its core functions of enhancing
and coordinating scholarship, research and ethical practice in HSS
fields.
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ENABLING LEGISLATION
The Institute’s mandate is underpinned by the Higher Education
Act of 1997 and the Skills Development Act of 1998, and is closely
aligned with the goals of the National Development Plan 2030.
Higher Education Act, 1997 (No 101 of 1997)
NIHSS implementation is guided by the Higher Education Act and
White Paper 3: A Programme for the Transformation of Higher
Education (1997), which provide for a unified, nationally planned
and transformed higher education sector in South Africa. Other
guiding policies are the 2001 National Plan for Higher Education and
the 2013 White Paper for Post-School Education and Training. The
latter seeks to contribute to overcoming the structural challenges
facing our society by expanding access to education and training
opportunities and increasing equity while achieving high levels of
excellence and innovation.
Skills Development Act, 1998 (No 97 of 1998)
The Skills Development Act provides for an institutional framework
to devise national, sector and workplace strategies for developing
and improving South African workplace skills. These strategies
are integrated into the National Skills Framework to address the
financing of skills development through a levy and a National Skills
Fund (NSF).

National Development Plan (NDP) 2030
The NDP offers a long-term perspective on eliminating
poverty and reducing inequality by 2030, seeking to grow
an inclusive economy, build capabilities and enhance
the capacity of the state while promoting leadership and
partnerships throughout society. These objectives require
progress on a broad front, the three main priorities being
to increase employment through accelerated economic
growth, improve the quality of education, skills development
and innovation, and build the capability of the state to play a
developmental and transformative role.
SOURCES OF FUNDING
The Institute has two main sources of funding:
• The Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET)
fully funds the NIHSS operational budget and activities of
the South African BRICS Think Tank.
• The National Skills Fund (NSF) uses designated funds
to support all the Institute’s academic programmes.
These consist of the Doctoral Schools and Scholarship
Programme, National Mentorship Programme, Catalytic
Research Projects, Humanities Hubs, Working Groups and
Professional Associations.

VALUE CREATION
The NIHSS creates value in three main ways:

Enabling PhD scholarship
This entails building capacity and
growing the number of doctoral
students (via scholarships) in the
HSS through:
• NIHSS National Mentorship
Programme
• African Pathways Programme
• Mobility Grants

6
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Serving as a
catalyst for change
in research

International research
collaboration

The NIHSS forges collaborations on
the continent and between developing
economies, networking South African
The Institute increases the scale and
researchers with researchers in
quality of HSS research outputs, fast-tracks
the Global South through the
research in new areas, strengthens previously
BRICS programme and other
neglected HSS disciplines and changes the
international collaborations.
way the HSS produce knowledge.
The vehicles for this are:
• Catalytic Research Projects
• Working Groups
• Professional Associations
• Humanities Hubs
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SHARED GUIDING PRINCIPLES
When conceptualising, convening and implementing academic
programmes and projects, the NIHSS adheres to five guiding
principles:

1
2
3
4
5

Cooperation and the establishment of communities
of scholarship – The Institute works across organisational
and disciplinary boundaries to establish communities of
collaborating scholars.
Norm-driven internationalisation – The NIHSS is open
to dialogue with its Northern counterparts but focuses
specifically on strengthening Africa-wide South-South
collaborations.
Social responsibility and equity – The Institute is mindful
that research and development funded with taxpayers’
money should have value to society and respond to the socioeconomic problems that face South Africa and its citizens
today.
Functional differentiation as opposed to resource
differentiation – Rather than preserving a higher education
and research system differentiated on the basis of research
inequality, the NIHSS provides opportunities to eradicate
resource inequality and encourages differentiation in priorities
and visions to cater for diversity.
Transformative relevance – The NIHSS works unrelentingly to
open up new areas of research, which in turn have a multiplier
effect on future research projects and serious transformative
implications for the curriculum in the humanities and social
sciences.
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OUR INTERNAL VALUES

TEAMWORK
• Placing the needs of our
stakeholders above our individual
needs.
• Achieving maximum value from shared
resources, knowledge and expertise.
• Participating and contributing in a
flexible, supportive manner.

RESPECT

EXCELLENCE

• Demonstrating confidence in the
abilities of others.

• Setting high standards in
whatever we do.

• Treating all colleagues and others the
way we expect them to treat us.

• Aiming to do the best in everything
we do.

• Not discriminating against
others.

• Delivering quality work.

UBUNTU
(HUMANITY)
• Building a working
environment that is based
on unity, kindness, equity,
empathy and positive
reciprocity.

ACCOUNTABILITY

CREATIVITY

• Holding each other accountable
regardless of hierarchy (rank).

• Demonstrating a “can-do”
attitude.

• Being responsible for every task at hand.

• Encouraging and recognising
innovation and creativity.

• Respecting deadlines, timelines and
workflow.

• Continually seeking new or
better ways of doing things.

INTEGRITY
• Doing what we say we will do.
• Speaking the truth and being fair in
how we judge others.
• Displaying openness and honesty.

8

ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

• Taking ownership of one’s actions
and consequences both good
and bad.

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

OPERATING CONTEXT

Our structure comprises three units, the largest
being the Academic Portfolio, responsible for the
Institute’s academic, research and international
programmes.

Change and fluidity are inherent characteristics of the South African higher
education sector, which in many respects mirrors and often amplifies the dynamics
in the broader society, particularly its persisting inequalities, polarisation and
politicisation, extreme resource constraints and escalating pressure for fundamental
change. Injecting a further layer of complexity to this already potent mix was the
outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic shortly before the end of the 2019/20 financial
year, throwing academic programmes into disarray and forcing higher education
role players to engage in a complete rethink of their modus operandi.

The Operational Portfolio fulfills a strategic role
within the organisation, providing administrative,
financial, supply chain management, information
technology, marketing and communication,
human resources and legal services.
The Executive Office is responsible for strategy
and planning, monitoring and evaluation and
corporate governance support to the NIHSS Board.
All three units report directly to the Chief Executive
Officer of the Institute, who is accountable to the
Board for the performance of the NIHSS.
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This operating context calls for considerable agility to navigate and the NIHSS is
fortunate to possess that, not only by virtue of being a lean, young organisation
but because its very establishment in 2013 was rooted in an understanding of
a society in transition and the commitment to being part of its transformation.
As an organisation that is itself already transformed, from the composition of
its workforce to the research it supports, the scholars it funds and the debates
it stimulates, the Institute is not an entity on the outside looking in but one
grounded in the realities of a country – and continent – striving for equity and
social justice.

CEO

Academic Portfolio

Operational Portfolio

Communication &
Marketing

Finance: CFO

BRICS-SABTT

Information
Technology

Finance Support,
Administration

Humanities Hubs

African Pathways
Mobility Grants
Programme

Human Resources,
Legal Services

Supply Chain
Management

Working
Groups
&
Professional
Associations

International
Research
Programme

Executive Office

Academic Director

Academic Director

Strategy & Planning

Doctoral Schools
& Scholarships
Programme

Catalytic Research
Projects

Monitoring &
Evaluation

African Pathways
Programme (APP)

Corporate
Governance: NIHSS
Board

National
Mentorship
Programme (NMP)
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CELEBRATE
THE JOURNEY

2010 – 2013

2014 – 2015

LAYING THE FOUNDATION

SETTING THE WHEELS IN MOTION

Minister Dr Bonginkosi Blade Nzimande conducts a
consultative process on the social sciences.
A Charter for the Humanities and Social Sciences is set
up and led by Professor Ari Sitas.

The NIHSS Board is appointed.
Operations commence under the Institute’s CEO, Prof
Sarah Mosoetsa.
Strategic objectives for 2015/16 to 2019/20 are tabled.

In April 2012, the Department of Higher Education and
Training (as it was then known) accepts the Charter,
and the formation of the National Institute for the
Humanities and Social Sciences is announced.

Twelve Catalytic Research Projects are launched, along
with the first Humanities Hub.
The NIHSS makes a call for applications.

A steering committee is established
to determine the future of
the humanities and social
sciences.
On 5 December 2013,
the National Institute
for the Humanities
and Social Sciences
is launched.

10
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Funding for 118 South African PhDs is awarded.

At a deeper
level, we also look
to our social scientists,
philosophers, historians, artists
and others to help us rebuild
our sense of nationhood, our
independence and our ability to
take our place proudly in the
community of nations.
– Dr Bonginkosi Blade Nzimande, Minister
of Higher Education, Science
and Technology
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2016
GAINING
MOMENTUM
The NIHSS moves
into a new
home: 2nd floor,
24 St Andrews
Road, Parktown,
Johannesburg.

2017
MAKING
AN IMPACT

2018
DYNAMISING

2019
POSITIONED
TO GROW

The second HSS
Awards take place.

The third HSS
Awards take place.

The fourth HSS
Awards take place.

The first Catalytic
Research
Symposium is held.

Three books are
published.

The NIHSS
celebrates its
200th PhD graduate.

The institute hosts its
inaugural Humanities
and Social Sciences
Awards: Book,
Creative Collection
and Digital
Contribution (HSS
Awards).

The 10th BRICS
Academic Forum is
held.
NIHSS celebrates its
100th PhD graduate.

2020
THE ROAD AHEAD
The fifth HSS
Awards take place.

...our future
is just
beginning...

NIHSS: STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
The institute aims to:
1. Advance postgraduate scholarship through a range of innovations.
2. Dynamise the fields of research and teaching in the HSS in South Africa through a
range of Catalytic Projects and Humanities Hubs.
3. Promote the integrity, reputation and recognition of the HSS within the higher
education community and the science and technology community.

4. Build and strengthen networks and partnerships with organisations working in
areas related to the HSS.
5. Foster international research collaborations between South Africa and countries
of the Global South.
6. Act as a dynamic broker between the worlds of knowledge and policy action.
7. Coordinate and manage all BRICS Think Tank-related activities on behalf of
South Africa.
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Minister of Higher Education,
Science and Technology,
Dr Bonginkosi Blade Nzimande

Deputy Minister of Higher
Education, Science and Technology,
Mr Buti Manamela
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CHAIRPERSON’S FOREWORD
It is hard writing this preface a few months after the
annual cycle it purports to speak about. This preface
was supposed to end with the President’s declaration
of a state of disaster and the implementation of a severe
lockdown on March 25 of 2020. So much has happened
in and through the Institute since that it is hard to reverse
the narrative back to its logical beginning: April 2019.
The easy part is appreciating that the Institute, as the
report indicates, continues to do well across its mandate.
The decline in funding which began in 2018 has not
jeopardised performance, even though everyone had to
work so much harder during the year.
On behalf of the Board I wish to express our appreciation
that for a fourth year we have been given a Clean Audit
by the Auditor-General!
We also appreciate deeply the fact that despite changes
at Ministerial level and political tensions during an
electoral year, the transition from Minister Dr Pandor’s
stewardship to Minister Dr Nzimande’s has been smooth.
We are also pleased that in terms of all research and
performance indicators the humanities and social
sciences have been on an upward trajectory since 2011 to
become the most productive and creative energy point

Honourable President Ramaphosa with
Prof Ari Sitas and Astrid von Kotze

in the country. We hope that our contribution to that pleasing outcome was
more than peripheral!
Furthermore, we were and are confident that through our Catalytic Projects
and our Research Clusters in response to our BRICS mandate, we have created
capacities and cooperative practices through which the social sciences and
the humanities in the university system and beyond, can respond to any crisis
swiftly. We have been active on that front since the initial lockdown.
What is most heartening though has been a simple fact: that more than
70% of PhD graduates through our Doctoral Schools are already in academic
jobs. Our appreciation of the effort by the Deans in our fields, our mentors in
our Doctoral Schools, the students’ supervisors and of course the students
themselves, has to be trumpeted.
We are also pleased that the statutory review of the Institute has been
inaugurated by the Department of Higher Education and Training and
we await their findings and recommendations with keen interest. These
will be occurring within a changed landscape as the merger between the
Department of Higher Education and Training and the Department of Science
and Innovation announces a new era for knowledge production and creativity.
All I have to do then is share in public our thanks to the Institute’s CEO
Professor Sarah Mosoetsa and her team of project leaders and committed
team members who made the year a success.

Emeritus Professor Ari Sitas, OMS
Board Chairperson
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MESSAGE FROM THE CEO
Five years have passed since the National Institute for
the Humanities and Social Sciences (NIHSS) entered
its first strategic planning cycle, commencing on
1 April 2015 and ending on 31 March 2020.
We have come full circle, and that makes this annual
report an opportunity to report not only on the
achievements, developments and yes, challenges, of
the 2019/20 year, but also to consider the cumulative
effect of the work the Institute has been doing to
reignite the intellectual fires of the humanities and
social sciences (HSS) in South Africa.
A one-year view and a retrospective five-year
perspective are all the more relevant if one considers
why the Institute was established: to contribute to an
HSS appropriate for a post-apartheid dispensation
and at the epicentre of scholarship in Africa, as
envisaged in the 2011 Charter for the Humanities and
Social Sciences.
In an appropriate post-apartheid dispensation,
past deficits and disparities in the HSS would
be addressed, new creative energies would be
unlocked and a genuine African HSS project would
be built – one that approached neighbouring
countries as equal partners and not sources of
“student fodder”.
Fundamentally, these are the tasks – formidable tasks,
it must be said – that the NIHSS set out to accomplish
when embarking on its first Strategic Plan and laying
the building blocks of a functioning, well-governed
organisation. As an entirely new entity, the Institute
had started out with the bare essentials and no
structures, staff, policies, processes and procedures
or partners – albeit with plenty of passion for and
commitment to the revitalisation of the HSS.
Much ground covered in five years
Few publicly funded organisations in South Africa
have had the privilege of starting out on a fresh page,
unencumbered by legacy issues. Yet establishing a
new organisation and moving into uncharted terrain
– amid scepticism from some quarters – is not a
challenge to embark on lightly.
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In the early years, the Institute experienced some strenuous challenges,
requiring management to expend much time and energy defusing
these. Owing to the steadfast stewardship of the first NIHSS Board, these
challenges did not detract from our performance.
By the end of our first full financial year, 2015/16, the organisation was
fully functional, with all the requisite policies and processes in place, from
internal audit to supply chain management and human resources. The
academic programme of the NIHSS was up and running, key partners
were on board and our mandate had been extended to include a critical
responsibility as custodian of the South African BRICS Think Tank.
This is the backdrop against which the Institute has to date been
instrumental in delivering 229 new doctoral graduates and over 200
research outputs, while supporting research in previously neglected
disciplines such as indigenous African languages in higher education,
African precolonial history and the arts, including music and
photography.
At the same time, we have created strong partnerships with other HSS
institutions in India and China, represented South Africa in all BRICS
academic activities and fostered international research collaborations
in fields of mutual importance, such as the food-water-energy nexus,
and political and economic governance.
All the while, the NIHSS has taken the utmost case with the public
resources entrusted to us.

Public resources in safe hands
Testimony to this is the fact that the Institute has for
four consecutive years received unqualified audit
opinions from the Auditor-General of South Africa.
Consecutive unqualified audits are few and far
between in the South African public sector at this
point in time, and the NIHSS’s success in this regard
reflects an unrelenting focus over the five years of
our Strategic Plan 2015/16 to 2019/20 on improving
internal controls and strengthening supply chain
management processes and practices.
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overlooked HSS creative-intellectuals – novelists, poets, biographers,
musicians, digital artists and performing artists – by hosting the annual
South African HSS Awards across the five-year period. The awards are one
of very few platforms available to celebrate intellectual creative scholarship
in the HSS disciplines.

The fifth edition of the Annual HSS Awards was held on 12 March 2020 –
just two weeks before South African President Cyril Ramaphosa announced
the commencement of the national lockdown in response to the COVID-19
pandemic. As it happened, the 2020 awards ceremony turned out to be
the last large gathering that the NIHSS would host for
many months, an eventuality that, in hindsight,
made the occasion even more memorable.
It is this sense of discipline and noThe winning works celebrated that
compromises respect for good
As
night provided ample high-quality
governance that has provided
an advocate for
literary, digital, musical and visual
the foundation for the Institute’s
material to keep anyone engaged,
often
unconventional
equity, justice and social
stimulated, challenged and
approach to the academic
responsibility, the NIHSS
entertained throughout the
and research programmes
has vigorously supported
lockdown.
we support, fund, coordinate
progressive
scholarship
that
and facilitate. With the
One example that leaps to mind
fundamentals in place, we
encourages the Africanisation
is Black Academic Voices: The South
have had greater leeway to
and decolonisation of
African Experience, which won the
be innovative in the way we
curricula.
2020 award for best non-fiction
approach our core business. This
edited volume and offers a riveting
is despite the ongoing funding
account of the personal experiences of
challenges we experienced in the last
black academics at South African universities.
two years of the Strategic Plan cycle, and
Another is Fiona Snyckers’ novel Lacuna, which
particularly in 2019/20. As the results show, funding
won best fiction novel and boldly, almost audaciously, takes on Nobel
constraints did not dampen our determination to
Prize-winning author JM Coetzee for his assumptions about women’s
pursue the vision set in the HSS Charter.
experiences of rape.
Shifting debates and offering alternative
Then there is Mantombi Matotiyana’s Songs of Greeting, Healing and
viewpoints
Heritage, where the musician’s contemporary voice blends with the bow
A characteristic of our approach from the beginning
song tradition of the Eastern Cape. Many indigenous musicians have
has been to shift debates and offer alternative
voiced concern that bow song is dying out and Mantombi’s collection,
viewpoints countering entrenched and hegemonic
winner of the creative collections: musical composition/arrangement
dialogues that perpetuate unfair social systems and
category, is a welcome contribution to the preservation of this treasured
an unjust world order. As an advocate for equity,
indigenous tradition and a joy to listen to.
justice and social responsibility, the NIHSS has
vigorously supported progressive scholarship that
The digital wizardry of fashion designer, filmmaker and lecturer Nirma
encourages the Africanisation and decolonisation
Dolly Madhoo is on full display in Azimuth, An Experiment of Virtual Reality
of curricula.
for the Fashion Film Genre. Azimuth is a virtual reality fashion film that is
compelling for its aesthetic value, digital mastery and celebration of black
Furthermore, we have loudly and proudly celebrated
identities in a way that, in the words of Nirma herself, is an “affirmative
the artistry and eloquence of South Africa’s often-
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affirmation of a techno sartorial black feminine”. The
film, which is liberating in its subtle undermining of
hegemonic Western fashion culture, won the award
for best digital humanities visualisation/infographic.
These works and, without exception, all the others
that won awards or were shortlisted for the 2020
awards, embody the excellence that has become
synonymous with the Annual HSS Awards since the
inaugural event in 2015/16.

BRICS highlights of the year
The five-year highlight of the NIHSS’s role as custodian of the South African
BRICS Think Tank (SABTT) was without a doubt South Africa’s successful hosting
of the 10th BRICS Academic Forum in Johannesburg in May 2018. More than 200
scholars from Brazil, China, India, Russia and South Africa attended the Academic
Forum, which for the first time included representatives from other African
countries such as Namibia and Senegal. This was an innovation introduced by
the Institute, which also succeeded in having gender equality formally included
in the Academic Forum agenda for the first time.

After the enormous amount of time and energy invested in hosting the
10th BRICS Academic Forum, it was with a sense of a job well done that the
Instituted handed the Academic Forum Chairship to Brazil in 2019. We then
took up the slack by making an early start on preparing for the contribution
the SABTT delegation would make at the 11th Academic Forum in Brasilia in
September 2019, working closely with the Department of
Who could forget the tragic, poignant and
Higher Education and Training and the Department
spellbinding account of black South African soldiers
of International Relations and Cooperation
aboard the ill-fated World War II warship,
(DIRCO). Professor Siphamandla Zondi, who
SS Mendi, as told by Fred Khumalo in
in 2019/20 succeeded Professor Ari Sitas
Dancing the Death Drill, joint winner
While
as Chairperson of the SABTT Council,
of the 2019 award for best fiction:
playing our part on
led the South African delegation.
single authored volume?
Who could forget Jacob Dlamini’s Askari: A Story of
Collaboration and Betrayal in the Liberation Struggle,
which won the best monograph award in 2016?

And who could forget My Own
Liberator, the memoir of retired
Judge Dikgang Moseneke, our
2018 best non-fiction monograph
winner, whose beautifully written
book charts his incredible journey
from humble childhood to teenage
activist, political prisoner on Robben
Island and ultimately Deputy Chief Justice
of the Constitutional Court?

the global academic stage
through our participation in
BRICS academic events, the
Institute reached a critical
point in our doctoral
scholarship programme
during the year.

The 2020 winners are clearly in good company;
company that boldly breaks with convention and
challenges norms, shatters stereotypes and shows
in no uncertain terms that South African creativeintellectual scholarship is world class yet uniquely
our own.
The ability to retain our African identity within
international contexts has also characterised our
participation in BRICS academic activities since the
NIHSS began representing South Africa in these
activities in 2015/16.
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While playing our part on the
global academic stage through our
participation in BRICS academic
events, the Institute reached a critical
point in our doctoral scholarship
programme during the year.

Keeping our alumni in the circle
The number of PhD students who have
successfully completed their doctoral studies
reached the 200-graduate mark in October 2019, just in
time for the Fifth Annual Doctoral Scholarship Conference (ANDC). The ANDC is a
vibrant, not-to-be-missed event where NIHSS PhD scholarship students from all
the provinces converge to grow their academic acumen, present their research
and be critiqued and learn from each other.
The 2019 conference at the Birchwood Hotel and Conference Centre near
Boksburg was the biggest in the five-year history of the ANDC and also the
most exciting, signalling a new stage in the Institute’s relationship with alumni.
Our intention is to continue supporting graduates in the next phases of their
careers, whether as academics or social entrepreneurs or in government or
the private sector, while also offering them opportunities to serve scholarship
recipients coming up behind them.

The vehicle for this symbiotic relationship is the
NIHSS Doctoral Alumni Forum, officially launched
at the 2019 ANDC and graced by the presence
of almost all the first 200 alumni. From their
exuberant applause, there was no mistaking their
enthusiasm for the advent of the Alumni Forum,
which will serve as a networking platform, provide
mentorship and tracking programmes and hold
annual conferences to enable knowledge sharing
and collaboration.
It was an honour, too, that Dr Bonginkosi Blade
Nzimande, Minister of Higher Education, Science
and Technology, accepted the Institute’s invitation
to deliver the keynote speech at the ANDC awards
ceremony. He praised the Institute’s efforts so far
to advance HSS programmes, while also noting
that “its work must be continually supported” as
enormous challenges still have to be faced.
These challenges include supporting research into
the implications for humanity and the humanities of
the fourth industrial revolution (4IR) and continuing
to advance the transformation of race and gender.
Importantly, such transformation should not only
focus on demographics of students, academics and
researchers, but also “the kind of research we seek
to promote, and the research questions we seek to
answer, in the humanities and social sciences”.
Dr Nzimande went on to say that the HSS must always
assist in society’s understanding of contemporary
challenges and in advancing solutions to these
problems, which include the serious economic
crises in Sub-Saharan Africa and the resulting
crises of social reproduction, notably the tensions
and clashes between the poor from the rest of the
Southern African Development Community (SADC)
and poor South Africans.
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the most regressive societal tendencies like racism, patriarchy, xenophobia, drug
and substance abuse, etc.”
Such challenges are without a doubt on our radar as the NIHSS prepares to enter
the next phase of our existence, subject of course to the findings of the Ministerial
Evaluation Panel that in 2020/21 will conduct an independent evaluation of the
Institute’s first five-year cycle – the completion of our first full circle.
Coming full circle
The Institute is grateful for the wise counsel and unwavering leadership provided
by the NIHSS Board, under the chairship of Professor Ari Sitas, who in April 2019
received the Order of Mapungubwe from President Cyril Ramaphosa. National
Orders are the highest honour that can be bestowed on citizens of South Africa
and my heart swells with pride to know that Professor Sitas has been recognised
in this way.
On behalf of the NIHSS, I also pay tribute to the other members of our Board, both
those who have been with us from the beginning and those who recently joined
us, for the passion and integrity they bring to their roles.
To the staff of the NIHSS, I express my gratitude for your professionalism,
commitment and loyalty to the vision of the Institute. You are an exceptional team!
Finally, to our key stakeholders and broader NIHSS family, especially our doctoral
students, alumni, mentors, project leaders, and university executive deans
represented by the South African Humanities Deans’ Association (Sahuda), thank
you for your contribution to the rekindling of the humanities and social sciences,
and may we continue the journey together for many years to come.

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa
Chief Executive Officer

“The above challenges and their associated problems
also call for the advancement of a social science
and humanities for, amongst other things, social
and ecological justice and equality,” the Minister
said. “This is even more important in a world that is
increasingly witnessing the resurgence of some of
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Official launch of the
NIHSS Doctoral Alumni
Forum in 2019
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES AND PERFORMANCE 2019/20
For the NIHSS, 31 March 2020 represented a key milestone: the completion
of our first five-year Strategic Plan cycle. While this annual report focuses
primarily on the activities and achievements of the fifth year of this cycle,
2019/20, it also highlights some of the cumulative results delivered.
Of note is that the completion of the Strategic Plan for 2015/16 to 2019/20
is reflected in the first of the seven strategic objectives set for the Institute
in 2019/20. The remaining six strategic objectives follow on from the
previous years’ objectives, with some refinements in terms of targets set.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7

Strategic Objective 1:
Assure a sustainable return on the investment made in the
humanities and social sciences
Strategic Objective 2:
Advance postgraduate scholarship through a range of innovations
Strategic Objective 3:
Dynamise the fields of research and teaching in the humanities
and social sciences in South Africa through a range of Catalytic
Research Projects and Humanities Hubs
Strategic Objective 4:
Build and strengthen networks and partnerships with organisations
working in areas related to the humanities and social sciences
Strategic Objective 5:
Foster international research collaborations between South Africa,
Africa and countries of the Global South, including Brazil, India and
China
Strategic Objective 6:
Act as a dynamic knowledge broker between the worlds of
knowledge and policy action on behalf of South Africa as the
South African BRICS Think Tank
Strategic Objective 7:
Coordinate and manage all South African BRICS Think Tank-related
activities on behalf of South Africa.
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2019/20 HIGHLIGHTS
DOCTORAL SCHOOLS

13

mentors were
appointed to
support the Doctoral
Schools, collectively
co-hosting 33
regional doctoral
workshops.

200
97

PhD students
graduated during the
year, bringing the five-year
total to 229. Of these,
graduates are South
Africans and 48
from other African nations.

181

81%
46%

of targets achieved

exceeded

RESEARCH OUTPUTS GENERATED

52

research outputs were reported by leaders
of Catalytic Research Projects and Humanities
Hubs, substantially more than the target of
30 outputs.

11

This is over and above the
research outputs
by scholars with funding for BRICS and international
research collaborations.
Cumulatively, the Institute’s support for the humanities
and social sciences has resulted in the generation of
200 outputs overall.
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alumni
attended
the launch of the
Doctoral Alumni
Forum, held during
the 5th Annual
National Doctoral
Conference in
October 2019
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RESEARCH PROJECTS FUNDED

9

6

Humanities
Hubs

BRICS Cluster
Projects

10

international
collaborative research
projects

12

Catalytic Research
Projects

28
Working
Groups

THE INSTITUTE HAS PUBLISHING AGREEMENTS WITH HSRC PRESS,
JACANA MEDIA, UKZN PRESS AND WITS UNIVERSITY PRESS
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Comprehensive risk assessment and
gap analysis in the context of the 2011
Charter

2025 business plan and contingency
measures

Number of NIHSS-funded South
African doctoral students monitored
by the NIHSS in the humanities and
social sciences.

Number of NIHSS-funded non-South
African doctoral students monitored
by the NIHSS in the humanities and
social sciences

Throughput rate on total funded
Sahuda PhDs by March 2020

1.3

2. Advance
2.1
postgraduate
scholarship through a
range of innovations

2.2

2.3

Strategic Review of the impact of the
first five years

1. Assure a
1.1
sustainable return on
the investment made
in the humanities and
social sciences

1.2

Key performance indicator (KPI)

Strategic objective No

New indicator

111

600

New indicator

New indicator

New indicator

Actual
achievement
2018/19

Table 1. Performance overview for the 2019/20 financial year

STRATEGIC PROGRAMME INTERVENTIONS

318*
graduates
cumulative

111

578

1

1

1

Planned
target
2019/20

100%

57%

-137
181*
graduates
cumulative

100%

0%

0%

0%

Actual
achievement
%

0

0

-1

-1

-1

Deviation

111

578

0

0

0

Actual
achievement
2019/20 FY

A sizeable number of students are in
their writing-up phase and expected to
complete their studies in 2020/21.

Only 103 graduated during the 2018/19 FY
and a further 78 graduated in 2019/20.

Target not achieved, due to the slow
progress by students as a result of
numerous challenges they experienced.

Target achieved

Target achieved

Target not achieved due to the delay in
the commencement of the independent
review. The five-year business plan will
be finalised in 2020/21, based on the
outcomes of the Review.

Target not achieved due to the delay in
the commencement of the independent
Review. The risk assessment will be
finalised in 2020/21, when the Review is
concluded.

Target not achieved due to the delay in
the commencement of the independent
Review. This is expected to commence in
May 2020.

Comment
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3. Dynamise the
fields of research
and teaching in
the humanities
and social sciences
in South Africa
through a range of
Catalytic Projects and
Humanities Hubs

Throughput rate on total funded
CODESRIA PhDs by March 2020

Number of NIHSS-funded South
African postdoctoral fellows monitored
by the NIHSS in the humanities and
social sciences

Number of mentors appointed by the
NIHSS to support Doctoral Schools,
and ultimately enhance the creativity
and technical capacities of NIHSS
doctoral students

Number of regional doctoral
workshops co-hosted by mentors
through the NIHSS Doctoral Schools to
enhance the creativity and technical
capacities of NIHSS-funded doctoral
students

NIHSS hosted the Annual National
Doctoral Conference as an innovation
to advance postgraduate scholarship

NIHSS Catalytic Research Projects
monitored

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

3.1

Key performance indicator (KPI)

2.4

Strategic objective No

7

7

1

12

35

1

12

6+

61#
Graduates
cumulative

Planned
target
2019/20

13

2

New indicator

Actual
achievement
2018/19

12

1

33

13

4

48#
Graduates
cumulative

Actual
achievement
2019/20 FY

+5

0

+21

+1

0

-13

Deviation

171%

100%

275%

108%

100%

80%

Actual
achievement
%

SECTION B

Target achieved and exceeded, without
adverse effects on the budget

Target achieved

Target achieved and exceeded, without
adverse effects on the budget.

Target achieved and exceeded, without
adverse effects on the budget

Target achieved

A sizeable number of students are in
their writing-up phase and expected to
complete their studies in 2020/21.

Only 29 graduates were counted in
2018/19, and a further 19 students
graduated in 2019/20.

Target not achieved, due to the slow
progress by students as a result of
numerous challenges they experienced.

Comment
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5

5

20
monitored

12

Number of international collaborative
research projects to promote
the principle of norm-driven
internationalisation and collaboration
of institutions in the Global South

Number of international mobility
grants (APP and BRICS) to promote
the principle of norm-driven
internationalisation and collaboration
of institutions in the Global South

5. Foster international 5.1
research
collaborations
between South Africa,
Africa and countries
of the Global South,
5.2
including Brazil, India
and China

2

6

Number of colloquiums/ conferences
hosted or co-hosted by the NIHSS to
create, foster and maintain a culture of
collaborative scholarship, research and
engagement in the humanities and
social sciences

4.3

1

1

15

10

Number of NIHSS Annual Awards
ceremonies held to recognise the
contribution to the HSS of individuals
within the higher education
community

19

30

5

Planned
target
2019/20

17

Number of conferences, workshops,
colloquiums and similar academic
events organised by leaders and
collaborators of NIHSS-funded projects

3.4

56

12

Actual
achievement
2018/19

Number of Working Groups,
professional organisations and
associations funded by the NIHSS

The number of research outputs in
the humanities and social sciences
produced by the Catalytic Projects
and Humanities Hubs leaders and
collaborators

3.3

4.1
4. Build and
strengthen networks
and partnerships
with organisations
working in areas
related to the
4.2
humanities and social
sciences

NIHSS Humanities Hubs monitored

Key performance indicator (KPI)

3.2

Strategic objective No

STRATEGIC PROGRAMME INTERVENTIONS

8

10

2

1

28

20

52

6

Actual
achievement
2019/20 FY

+3

+5

0

0

+13

+10

+22

+1

Deviation

160%

200%

100%

100%

186%

200%

173%

120%

Actual
achievement
%

Target achieved and exceeded, without
adverse effects on budget.

Target achieved and exceeded, without
adverse effects on the budget.

Target achieved

Target achieved

Target achieved and exceeded, without
adverse effects on the budget.

Target achieved and exceeded, without
adverse effects on the budget.

Target achieved and exceeded, without
adverse effects on the budget.

Target achieved and exceeded, without
adverse effects on the budget.

Comment
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3

6

23

3

2

8

8

5

19

9

4

Planned
target
2019/20

5

Actual
achievement
2018/19

3

3

8

9

11

5

Actual
achievement
2019/20 FY

0

+1

0

+1

+6

0

Deviation

100%

150%

100%

112%

220%

125%

Actual
achievement
%

Target achieved

Target achieved and exceeded, without
adverse effects on the budget.

Target achieved

Target achieved and exceeded, without
adverse effects on the budget.

Target achieved and exceeded, without
adverse effects on the budget

Target achieved and exceeded, without
adverse effects on the budget.

Comment

+

Of the six postdoctoral fellows, two resigned and no progress reports were received.
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#
61 is a five-year target for the number of graduates, based on a throughput rate of 55% as stated in the Strategic Plan 2015/16 to 2019/20. No annual targets were set in prior years given
the four to five-year duration of doctoral studies. As at 31 March 2020, 48 students had graduated for the period 2015/16 to 2019/20, resulting in a throughput rate of 43%. More students
are expected to have graduated by the end of the 2020 academic year.

* 318 is a five-year target for the number of graduates, based on a projected throughput rate of 55% (as stated in the Strategic Plan 2015/16 to 2019/20). No annual targets were set in prior
years as the duration of doctoral studies is estimated to be between four and five years. As at 31 March 2020, 181 students had graduated for the period 2015/16 to 2019/20, resulting in a
throughput of 31%. More students are expected to have graduated by the end of the 2020 academic year.

7. Coordinate and
manage all BRICS
Think Tank-related
activities on behalf of
South Africa

Number of South African BRICS Think
Tank Forums (Pre-Academic Forum,
Academic Forum and BTTC)

Number of seminars, workshops, and
conferences hosted/co-hosted and
funded by the NIHSS

6.2

7.2

Number of BRICS Cluster projects
monitored

6.1

Number of SABTT advisory committee
meetings (NIHSS, DHET, DIRCO)

Number of research outputs produced
by the international collaborative
project leaders and collaborators to
expand the knowledge base of Global
South research and scholarship in the
humanities and social sciences

5.4

7.1

Number of dialogues, colloquiums,
policy discussions etc hosted/cohosted and funded by the NIHSS to
expand the knowledge base of Global
South research and scholarship

5.3

6. Act as a dynamic
broker between the
worlds of knowledge
and policy action on
behalf of South Africa
as the South African
BRICS Think Tank

Key performance indicator (KPI)

Strategic objective No
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STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE 1
ASSURE A SUSTAINABLE RETURN
ON THE INVESTMENT MADE IN
THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL
SCIENCES

(Left) 2013 Government Gazette, Higher
Education Act No 101 of 1997, Regulations for
the Establishment of a National Institute for
the Humanities and Social Sciences. (Right)
Report Commissioned for the Minister of Higher
Education and Training, for the Charter for the
Humanities and Social Sciences, 2011

Undergoing an external review is a seminal occurrence in the life cycle of any
organisation and the NIHSS, having completed its first five-year Strategic Plan,
welcomes the opportunity to undergo such a review. The Board demonstrated
the importance it attaches to the anticipated Strategic Review process by
explicitly including it in the Institute’s strategic objectives and targets for
2019/20, not as an afterthought but first and foremost among them.
The ultimate purpose of the five-year Strategic Review is to determine the
impact of the NIHSS’s efforts in its first five years to reinvigorate the humanities
and social sciences (HSS), which had been in decline for some time before
the Institute’s establishment. The wording of Strategic Objective 1, “Assure a
sustainable return on the investment made in the HSS”, recognises that the work
of the Institute is not meant to bring temporary gains for the HSS but to have a
more permanent effect on the health and dynamism of these disciplines.
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Among other important details, the Minister
announced that the Ministerial Evaluation
Panel would have four months to complete
its overall assessment of the NIHSS from
its inception on 13 December 2013 to
31 March 2020. The focus of the panel
would be on the Institute’s performance in
terms of seven key performance areas:
• Provide doctoral scholarships for
postgraduate students studying in the
humanities and social sciences in South
Africa.
• Advance postgraduate scholarship
through a range of innovations and
collaborative supervision of doctoral
students.
• Dynamise the fields of research and
teaching in the humanities and social
sciences in South Africa through a range
of Catalytic Projects and Humanities
Hubs.
• Promote the integrity, reputation and
recognition of the humanities and social
sciences within the higher education
community, the science and technology
community and society.
• Build and strengthen networks and
partnerships with organisations working
in areas related to the humanities and
social sciences.
• Foster international research
collaborations between South Africa
and the rest of Africa, and countries of
the Global South, including Brazil, India
and China.
• Manage the official South African BRICS
Think Tank (SABTT).

Anticipating that the intended Strategic Review of the Institute would take
place or at least commence before the end of the 2019/20 financial year, the
Board approved three key performance indicators for Strategic Objective 1.
The first of these, the completion of the Strategic Review itself, would
directly affect the other two targets – a comprehensive risk assessment and
gap analysis in the context of the HSS Charter, and the development of the
Institute’s 2025 Business Plan and contingency measures.
However, for reasons not connected to the NIHSS, the Strategic Review had
not yet commenced by the end of the 2019/20 financial year. This meant the
remaining two targets linked to Strategic Objective 1 could not be completed
either as they were contingent on recommendations that would stem from
the review panel’s findings.
In addition, the Panel would be required to provide an assessment of the
operational effectiveness of the NIHSS in relation to its mandate, along with
an assessment of the overall strategic impact of the Institute in addressing the
concerns raised in the HSS Charter of 2011 about the status of the humanities
and social sciences.
The Board and the Institute have prepared thoroughly for the Strategic
Review and look forward to its commencement during the coming financial
year. The results will be invaluable in mapping the future course of the NIHSS
and its efforts to revitalise and reenergise the HSS in South Africa and beyond.
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STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE 2
ADVANCE POSTGRADUATE
SCHOLARSHIP THROUGH A
RANGE OF INNOVATIONS

As at 31 March 2020, the NIHSS had awarded a total of 679 doctoral scholarships,
and to date, almost 34% of these scholarship recipients have graduated.
Considering the relatively low numbers of doctoral graduates in South Africa and
the rest of Africa, it may be tempting to view the NIHSS’s Doctoral Scholarship
programmes exclusively as an exercise to increase the numbers of HSS doctorates.
That would be a narrow perspective to take.
By exposing stereotypes of young men as “gangsters” in the Cape Flats, the plight
of child-headed households in various provinces and the mental healthcare
limitations of rural Ghana, to mention a few doctoral topics, students on NIHSS
scholarships are not only improving their qualifications and adding to the ranks
of PhD graduates. Many of them are setting out on a knowledge production path
that could yield important contributions towards redressing social and economic
deficits and building a more equitable and just society.
Some of these young scholars are already making a contribution to knowledge
production and societal problem solving. A compelling example is the documentary
produced by Dr Mahoro Semege on adolescent orphans in Inanda, KwaZulu-Natal,
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Alumni pledge handover to the
Minister, Dr Nzimande – 2019
NIHSS Graduate Gala Dinner

and Alexander and Bram Fischerville in Gauteng.
Titled Forsaken, the documentary is inspiring practical
action among audience members, from offers to
assist the orphans concerned with their homework to
the provision of free psychological counselling.
Dr Semege, who graduated with his PhD in 2019,
was the joint winner of the Best Paper Award at the
Institute’s Annual National Doctoral Conference in
October 2019. He shared first prize with Thembelihle
Makhanya, social work lecturer at the University of
KwaZulu-Natal, whose doctoral research has revealed
how some aspects of social work training at university
level still have colonialist biases. Among them is the
anomaly of using English to train social workers who
will practise their profession in settings where the
language is neither spoken nor understood.
High-quality, original work also characterises the
doctoral research of the other Best Paper Award
finalists of 2019: Azola Bobo of Rhodes University for
her study on partnership relations with communities
around the university; Mbuyisi Mgibisa for his research
on black voices in the post-apartheid public sphere;
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Dr Nthabiseng Motsemme and
NIHSS 2019 Graduates

In addition, a growing number of graduates are from
historically disadvantaged institutions. Of the 97
NIHSS-funded students who graduated in 2019/20,
the University of Venda accounted for eight, the
University of Fort Hare for six and the University of
Limpopo for three.

Simone Peters of the University of the Western Cape for her photovoice study on
young men in Bishop Lavis in Cape Town; Mampoi Chele, whose PhD research is
about the communicative strategies used by witnesses in the Leon and Phumaphi
Commissions of Inquiry in Lesotho; and Richard Appiah, who is doing a joint
doctorate with the North-West University in South Africa and the University of
Ghana on the use of positive psychology interventions in rural Ghanaian villages.
The doctoral research of our graduates is freely available to anyone interested in
accessing it as all NIHSS-funded theses are deposited in our online Thesis Repository.
These qualitative contributions to knowledge production and the standing of the
humanities and social sciences should not be overlooked when considering the
more quantitative aspects of the Doctoral Scholarship Programme, which we run
in partnership with the South African Humanities Deans’ Association (Sahuda) and
the Council for the Development of Social Science Research in Africa (CODESRIA).

The other graduates were from 13 public universities
across South Africa, comprising the University of
KwaZulu-Natal (15 graduates), University of the
Witwatersrand (12), University of Pretoria (eight),
Rhodes University (seven), University of South Africa
(nine), Stellenbosch University (five), Johannesburg
(six), University of Cape Town (five), University of the
Western Cape (five), Nelson Mandela University (two),
North-West University (four), Free State University
(one) and the University of Zululand (one).
With approximately 450 scholarship students still in
the system, many of whom are already writing up
their doctoral theses, 2020/21 is expected to bring a
good increase in the graduation rate. This expectation
is based on our assessments of the annual progress
reports that students submit to the NIHSS to
determine if they are making satisfactory progress for
funding to be continued.

Where students have reported experiencing
Doctoral graduations gain impetus
challenges with their studies, the Institute, with
Most of the NIHSS’s 679 scholarships were awarded in the 2015/16 and 2016/17
the help of the mentors appointed to our National
financial years. Since it takes at least three years, and more usually four or five
Mentorship Programme, will endeavour to assist
years, to complete a doctorate, the first graduations
where this is practicable. It must be said, however,
were recorded in 2018 and have gradually been
The
that the mentors are thinly stretched as a result
gaining momentum.
graduate output
of budget cuts, as was starkly evident in
is also contributing to the
2019/20.
The cumulative number of PhD
race and gender transformation
graduates rose from 132 on
of the HSS at public universities:
Mentors do more for capacity
31 March 2019 to 229 on 31 March
building
2020. This represents a significant
Mentorship is a critical part of the
injection of intellectual capital
of NIHSS
Doctoral Scholarship Programme.
into the higher education system,
The
mentors appointed are all
given that 70% of these graduates
graduates to date are black
respected senior academics who are
are now employed at South African
selected both for their empathy and
universities, according to an alumnus
and
are
emotional intelligence as well as for their
survey the Institute conducted.

71%

51%
women.
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(Left) NIHSS scholars participating in a Regional
Doctoral School hosted at the NIHSS offices
(Right) Members of the NIHSS Scholarship
Directorate with some of the NIHSS mentors.

academic and intellectual strengths. In 2019/20,
budgetary constraints limited the number of mentors
available to assist the students. In 2017/18, there were
23 NIHSS-appointed mentors to assist scholarship
students. In 2019/20, there were only 13 mentors.
Nevertheless, these mentors outdid themselves,
hosting three times as many regional doctoral
workshops than expected – 33 against the 12
workshops set as the target for the year.
Regional doctoral schools bring together students
from different universities in the same region to
interact and learn about academic writing, obtaining
ethical clearance and formulating research proposals,
among other aspects of doctoral studies. More often
than not, the universities being paired at the regional
workshops are historically privileged and historically
disadvantaged institutions, a combination that creates
transformative opportunities and helps narrow the
historical gaps in graduate output between these
institutions.
There are six NIHSS Doctoral Schools or regions, namely
the Eastern Cape; Gauteng; KwaZulu-Natal; Northern
Corridor; Unisa, Free State and North West Region,
and Western Cape. All six schools were extremely
active during 2019/20, not just conducting workshops
for doctoral students within their regions but also
collaborating to hold inter-regional workshops.
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There were four such inter-regional events during the year, starting in April 2019
with an inter-regional conference for PhD students from the Eastern and Western
Cape. Two more such conferences followed in September 2019, one for students
from the Northern Corridor and Gauteng Doctoral Schools and the other for
Eastern Cape and Western Cape students. In October, it was the turn of students
from the KwaZulu-Natal and Unisa, Free State and North West Doctoral Schools.
Another highlight for the Doctoral Scholarship Programme was the workshop
the Institute hosted for University Administrators who coordinate the scholarship
administration processes and systems and provide support for the effective
implementation of the NIHSS Mentorship Programme. Held on 21 June 2019, the
workshop hosted administrators from 11 universities and was a much-needed
opportunity for engagement on the challenges and advantages of the University
Administrators initiative.

NIHSS mentors for 2019/20

NIHSS Doctoral School

Prof Grace Khunou (UJ)

Gauteng

Prof Siphamandla Zondi (UP)

Gauteng

Prof Kishore Raga (NMU)

Eastern Cape

Prof Christoffel Botha (UFH)

Eastern Cape

Prof Jessica Murray (UNISA)

Unisa, Free State and North West

Prof Kgomotso Masemola (Unisa)

Unisa, Free State and North West

Prof Charlyn Dyers (UWC)

Western Cape

Prof Hendrik Kotze (SUN)

Western Cape

Prof Tholene Sodi (UL)

Northern Corridor region

Dr Thandekile Magojo (UKZN)

KwaZulu-Natal

Prof Paulus Zulu (UKZN)

KwaZulu-Natal

Prof Nhlanhla Maake (Wits)

Roving mentor

Prof Frederick Hendricks (RU)

Roving mentor
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Pushing boundaries at the 2019 ANDC
Knowing that doctoral studies can be a lonely and isolated experience, the NIHSS
consciously creates opportunities for PhD students to engage, network, interact,
share and learn from each other. The regional Doctoral Schools are a cornerstone
of this but there is one other event that brings our doctoral students together like
no other – the Annual National Doctoral Conference (ANDC).
From 29 to 31 October 2019, NIHSS doctoral students, graduates and mentors from
all over South Africa gathered at the Birchwood Hotel near Boksburg in Gauteng
for the Fifth ANDC.
While there was no mistaking the excitement and energy of 350 like-minded
people assembled under one roof, some serious academic business was done: at 53
parallel sessions, 180 doctoral students presented their research to their peers and
mentors. After all was said and done, the eight reviewers evaluated the presenters
for the clarity of their research, soundness of theory, relevance and innovativeness
of their research methods, the contribution of their research and the coherence of
their submissions. After much deliberation, they selected the seven finalists for the
Best Paper Award (refer to page 28 and 29 for details).
Living up to the conference theme, “Building and Dynamising the Humanities and
Social Sciences”, the Institute officially launched the NIHSS Doctoral Alumni Forum
as a platform to extend the relationship between the Institute and its alumni and
to continue supporting alumni in the next phases of their careers – whether in
academy, government or the private sector.
Almost all 200 of the NIHSS’s graduates at the time attended the launch, listening
attentively to the experiences and advice of a series of high-profile speakers.
“When you get your PhD, you think you have arrived. But you’ve got to learn new
lessons,” said Grace Khunou, an NIHSS mentor and Professor of Sociology at the
University of Johannesburg. “If you want to become a professor, you need to work
very hard and you need to understand the terrain as early as possible so that you
will be able to move around,” she said, noting that black academics are inevitably
seen as “transformation candidates. The one thing that helped me is collaboration.
Find people who are like-minded and collaborate with them.”

NIHSS doctoral fellows and alumni at the
Annual National Doctoral Conference

Dr Sizwe Phakathi, Head of Safety and Sustainable
Development at the Minerals Council South Africa,
agreed that completing a doctorate is just the
beginning of the journey. “You have to make your
choices. If you are going to the private sector, know
that you are going to do practical work,” he said,
adding that even the style of writing would be
different from academia. “We tend to write long
but CEOs want it to be to the point.” On the other
hand, his research background also had advantages.
“Conceptualising came in handy for me and I brought
something different to the boardroom.”
Dr Michele Ruiters of the Development Bank of
Southern Africa (DBSA), said the greatest asset for
young black women PhDs is a network. “It’s okay to
have a PhD and not be an academic. The main thing
is to understand you need a support system. You also
need to be fearless.”
NIHSS CEO Professor Sarah Mosoetsa said that
whatever career choices the Institute’s alumni
made, they should seize the support available to
them – and in turn offer support to others. “There
is so much you can give,” she said, urging the 200
alumni attending the launch to be “ambassadors” of
the humanities and social sciences by starting their
own networks, mentoring others and continuing
to engage with the NIHSS community. “We need to
start serving. The Institute has served you; now you
can help serve others.”
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STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE 3
DYNAMISE THE FIELDS OF RESEARCH AND
TEACHING IN THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL
SCIENCES IN SOUTH AFRICA THROUGH A
RANGE OF CATALYTIC RESEARCH PROJECTS
AND HUMANITIES HUBS

Black Academic Voices book launch

Catalytic Research Projects, although nowhere near the peak of 40 projects
reached in 2016/17, exceeded expectations. A total of 12 projects were
monitored in 2019/20, well above the seven targeted projects.
Research in the HSS has traditionally been a
solitary undertaking where researchers have
limited interaction across disciplinary, institutional
and geographical boundaries. The NIHSS’s model
is different: the research we support thrives on
collaboration among communities of scholars,
setting out in directions that are new or have been
neglected despite their importance.
This approach to research, embodied by the
Catalytic Research Projects and Humanities Hubs,
is frequently citizen-centred and approached
in an overtly post-colonial and post-apartheid
frame that seeks to address deficits of the past,
particularly when it comes to the indigenous
knowledge, histories and languages of Africa.
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While the volume of outputs produced is
important as a means to contribute to South
Africa’s overall research output and for
Research
measurement purposes, the impact
outputs for
of these outputs should also be
Humanities Hubs and
considered. During 2019/20, work
Catalytic Projects also
produced with the support of the
significantly exceeded the target
Institute showed its catalytic value
of 30 outputs, coming in
in multiple ways – as support
at an impressive
for societal problem solving, as
resources for policy makers and
communities, as contributions to
higher education transformation and
outputs.
as inputs to the body of knowledge in the
humanities and social sciences, among others.
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Launch of the series
of eight translated
African-language
texts from Prof Antjie
Krog’s translation
studies project

In the area of curriculum transformation, we are proud to report that first-year
law students at the University of Cape Town’s Department of Legal Studies
are now required to read Ityala la Mawele (The Lawsuit of the Twins). This is
one of the eight translated works that have emanated from Professor Antjie
Krog’s translation studies project, “Towards a decolonial multilingualism:
Reanimating African Ethics, Re-imagining African Futures”.
Other project outputs being incorporated into higher education curricula
include the Hidden Voices series of books of Professor Edward Webster. These
books are now part of the curriculum of the Department of History and
Heritage Studies at the University of Pretoria and the School of Governance at
the University of the Witwatersrand.
Then there is Professor Monique Marks’ “Pathways” project on street-level
drug use in Durban, focusing on the implementation of opioid substitution
therapy (OST). Although it formally closed in March 2019, the project’s impact

is growing. One of its most important outcomes
is that it has resulted in the national Department
of Health recognising the need to include OST
medications on the Essential Medicine List. The
project, which has yielded seven publications
and a book proposal, also has various creative
elements. These include a play, Ulwembu, which
was performed at the Drug Policy Alliance Reform
Conference in St Louis in the United States in
November 2019.
This illustrates the global relevance of the
work some NIHSS-supported researchers are
doing. Such international resonance extends
to disciplines that have previously gained little
traction outside Africa but are now the subject of
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growing interest, an example being liberation war
radios in Southern Africa. During 2019/20, Rowman
& Littlefield International, a United Kingdom-based
publisher, awarded a book contract to Professor
Sekibakiba Lekgoathi, leader of the project
conducting a comparative analysis of liberation
war radios in Southern Africa during the 1960s
to 1990s. His manuscript will be published as an
edited volume titled Guerrilla Radios in Southern
Africa: Broadcasters, Technology, Propaganda Wars
and the Armed Struggle.
Other highlights from the Catalytic Research
Projects include:
• The publishing of These are the things that sit
with us, a book co-edited by Professor Pumla
Gobodo-Madikizela, leader of the project “Postconflict hauntings transforming collective
memories of historical trauma”. This was also
the subject of a colloquium that the NIHSS
co-hosted with the project in August 2019 for
32 academics from five universities, including
University College London.
• Six original music scores and concert recordings
produced by Professor Jeanne Zaidel-Rudolph’s
Composers’ National Collegium, which also held
a concert and workshop during May 2019 at the
University of Stellenbosch, followed by another
workshop at the University of Pretoria.
• The University of Limpopo’s Professor Masoga
securing a dedicated themed issue in an
accredited journal, Theologia Viatorum, for the
forthcoming publication of five articles from
the project on the Berlin mission archive as a
repository of African knowledge.
• The three project workshops held for Professor
Detlev Krige’s “Social life of waste art” project,
along with the funding of four master’s students.
In 2019/20, the number of Humanities Hubs we
supported was halved from 12 in the previous
year to six, as a result of budget cuts. The Hubs still
receiving funding during the year were the Market
Theatre Foundation and Liliesleaf in Gauteng,
Lwandle Migrant Workers and Factory of Art in the
Western Cape, Hunterstoun in the Eastern Cape
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(Top) Dr Kim Swale presenting at the colloquium co-hosted by
the NIHSS and Catalytic Research Project leader, Professor Pumla
Gobodo-Madikizela. (Bottom) These are the things that sit with us, a
book co-edited by Professor Gobodo-Madikizela

and the African Languages Literary Hub, which relocated from the Eastern
Cape to the North West Province during the year.
African Languages Literary Humanities Hub
First known anthology of isiXhosa histories in the vernacular
Many conflicting scenarios confronted the Xhosa-speaking peoples of the
Eastern Cape in the 1800s and early 1900s. Mission Christianity was at odds
with ancestral beliefs; support for the chiefs was in duality with the demands of
the colonial authorities; schools taught colonial distortions that diverged from
the people’s own sustaining histories; and encroachments on their territory
could be met with active or passive resistance, with varying consequences.
Recollections of these struggles are contained within the pages of Iimbali
zamandulo – Stories of the past (1838-1910), the eighth volume in the Xhosa
Literature Series of the African Languages Literary (ALL) Humanities Hub.
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Volume 8 is the first known anthology of “vernacular”
histories in isiXhosa and consists of historical
testimonies produced by selected isiXhosaspeaking intellectuals from the 82-year-period
covered. Published by UKZN Press, the book was
edited and translated by two research collaborators
in the ALL Humanities Hub, namely Visiting
Professor Jeff Opland and African languages and
theology specialist Dr Peter Mtuze, who translated
former President Nelson Mandela’s autobiography,
Long Walk to Freedom, into isiXhosa.
While Iimbali zamandulo was rolling off the
presses, the Hub was also putting the finishing
touches to Volume 9 of the Xhosa Literature Series.
This volume, due to be published in June 2021,
contains the collected works of Jonas Ntsiko, who
was trained as an Anglican priest in Canterbury
in the United Kingdom in the 19th century, and is
titled Uhadi wohlanga: the harp of the nation.
Hub leader Professor Pamela Maseko delivered
several presentations and talks on the Xhosa
Literature Series, including the “Uncertain Future:
Repurposing Higher Education” conference at
Lingnan University in Hong Kong.
In another milestone for the ALL Humanities
Hub, two doctoral students, Ms N Nosilela and
Ms A Masola, completed their degrees at Rhodes
University. The Hub itself relocated from Rhodes
University to the North-West University, where Prof
Maseko has been appointed Executive Dean of
Humanities.
Hunterstoun Humanities Hub
Going to the heart of land and intellectual
heritage
Land issues and the intellectual heritage of
the Eastern Cape come into sharp focus in the
Hunterstoun Humanities Hub, located alongside
the Tyhume River in the Hogsback. Previously the
home of professors Monica and Godfrey Wilson,
both anthropologists, Hunterstoun now belongs
to the University of Fort Hare.

The launch of videos on Land Stories
and Land Futures, shown at the
Hogback Winter Festival - Part of the
Hunterstoun Humanities Hub Project

As an NIHSS Humanities Hub, Hunterstoun has two main areas of interest: the
intellectual heritage of the Eastern Cape, and land, specifically land ownership,
governance and sustainability.
In terms of intellectual heritage, a highlight of the year was the completion of
24 videos and transcripts recording the educational experiences and histories
of prominent Eastern Cape public and academic intellectuals or their family
members. Among them were Prof Barney Pityana, former Principal and ViceChancellor of Unisa, Dr Brigalia Bam, former Chairperson of the Independent
Electoral Commission, Pallo Jordan, a cabinet minister from 1994 to 2007, and
Dorothy Calata, clinical psychologist and firstborn daughter of Fort Calata, one of
the Cradock Four. These leading figures were interviewed during a colloquium
held at Hunterstoun in October 2017, giving their views on leadership and
values, among other things, subsequently providing a rich source of material
for various research outputs, including colloquium proceedings, journal articles,
book chapters and, eventually, a film documentary.
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Market Theatre Foundation’s Humanities Hub Schools Outreach - attended by
Kenilworth Secondary School (left) and Unity Secondary School (right)

On land, a key focus for Hunterstoun during the
year was the issue of tenure rights recognition in
South African land reform. In his article on the topic,
Christopher Allsobrook of the University of Fort Hare
argues that land reform in South Africa has been held
back by weak social tenure rights. He observed that
South African land administration is dominated by a
Western theory of tenure rights in the form of title
deeds, which are poorly suited to the social tenure
arrangements of most African citizens. The writer,
whose article appeared in the South African Journal
of Philosophy in December 2019, puts forward an
account of tenure rights that accommodates a wide
range of tenure arrangements and would align
Western title deeds with African social tenures.
As of March 2020, researchers linked to the
Hunterstoun Humanities Hub were busy writing
papers on the land reform potential of indigenous
forests and “Land Stories”, referring to a mini-series
of six video documentaries on families that had
experienced insecure tenure, land dispossession
and, in one case, “illegal” reclaiming of land.
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The six video documentaries were screened at the annual Hogsback Winter
Celebrations in July 2019, the programme for which included the Hunterstoun
University of Fort Hare Land Stories and Future Stories Film Festival.
Market Theatre Foundation Humanities Hub
All the world’s a play, but local languages and experiences matter
Each year, hundreds of high school and university students excitedly
participate in the part-time acting courses offered by the Market Theatre in
Johannesburg. Many of them speak indigenous South African languages but
the material they use for monologues or when performing a play is almost
always in English. What’s more, this material offers relatively few roles for
women, people who are disabled, or people who identify as queer.
Imagine if these aspiring young actors had access to content that was in their
own languages and reflected their own experiences, using characters they
could identify with?
The Market Theatre Laboratory, in partnership with a small publisher,
diartskonageng, came up with the answer – an anthology of monologues and
scenes that resonate with local, contemporary experiences and emphasise
characters, languages, perspectives and narratives that are underrepresented.
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Snapshots of the Virtual
Exhibition, part of the Liliesleaf
Humanities Hub project

The anthology, titled Monologues: From Pillar
to Post, features material in eight South African
languages and contains the work of 29 of South
Africa’s most interesting emerging and established
playwrights.
The book was officially launched in mid-2019 at
three book launches in three cities, Johannesburg,
Makhanda and Cape Town. Each book launch was
accompanied by performance of material from the
book and a panel discussion.
The first book launch was held at the Market
Theatre Laboratory’s Ramalao Makhene Theatre
in Johannesburg. An excited young audience
attended, responding enthusiastically to the new
publication.
Another novel, multilingual book project of 2019
was M@rket.com, a collaborative research platform
between the Yeoville Market, a pan-African
trading space, and the Market Theatre’s Advanced
Photography Programme.

This project saw 17 Market Photo Workshop students interacting with the
mainly non-South African stallholders at the Yeoville market, using photography
to capture the cultural unity of Africa and cultivate pan-African consciousness.
The book was launched on 29 May 2019 at the Yeoville Market, the ideal
launching pad for a project celebrating the shared histories, cultures, markets
and experiences of Africans – South African and non-South African.
Liliesleaf Humanities Hub
Sharing memories of the liberation struggle in fresh and appealing ways
History and memory are important, and the activities of the Liliesleaf
Humanities Hub are helping South Africans to remember and make sense of
the past so that they can come to terms with the present and imagine and
construct the future. This is apt given that Liliesleaf Farm is where some of the
Rivonia Trialists were arrested in July 1963.
Today, almost 60 years later, the particular interest of Liliesleaf, which was the
first of the NIHSS’s Humanities Hubs, is in sharing the stories of the liberation
struggle in fresh and appealing ways. Two of the most effective programmes
it has devised and presented to do this are Top Secret, an education outreach
programme for schools, and a mobile exhibition, Umkhonto We Sizwe, for
higher education institutions.
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(Left) Tony Miyambo, Artist in Residence at the Laboratory
of Kinetic Objects/Factory of Arts Humanities Hub. (Right)
Experimental theatre piece of the Hub project.

In 2019, the NIHSS and Liliesleaf collaborated to
enhance the content of another mobile exhibition,
the Thatched Cottage, which was used to conceal
underground activities. The aim of the project is
to develop a web-based version of the museum
that could be accessed from the Institute’s digital
portal and the Liliesleaf website.
The existing content of the Thatched Cottage
exhibition is being condensed into bite-sized pieces
of information and additional content sourced.
Images, audio clips and short films are being added
to create a multimedia experience that enables the
visitor to dig deep into the events that unfolded
at the Thatched Cottage, while also providing
comprehensive context of the liberation struggle.
In fact, the exhibition goes all the way back to 1908
when Mohandas Gandhi and 3 000 Hindu, Muslim
and Christian supporters gathered in downturn
Johannesburg to burn their passes (or registration
certificates as they were known at the time).
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The exhibition leaves no stone unturned in piecing together the
interconnected events that makes up the bigger picture of the struggle,
including the Defiance Campaign of 1952, the acceptance of the Freedom
Charter at Kliptown in 1955, the Women’s March of 9 August 1956, forced
removals, the Sharpeville massacre and the many other landmarks and
milestones on the road that eventually led to the liberation of the nation.
Portraying this epic journey in a coherent, engaging manner is a complex
undertaking and work on the site was still in progress when the financial year
came to an end. The task of piecing information together to show the bigger
picture continues.
Laboratory of Kinetic Objects/Factory of Art Humanities Hub
Cross-disciplinary aesthetic education and intellectual encounters
Housed in a building that used to be a primary school for children designated
“white” under apartheid, the Humanities Hub in Woodstock, Cape Town is
now a declared heritage site dedicated to offering aesthetic education that
undoes the legacies of apartheid intellectual and spatial planning.
Located in Greatmore Street, the Humanities Hub is attached to the University
of the Western Cape’s Centre for Humanities Research and has become known

SECTION B

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES AND PERFORMANCE 2019/20

The set of Oratorio of a Forgotten Youth of
Mandla Mlangeni, Artist in Residence in Jazz, part
of the Laboratory of Kinetic Objects/Factory of
Arts Humanities Hub project.

as an experimental platform for cross-disciplinary aesthetic and intellectual
encounters involving the visual arts, experimental theatre, puppetry,
movement and dance, voice and music-making with an array of instruments.
Through master classes, artists’ forums and public conversations, the Hub
connects artists, postgraduate students and scholars, enabling them to
further their technical, intellectual and artistic development.
Throughout 2019, on the last Thursday of every month, the Humanities
Hub convened the Artists’ Forum to engage participants in a shared text
appropriate for readers at different moments of their development. These
events were held around the “artist’s manifesto”, a discursive form through
which artists around the world declare their creative visions and artistic
commitments.
Artists’ Forums in 2019 include site visits to art museums and artists’ studios.
In 2019, for example, the monthly forum was held at Chumisa Fihla’s studio in
Masiphumelele, while the October Artists’ Forum was at the Zeitz Museum of
Contemporary African Art at the Cape Town Waterfront.
In November 2019, the Humanities Hub hosted Mamela Nyamza,
choreographer and performance artist, in a public conversation at the Theatre

Arts Admin Collective in Cape Town. Following
this conversation, Mamela offered master classes
to artists in residence, next generation artists from
Mitchells Plain, Delft and Khayelitsha, and young
performers from the Barrydale Puppetry Initiative.
An important feature of the NIHSS’s support
has been the broadening and deepening of the
University of the Western Cape’s partnerships with
art networks and institutions, such as the SARChI
Chair in Social Change at the University of Fort
Hare, the College of Visual and Performing Arts in
Addis Ababa, the University of Ghent, the Jackman
Humanities Institute at the University of Toronto
and the University of Virginia.
The results of these partnerships have included a
joint doctoral programme between the UWC and
Ghent University. Exciting news for the NIHSS is
that Reza Khota, a former Hub Artist in Residence
in Jazz whom the Institute funded, enrolled as a
doctoral candidate in History and Music in 2019.
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STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE 4
BUILD AND STRENGTHEN
NETWORKS AND PARTNERSHIPS
WITH ORGANISATIONS WORKING
IN AREAS RELATED TO THE
HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL
SCIENCES

DHET Deputy Minister Buti Manamela,
NIHSS CEO Professor Sarah Mosoetsa,
HSS Awards judges and winners at
the 5th Annual HSS Awards

The NIHSS is an enabler and facilitator, supporting
others to carry out the research, academic
programmes and international collaborations that
underpin our mandate to revitalise the humanities
and social sciences. This supporting role necessitates
strong partnerships and networks with those at the
forefront of the humanities and social sciences and
whose own scholarly communities and networks
can extend the Institute’s reach.

WORKING GROUPS BREAK THE MOULD

During 2019/20, our efforts to build and
strengthen such partnerships were concentrated
on the Working Groups Programme, the Annual
HSS Awards and the hosting or co-hosting
of conferences or colloquiums that stimulate
collaborative scholarship and engagement.

Improved efficiencies were built into the Working Groups application and
screening processes. The Call for Applications went out in March 2019, before
the start of the new financial year, and attracted 135 proposals for Working
Group projects. Before the end of the first quarter, all the applications had been
screened and 14 of the 15 projects planned for the year awarded. More projects
were signed on as the year proceeded.
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Disciplines in the HSS do not always fit neatly into pre-cast academic moulds,
yet the research being generated may be just as rigorous and outputs as
worthy of recognition as more conventional disciplines. The Working Groups
Programme is intended to encourage the higher education landscape to be
more responsive to the disciplinary peculiarities of the HSS. At the same time, the
programme ensures the integrity and excellence of the HSS through publishing
collaborations with academic and university publishers.
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The Institute
significantly outperformed
the targets set for 2019/20,
ending the year with

28

active Working Group projects, which
was almost double the target of
15 and far in excess of the
17 projects of the
previous year.

The 28 Working group projects in place by the end
of 2019/20 covered academic disciplines
ranging from early African composers of music
to museology and opportunities that the fourth
industrial revolution presents for Africa.
An exciting new Working Group initiative was the
PhD conversion project, where exceptional doctoral
theses by NIHSS graduates are being converted
into manuscripts and peer-reviewed books. For
this purpose, the NIHSS signed agreements with
two academic publishers, namely KwaZulu-Natal
University Press and Wits University Press.
As required, the Working Group leaders reported
on their projects’ progress; some of the highlights
follow:
Generating new knowledges for a
new curriculum
The HSRC Press Working Group produced five books
during this financial year, including Black Academic
Voices: The South African Experience, which a few
months later won the 2020 HSS Award in the nonfiction category for edited volumes. The authors
are Professors Grace Khunou, Hugo Canham, Katija
Khoza-Shangase and Edith Dinong Phaswana. The
book won the award for Best Edited Volume in the
2020 HSS Awards.
Two of the books are part of the Voices of Liberation
series, namely Archie Mafeje by Professor B Nyoka,
and Fatima Meer by Professor Shireen Hassim. Both

Prof Grace Khunou, Prof Grace Musila and
Dr Motlalepule Nathane reflecting on their
chapters at the Black Academic Voices book
launch, at Wits University

books were nominated in the non-fiction biographies category of the 2020 HSS
Awards.
The fourth book was Equitable rural socio-economic change, edited by PT Jacobs,
and was also nominated for the the non-fiction category for edited volumes in
the HSS Awards. The title of the fifth book is Opening the South African economy:
Barriers to entry and competition, co-authored by T Vilakazi, S Goga and S Roberts.
Early African compositions revived and performed
After languishing unheard, unplayed and unsung in archives for many years,
music composed by early African intellectuals from the 19th century onwards
has been revived and performed. This is owing to the efforts of Dr Thokozani
Mhlambi, cellist, vocalist, composer and music researcher, who conceived
and executed the Working Group project titled Early African Intellectuals as
Composers of Music.
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(Left and right) Participants at the Early African
Intellectuals as Composers of Music panel
discussion and performance concert, Cape Town
September 2019

The project set out to “honour, celebrate and revive
music compositions by early African intellectuals
whose visibility was erased by our history”, Dr
Mhlambi said in an interview with the University of
Cape Town News in September 2019. “The whole
concept behind the project is to revive interest in
the archive of the early works of composers, such as
unknown female composer Nokutela Dube, as well
as the composer of our national anthem, Enoch
Sontonga, and many others ...”
In an article on Broadwayworld.com, the project
was described as “a historical undertaking that
seeks to ‘wake up’ the African to his ancient music
composition and intellectual excellence, as well as
raise awareness of and educate about the birth and
journey that has been travelled by compositions
of the past while finding a place for them to be
recognised and enjoyed in contemporary Africa”.
Acknowledging an unsung hero of the struggle
for democracy
Minimal academic research has been conducted
on the role the Congress of South African Students
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(COSAS) played in bringing about democracy in South Africa. In a step towards
remedying this, Dr Tshepo Moloi’s Working Group project brought together
past and present COSAS leaders at a colloquium and exhibition celebrating the
organisation’s 40th anniversary.
Held at the QwaQwa campus of the University of the Free State in August 2019,
the two-day event enabled “all COSAS generations to engage meaningfully,
while highlighting the role of its leaders in the struggle for a democratic system
of education and country”, said Dr Moloi in an interview published on the
campus’s news site.
“We must appreciate the founders of COSAS, as they have not been adequately
acknowledged in the democratic dispensation. The organisation fought many
battles – one of which was to enable many of us to finally register at institutions
of higher learning when it was not as fashionable as it is now,” said Mr Patrick
Letsatsi of the Department of Sports, Arts and Culture, who was also quoted in
the UFS article.
In his feedback to the Institute, Dr Moloi reported that the colloquium
organising committee had secured an agreement with New Contree: A Journal of
Historical and Human Sciences for Southern Africa, to publish a special issue from
the colloquium in 2020. A proposal was also raised during the colloquium for a
bigger project to document the history of COSAS.
Africa and 4IR
From religion, traditional healers and water security in the digital age to the
personhood of robots and the possibilities for a new humanism, the fourth
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(Left) Conference on “Time,
Thought, Materiality: Africa
and the Fourth Industrial
Revolution”, held at the
University of Johannesburg
in early September 2019,
and co-hosted with
Sahuda. (Right) Sahuda
President Dr René Smith,
chairing the opening
session at the conference

industrial revolution raises fascinating opportunities
and challenges for Africa when viewed through an
Afro-centric lens and from the vantage point of
the humanities and social sciences. This was the
purpose of the conference titled “Time, Thought,
Materiality: Africa and the Fourth Industrial
Revolution”, held at the University of Johannesburg
in early September 2019.
The conference came about through the vision of
Prof Dumisani Moyo and his Working Group, and was
jointly hosted by the NIHSS and the South African
Humanities Deans’ Association (Sahuda). Speakers
represented universities and other organisations
across South Africa and beyond, including the
University of Namibia and the University of Botswana.
The exploration of the 4IR through an Afro-centric
lens commenced with the conference’s keynote
address. Professor Hopeton Dunn of the University of
the West Indies interrogated the concept of the 4IR
espoused by the World Economic Forum’s executive
chairman, Klaus Schwab. Prof Dunn argued that 4IR
in Africa and the Global South should revolve around
educating and empowering people, advancing
indigenous productivity and preserving shared
humanity.
A series of panel discussions examined many other 4IR
aspects pertinent to Africa, including the possibilities
for a “new humanism” and the role of ethics and the
nature of personhood in relation to cyborgs and
intelligent robots. The point was made that when
persons become intermingled with artificial systems,
such as when thoughts or memories are uploaded
onto a network, the question of personhood moves

from the theoretical realm into the practical. For example, if the brain of a person
degenerates due to Alzheimer’s, and the person’s memories are then stored on
the internet, does the server in which they are stored have some rights that would
formerly have accrued to the person?
The conference did not overlook the physical infrastructure that must, of necessity,
underpin the 4IR in Africa. Panellists emphasised that 4IR efforts on the continent
are ultimately dependent on solid infrastructure and lessening barriers to overall
development. They zoomed in on aviation as the most important industry
to exploit economic growth, particularly for Africa’s landlocked states. Other
prerequisites are better-managed water resources, efficient electricity production
and linkages for goods to reach people and markets. This in turn highlighted the
importance of promoting inter-state cooperation.
The papers presented at the seminar will be turned into book chapters, which will
form part of an edited book volume. Three University of Johannesburg academics
are leading this project and envisage a 20-chapter book, together with a special
issue of HAU Journal of ethnographic theory, Chicago University Press.
Rethinking the positioning of the arts in South Africa
The arts have played a significant role in the formation of South Africa’s national
identity, interpreting and documenting key moments in the country’s history. Yet
it is also so that there is a tendency to see the arts and culture as being on the
periphery of the national democratic and development discourse. Convinced that
the time had come to take stock of the arts in the context of the past, present and
the future of South Africa, the Institute and the Mapungubwe Institute for Strategic
Reflections (MISTRA) joined forces to host an Arts and National Development
Imbizo in Johannesburg on 10 and 11 April 2019.
The imbizo, titled “Rethinking the Positioning of the Arts in South Africa”, brought
together industry practitioners, policymakers and artists. The event began with
the reading of a paper prepared by Professor Mongane Wally Serote, who in
November 2018 was named South Africa’s Poet Laureate. His paper set the tone
for a thought-provoking imbizo and was titled “The need to move the arts and
culture from the periphery to the centre of South Africa’s national struggle and
discourse to achieve non-racialism, non-sexism, democracy and prosperity”.
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ANNUAL
SOUTH AFRICAN
HUMANITIES AND
SOCIAL SCIENCES
AWARDS
There are many research awards in South Africa and elsewhere in
Africa but only rarely do the HSS feature in these. Redressing this
deficiency, the Institute has for five consecutive years celebrated
excellence in creative-intellectual talent through the annual
HSS Awards. These awards, the fifth edition of which was held at
Constitution Hill in Johannesburg on 12 March 2020, are joyful and
exuberant in celebrating top achievers in fiction and non-fiction
works, the performing arts, music and digital visualisation. The
entries represent the best South African universities have to offer
in terms of scholarly work that is compelling to read, watch or view
while also being socially relevant and original.

For the 2020 edition of the
HSS Awards, which some 250 guests
attended, the 25-member judging panel
had to select 10 award winners from over 100
high-quality entries, consisting of:

64

works of non-fiction, including biographies,
monographs and edited volumes

22

works of fiction in the form of novels, poetry
and short stories

19

creative and digital contributions,
consisting of visualisations,
infographics, musical compositions or
arrangements, public performances
and visual arts

44
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The 10 winners were selected in eight categories:
Best non-fiction
biography (a new
category):

Sibongiseni Mkhize for A
Political Biography of Selby
Msimang: Principle and
Pragmatism in the Liberation
Struggle, and Brian Willan for
Sol Plaatje: A life of Solomon
Tshekisho Plaatjie 1876-1932

Best non-fiction
monograph:

Marcus Byrne and Helen Lunn
for Dance of the Dung Beetles:
Their Role in our Changing
World

Best non-fiction edited
volume:

Grace Khunou, Katijah KhozaShangase, Hugo Canham and
Edith Dinong Phaswana, for
Black Academic Voices: The
South African Experience

Best fiction novel:

Fiona Snyckers for Lacuna

Best fiction poetry and
short stories:

Gabeba Baderoon for The
History of Intimacy

Best visual art:

Nduka Mntambo for
Asymmetries Exhibition

Best digital humanities
visualisation or
infographic:

Nirma Dolly Madhoo for
Azimuth: An Experiment of
Virtual Reality for Fashion Film
Genre

Best public
performance:

Jay Pather, Institute for
Creative Arts Live Art Festival
2018

Best musical
composition:

Mantombi Matotiyana and
Michael Blake for Mantombi
Matotiyana Songs of Greeting,
Healing and Heritage
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HSS Awards
catalogue,
capturing
outstanding,
innovative and
socially responsible
scholarship
through the
years.
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Dance of the Dung Beetles: Their Role in Our Changing World
Marcus Byrne and Helen Lunn
(Wits University Press)

BEST NON-FICTION MONOGRAPH

NON-FICTION WINNERS
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Without dung beetles, many life forms, humans included,
may never have evolved. This book celebrates the
extraordinary talents of this unprepossessing insect,
from its exceptional navigational skills to the many vital
ecological services it performs, such as soil fertilisation,
pasture cleansing and the germination of new trees.
This book is not a scientific treatise, however. It is a
compelling read that combines history, mythology and
science, starting on the banks of the Nile 3 000 years ago
when ancient Egyptians worshipped the scarab-faced
god Khepri, representing creation and the renewal of
life. The book, whose central characters are a family of
dung beetles, moves through the centuries and various
geographies into modern times.
The book has been acclaimed by reviewers around the
world, including Nature magazine, and has been a hit at
major literary festivals. Bruce Beasley, professor of English

2020 HSS Awards Non-fiction category
Chair Judge Prof Hlonipha Mokoena
(centre) with Marcus Byrne (left) and
Helen Lunn (right)

at Western Washington University, has described it
as an “entomological page-turner”. Jane Carruthers,
Carson Fellow and editor-in-chief of the South African
Journal of Science, observes that “biology and history
dance with the scarabs in this beautiful book”, and
Sandra Swart, professor of History at Stellenbosch
University, calls it “scientifically rigorous and highly
readable”.
In short, this book is a brilliant example of what can
be done when science and the humanities meet:
Professor Marcus Byrne is an entomologist and
zoologist at Wits University while Dr Helen Lunn is a
historian, musicologist and artist.
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A political biography of Selby Msimang: Principle and
Pragmatism in the Liberation Struggle
Sibongiseni M Mkhize

BEST BIOGRAPHY (JOINT WINNERS)

NON-FICTION WINNERS

This is the first comprehensive political biography of
Henry Selby Msimang, whose long and diverse career
as a political leader, trade unionist, author and journalist
spanned many decades.
The author draws on a rich array of unpublished sources
to tell the story of Msimang, one of the founders of
the African National Congress in 1912 who, 40 years
later, helped to found another political movement, the
multiracial Liberal Party of South Africa. In the 1970s,
Msimang turned his attention to cultural issues as founder
and executive member of Inkatha Yenkululeko Yesizwe, a
cultural liberation movement.
Msimang, who passed away in 1982 at the age of 96, was
also president of the pioneering Industrial and Commercial
Workers’ Union in the 1920s and 1930s, further reinforcing
his contribution to political liberation, human rights and
social justice.

2020 HSS Awards Non-fiction
category Chair Judge
Prof Hlonipha Mokoena with
Sibongiseni Mkhize

“Such a long and diverse political career would make
any person noteworthy, but Msimang was also an
intellectual figure of remarkable talent … and a man
who, despite great trials and tribulations, did not
compromise his principles and fundamental values,
his commitment to the struggle for freedom, justice
and human rights,” writes Mkhize in his introduction
to the book.
In the words of one of the HSS Awards judges, this
is a biography that is “gripping, well researched
and well-paced”, revealing the rich and eventful
life of a “complex individual whose involvement in
multiple, often contradictory struggles, defies the
conventional”.
At a point in time when South Africans are striving
to forge a new identity, Msimang’s life could be a
source of inspiration, guidance and hope.
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Sol Plaatje: A life of Solomon Tshekisho Plaatje 1876-1932
Brian Willan
University of Virginia Press

BEST BIOGRAPHY (JOINT WINNERS)

NON-FICTION WINNERS
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Solomon Tshekisho Plaatje is celebrated today as one of
South Africa’s most accomplished political and literary
figures, after whom a municipality and a university have
been named, among others. Yet author Brian Willan has
taken pains to avoid hyperbole – and deliberately so.
As he explains in the opening paragraph of the book, a
“triumphalist” narrative can be as damaging to historical
understanding as the misrepresentations or neglect of
the past.
Hence the tone is measured and sensible – a style
that by no means diminishes the remarkable life and
literary and political achievements of Sol Plaatje, one of
the founders of the African National Congress in 1912,
a tireless campaigner against the Native Land Act of
1913 and the first person to translate Shakespeare into
Setswana, among other literary achievements.
Drawing on new research in archives in Southern
Africa, Europe and the United States, the author reveals

2020 HSS Awards Nonfiction category Chair Judge
Prof Hlonipha Mokoena
with Brian Willan

aspects of Plaatje’s life that were previously little known.
These include his personal life and relationships with his
wife, family, friends and supporters, as well as his ties with
the Christian Brotherhood Movement, his social world in
London and his scholarship and writings.
The biography pays special attention to Plaatje’s formative
years, education and upbringing in the 19th century
Cape Colony, and his exposure to the legal and political
ideas of a time when black South Africans were being
systematically stripped of their rights, and politicians such
as Cecil John Rhodes were in their heyday.
By shedding light on Plaatje’s multiple roles, including
court reporter, journalist, editor, father, husband and poet
– and black nationalist – this biography offers the reader
an understanding of the man in the context of his times.
The result, far from diminishing Sol Plaatje’s stature as one
of South Africa’s most accomplished pioneers of black
nationalist struggle, succeeds in expanding it.
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Black Academic Voices: The South African Experience
Grace Khunou, Katijah Khoza-Shangase, Hugo Canham and
Edith Dinong Phaswana

BEST NON-FICTION EDITED VOLUME

NON-FICTION WINNERS

Numerous scholars have explored the challenges of higher
education transformation since 1994; on the other hand, very
few black academics have had the opportunity to tell their
stories in biographical form. This volume is a rare exception.
It contains the personal accounts of the lived experiences
of black academics at South African universities and
offers important insights into the structural and relational
challenges confronting black people in the academy and
other institutions.
This volume consists of three parts: the misrepresentation
of black bodies, the heterogeneous black experience, and
affirmation of self through empowering and inspiring others.
Most of the contributions in this book are from women,
which is significant in terms of the possibilities it offers
for deconstructing hierarchies of authoritarianism that

Left to right: Profs Grace
Khunou, Edith Phaswana,
Hlonipha Mokoena and
Hugo Canham at the
2020 HSS Awards

are sexist and patriarchal, as well as racist
and colonial.
On reading this volume, the reasons why
black academics leave the academy become
abundantly clear. Exclusion, sometimes subtle
and sometimes overt, continues to be part of the
everyday experiences of black academics.
By serving as a platform for the personal yet
collective experiences of black academics, Black
Academic Voices fills the gap in the debate that
has been ongoing since 1994.
University administrators and academics could
undoubtedly benefit from reading this book,
especially those at historically white institutions,
where exclusion continues to cast its shadow.
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FICTION WINNERS
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Lacuna
Fiona Snyckers

BEST FICTION NOVEL

The parallels between Lacuna and JM Coetzee’s Disgrace
are unmistakable. The settings are the same – a farmhouse
in the Western Cape. The name of the central character in
both novels is Lucy Lurie, and both incarnations of Lucy
Lurie have the same experience, that of being gang raped.
Indeed, both characters and what happens to them are
identical with one important exception: Where Coetzee’s
Lucy is passive, Snyckers’ Lucy will not be silenced.
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The storyline is that Snyckers’ Lucy becomes obsessed with
Coetzee, who made his name by writing Disgrace – a book
about her. She finds this problematic because Coetzee
knows nothing about what rape does to a woman and the
trauma she experiences. Thus, Lucy sets out to find and
confront Coetzee.
Although this confrontation never actually happens, Lacuna
itself becomes the vehicle for confronting Coetzee as an
author, not only for his lack of insight into the effect of rape

2020 HSS Awards Fiction
category Chair Judge
Prof Nhlanhla Maake
with Fiona Snyckers

but for his use of rape as a metaphor for the loss of
white power. Snyckers has dismissed the use of this
metaphor as nonsensical given how white South
Africans have thrived since the advent of democracy.
Zukiswa Wanner, who reviewed this book,
considers it a “powerful and brilliant critique of both
JM Coetzee’s Disgrace and contemporary South
Africa. Snyckers makes the reader ponder deeply
one minute and laugh loudly the next”.
Ultimately, the novel asks a question that is
enormously important in South Africa with its
history of authoritarianism, discrimination and
patriarchy: Who is allowed to tell whose story, and
who is allowed to make profit of whose story?
This book is a timely addition to a growing collection
of South African feminist works.
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The History of Intimacy
Gabeba Baderoon

BEST FICTION POETRY AND SHORT STORIES

FICTION WINNERS

2020 HSS Awards Fiction
category Chair Judge
Prof Nhlanhla Maake
with Gabeba Baderoon

This is the second time Gabeba Baderoon has won an HSS
Award. In 2017, she was joint winner of the non-fiction
monograph category for Regarding Muslims: From Slavery to
Post-apartheid. Baderoon’s return in 2020 to an entirely new
category, best fiction poetry, underscores her versatility
and the originality of her work.

Many of these overlooked moments are set in
Athlone, Cape Town, where Baderoon was born
and grew up after her family was forcibly removed
from their home in the suburb of Claremont. Her
pain is powerfully evoked in her poem “The Flats”,
where she writes:

The History of Intimacy, which is Baderoon’s fourth collection
of poems, brings the past and present together by
exploring modern-day issues around race, gender, religion
and sexuality while contemplating historical injustices and
their projection into present.

I was born on the Flats
with its sand streets and damp walls,
a winter child, a child of loss.

In lyrical form, the poems and short stories reveal the many
intimacies, hurts and memories of everyday life under
apartheid and in the aftermath of apartheid. As fellow
poet Toni Stuart expressed it in a review of the collection,
“The poems expose and ask us to confront all the ways in
which colonialism and apartheid were personal. Baderoon
takes us into overlooked moments of the everyday where,
perceptible or not, Verwoerd’s ideology most certainly
reached.”

In a tribute penned to the poet, Kwame Dawes,
author of City of Bones, writes that with this
collection, Baderoon is “building a powerful body
of work in Africa and reaching line after line to the
wider world”.
The 2020 HSS Award in this category is not the first
accolade Baderoon has received for this particular
collection. The History of Intimacy also won the
2019 Elizabeth Eybers prize for poetry and the 2019
University of Johannesburg Main Prize.
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BEST VISUAL ART WINNER

Exploring the relationship between cinema and the city,
particularly cities in the Global South, this multi-channel
installation uses cinematographic cartography in a way
that opens the viewer to multiple and fragmented points
of view.

52

Asymmetries Exhibition
Nduka Mntambo

BEST VISUAL ART

Asymmetries consists of images projected onto mobile
sculptures suspended on beams and designed in the
motif of the icosahedron, a geometric shape with 20 nonsimilar faces. This installation project therefore demands
a different conception of the relationship between the
screen, the image and the viewer.
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In the words of the artist, Nduka Mntamo, “I present
the assemblage of images from various cities which
requires a framing, reframing and deframing that defies a
totalising whole. Instead, the experience evokes tentative,
incomplete and constantly moving evolving ideas that at
times move together, move against each other and on
occasion allow for coalescence.”

2020 HSS Awards Creative and
Digital Humanities category
Chair Judge Dr Andile Khumalo
with Nduka Mntambo

The work mobilises the modes of artistic research,
exploring and disrupting the coordinates of what
is known about the Global Cities of the South. It
achieves this by progressing from the point of the
unknown to the marginal and “uncanonised” and,
by exposing the spectator to many different and
fragmented perspectives that raise new questions
about African urbanism.
Nduka submitted the installation for his
PhD research project, titled “Itinerant/Iterative
Cartographies: Explorations in Cinematic Practices.”
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BEST DIGITAL HUMANITIES VISUALISATION
OR INFOGRAPHIC WINNER

Azimuth: An Experiment of Virtual Reality for
Fashion Film Genre
Nirma Dolly Madhoo

BEST DIGITAL HUMANITIES VISUALISATION
OR INFOGRAPHIC

Nirma Dolly Madhoo at
the 2019 HSS Awards

Azimuth is a virtual reality fashion film that flows from
Nirma Dolly Madhoo’s practice as a fashion filmmaker
and was produced after her 2018 residency with Electric
South’s New Dimensions AR/VR Lab. Through this Lab,
international experts provide mentorship towards the
development of African artists for immersive digital
storytelling.
Conceptualised and produced in South Africa, Azimuth
features fashion performances informed by the new
aesthetic known as Noirwave, with its black empowered
feminine agenda. The film consists of a triptych of
performances that play out against backdrops of
Brutalist South African Architecture, including simulations
of the Ponte Tower in Hillbrow, an urban jungle and
concrete dolosse.
These settings become geographically monumental in
Azimuth, which uses 360-degree space and was filmed

using underwater, aerial and drone rigging.
This, coupled with 3D captures and the use of
cameras equipped with digital imaging sensors,
embodies the meaning of the film’s name, which
is derived from the Arabic word “azimuthi”,
referring to a measurement in spherical space.
This digitally disruptive setting and the medium
of virtual reality are powerful tools for applying
inclusive and decolonising principles in fashion
and articulating new narratives and positive
representations of black bodies and identities.
While Azimuth is not overtly political, the
production is informed by an awareness of the
politics of representation, illustrating how fashion
practitioners previously excluded from the
system can use digital expressions to appropriate
fashion and destabilise elitist fashion systems.
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BEST PUBLIC PERFORMANCE WINNER

54

Institute for Creative Arts Live Arts Festival 2018
Jay Pather

BEST PUBLIC PERFORMANCE

Since 2012, this annual arts festival in Cape Town
has provided a non-commercial platform for live,
interdisciplinary performances by South African and
African visual and performing artists.
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The 2018 Festival, for which this award was presented,
splendidly demonstrated why the Creative Arts Live
Festival has become known worldwide as a platform
for live art practitioners to present their work to diverse
publics and to make their work publicly accessible by
performing in public and private spaces.
Its formula was unique. Held over 16 days in September
2018, the festival saw performers moving across
the city, staging interventions in places such as the
Cape Town train station, the Company’s Gardens,
the Luxurama Theatre and the Iziko National Gallery,
among many other sites. In this way, the event engaged
with incidental and intentional audiences, meaning
audiences that were aware of the festival in advance
and audiences that encountered the performers
serendipitously.

2020 HSS Awards Creative and
Digital Humanities category
Chair Judge Dr Andile Khumalo
with Jay Pather

Recognising the roots of live art in activism, disruption
and protest, the 2018 Festival featured several
performances that flowed from the Fees Must Fall
protests, while also exploring other socially relevant
phenomena, such as the lives of sex workers and the
legacy of apartheid-era forced removals.
In one of the most dramatic performances of the
Festival, 35 performers wearing psychedelic costumes
and using performance installations conducted a twohour-long procession through Cape Town’s colonial
sites. This performance, titled The Things We Lost in the
Rainbow, challenged the dominant narrative of South
African history and sought to reclaim the spaces from
which the performers had been historically exiled.
All in all, the 2018 Festival attracted more audience
members than ever before, an estimated 2 000
people. It also provided a platform for more artists and
performers than ever before, featuring over 50 artists
from Egypt, Ghana, Germany, India, Mozambique,
Switzerland and across South Africa.
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BEST MUSICAL COMPOSITION WINNER

Songs of Greeting, Healing and Heritage
Mantombi Matotiyana and Michael Blake

BEST MUSICAL COMPOSITION

Cover of Mantombi Matotiyana’s CD

Bow song is a long-established Eastern Cape
tradition to which Mantombi Matotiyana has added
her contemporary voice. Each track on the Songs of
Greeting, Healing and Heritage album begins with an
instrumental solo played with Uhadi or Umrhubhe,
before flowing into Mantombi’s voice and then
back and forth between voice and instrument.
Mantombi is one of the greatest legends of Xhosa
music and yet this is the first time her personal
contribution to the bow song has been recorded.
Previously, she has performed and recorded as
a member of various bands in South Africa and
internationally, and personally taught individual
musicians to play the Umrhubhe, including Dizu
Plaatjies, African music specialist at the University of
Cape Town.

Songs of Greeting, Healing and Heritage consists mostly of
original songs and makes a substantial contribution to the
preservation of bow music and bow instruments as a living
tradition.
The album was conceived with three aims in mind. The
first was to contribute to the preservation of bow music,
building on the work started by Professor David Dargie of
Fort Hare University in the 1960s. The album also sought
to contribute to the preservation of bow instruments and,
importantly, to the preservation of Mantombi’s personal
contribution to the bow music genre.
Mantombi’s performance on Songs of Greeting, Healing
and Heritage has been described as “clean-cut” and
“pioneering”, drawing on the traditional bow song formula
to create contemporary music.
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STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE 5
FOSTER INTERNATIONAL RESEARCH
COLLABORATIONS BETWEEN SOUTH
AFRICA, AFRICA AND COUNTRIES OF THE
GLOBAL SOUTH, INCLUDING BRAZIL,
INDIA AND CHINA

NIHSS CEO Professor Sarah Mosoetsa
signing the MoU with Professor Li Xinfeng,
the Executive Vice-President of the ChinaAfrica Institute; Director General of the
Institute of West-Asian and African Studies,
Chinese Academy of Social Sciences
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The Global South, comprising the so-called
developing nations of the world, is becoming a force
to be reckoned with internationally, particularly
where countries have formed groupings, coalitions
or platforms to address topics of common interest.
While the nations within these formations, such as
the BRICS, are far from homogeneous, they tend
to share certain interests and principles, including
a focus on sustainable growth and development.
These commonalities lend themselves to
cooperation in a variety of settings, including
research and scholarly collaborations.
For the Institute, which is tasked with fostering
international HSS research collaborations involving
South Africa, a significant development was the
signing of a memorandum of understanding on
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(Top) Audience participants at a BRICS dialogue
held in November 2019. (Right) SABTT Chair
Professor Siphamandla Zondi with fellow
panelists Ms Vivian Ramuthaba (BRICS National
Development Bank), Mr Bruno Carvalho Arruda,
Economic affairs, Embassy of Brazil in Pretoria, and
Dr Philani Mthembu, Executive Director, Institute
for Global Dialogue

2 December 2019 with the China-Africa Institute
under the auspices of the Chinese Academy of
Social Sciences. CASS is the highest academic
institution and national research centre in the HSS
fields in the People’s Republic of China, as well as
a top think tank; it has over 30 research institutes
and 45 research centres carrying out research in
approximately 300 HSS disciplines.
The new MoU commits the two signatories to
strengthening and facilitating collaboration in
matters of common interest by encouraging
research visits and collaborative research, and
co-sponsoring and organising joint conferences,
symposia and workshops. As such, it opens up many
possibilities for academic and research cooperation
between South African and Chinese researchers
in five key areas: cooperation for economic
growth and development, political and economic
governance, peace and security, progress through
sharing knowledge and innovation, and social
justice, sustainable development and quality of life.
International research collaborations in
2019/20
The Institute and CASS put out a joint Call for
Applications in January 2020, with a closing date of
15 February 2020, followed by a rigorous selection
process.

The South African recipients of the first 10 CASS-NIHSS research
grants
Dr Mondli Hlatshwayo, University of Johannesburg
Dr Philani Mthembu, Institute for Global Dialogue (IDG)
Dr Thulisile Mphambukeli, University of the Free State
Dr Dawn Nagar, University of Johannesburg
Prof Brett Pyper, University of the Witwatersrand
Prof Ruth Simbao, Rhodes University
Prof Nirmala Gopal, University of KwaZulu-Natal
Prof Lauren Graham, University of Johannesburg
Prof Modimowabarwa Kanyane, Human Sciences Research Council
Prof Herman Wasserman, University of Cape Town
We look forward to the first fruits of this strategic partnership with CASS and are
excited about the results that South African-Sino research collaboration could
yield in areas of mutual interest.
The partnership with CASS is the third major international strategic partnership
the NIHSS has entered into, the two earlier ones being with the Council for
the Development of Social Science Research in Africa (CODESRIA) and the
Indian Council of Social Science Research (ICSSR). Both partnerships have
offered valuable research opportunities for South African-based scholars and
researchers.
For the year ended 31 March 2020, the NIHSS facilitated and monitored 10
international research collaboration projects. This was double the target of five
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SABTT Innovation and
ICT Cluster leader, Mr
Ashraf Patel, speaking
at a cluster workshop,
August 2019

projects for the year but considerably below the 20 projects in the previous year,
a reflection of budgetary constraints.
During the year, the international collaborative projects gave rise to 11 research
outputs, which was also well above the five outputs anticipated. These outputs
consisted of book chapters, policy briefs and conference proceedings on some
highly relevant topics, including renewable energy, climate change and the role
of BRICS countries in international affairs. Some examples follow:
• How BRICS countries respond to and become involved in armed conflict is the
topic of Dr Malte Brosig’s book, The Role of BRICS in Large-scale Armed Conflict,
published by Palgrave Macmillan during 2019. The book’s premise is that BRICS
countries, by approaching armed conflict differently from conventional western
foreign policy, are building a multi-polar and post-western world order.
• BRICS’ role in shaping a post-western world order is also the subject of the
book that Dr Zakhele Shamase co-authored with M Sheik-Peremanov and
N Nojiyeza in 2019. Published by Kwa-Dlangezwa: Inqanawe Publishers, it is
titled BRICS economic and political governance intricacies: Towards a new world
order.
• Climate policy in BRICS cities and the financing of renewable energy projects in
BRICS cities were the topics of two policy briefs prepared by HSRC researchers.
Krish Chetty, Kamleshan Pillay and Babalwa Siswana wrote the brief exploring
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the climate policy of BRICS cities. They found
progress in adaptation and mitigation in the cities’
transport sectors, except in South Africa, as well
as in waste and lighting in commercial buildings.
However, a major challenge for BRICS cities is an
absence of enforcement measures in reducing
emissions, a lack of alignment between city-level
and national policies, and no provision for direct
access on the part of cities to international funding
for climate action.
BRICS Dialogues: learning from the past for
the future
The NIHSS hosted two BRICS Dialogues during
2019/20, both presented by the South African BRICS
Think Tank and the Institute for Global Dialogue
(IDG), which is associated with Unisa.
The first dialogue, held in February 2019, reviewed
South Africa’s 2018 BRICS chairship, focusing on
lessons learnt that could be taken forward.
A second BRICS Dialogue was held in November
2019 to discuss Brazil’s 2019 chairship of the
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Audience and
participants at the
BRICS Dialogue,
November 2019

BRICS while simultaneously looking ahead to the
Russian chairship in 2020. The event, held at the
NIHSS’s offices in Johannesburg, included speakers
from the Russian Embassy and the BRICS New
Development Bank (NDB) and was well attended
by members of the diplomatic corps, media and
the private sector.
A key question raised during this BRICS Dialogue
was how the BRICS could move on from “declaration
to manifestation”, to quote Professor Siphamandla
Zondi, chairperson of the South African BRICS
Think Tank (SABTT). He noted that traditional forms
of cooperation such as on trade and investment,
logistics and transportation are very low within
BRICS. On the other hand, initiatives such as the
human milk bank and promotion of the women’s
agenda could make a meaningful impact on
people’s lives, Professor Zondi said.
One of the most important lessons noted was that
the BRICS should not become like other multilateral
organisations where, at the end of every year, many
new initiatives are tabled but become impossible

to maintain. Rather, emphasis should be placed on continuity and tactical
outcomes, an example being the establishment of a vaccine research centre in
South Africa.This was discussed during during South Africa’s BRICS presidency
and was one of the priorities that Brazil announced on taking over the chairship
in 2019.
The NIHSS’s BRICS programme also provided funding for a two-day colloquium
that Professor Nolwazi Mhkwanazi convened in Mumbai, India in June 2020 for
South African and Indian delegates, titled “Mobile Phones, Gender and Society:
Emerging Empirical Realities and Feminist Perspectives”.
African Pathways Programme
For the 2019/20 financial year, a total of eight recipients received International
Mobility Grants, either in the form of African Pathways Programme grants or for
BRICS Teaching and Research Mobility Grants.
Sharing research on technology and entrepreneurship: Dr Willie
Chinyamurindi of the University of Fort Hare visited universities in Uganda, Zambia
and Zimbabwe for research purposes and to share his work on technology in the
African workplace, entrepreneurship in the African economy and mental health
in the African workplace. He also used the trip to launch a project involving a
special edition of the Journal of Transdisciplinary Studies in Southern Africa. Dr
Chinyamurindi is co-editing this special edition, titled “Mobile technology within
the 4IR era – Africa answering the call”. He reports that more than 60 academics in
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(Top) Dr Sara Matchett during a theatrevoice workshop in Accra, Ghana.
(Bottom) Dr Myer Taub’s Wild Zones
project performance in Bangalore, India

15 African countries have volunteered to contribute
in various ways, including contributing their research,
acting as reviewers and mentoring and conducting
workshops for junior academics. While in Zimbabwe,
he and a colleague, Prof Roxanne Piderit, conducted
a two-day workshop with academics from the Great
University of Zimbabwe on research methods,
postgraduate supervision, teaching with technology
and community engagement.
Delving into the risks of illegal mining: Mr James
Mmadi of the University of Limpopo presented two
papers at a conference in Nairobi, Kenya in June
2019. The first paper dealt with the risks of illegal
mining, based on a case study of Driekop in the
Limpopo Province; the second paper explored the
state of public healthcare facilities in South Africa.
This international interdisciplinary conference was
jointly hosted by the Kenya Scholars and Studies
Association (KESSA), the Association of International
Schools in Africa (AISA) and the Multimedia
University of Kenya.
Exploring BRICS countries’ “wild zones”: Wild
zones are what Dr Myer Taub, grant recipient from the
Wits School of Theatre and Performance, describes
as “more-than-alive” city spaces that “act as catalysts
and sites of risk, otherness and the transgressive
process of making”. Dr Taub commenced his
exploration in Delhi and Bangalore in India, where
he presented workshops and a public lecture and
met potential master’s and doctoral students. Next
on the itinerary were Moscow and St Petersburg
in Russia, followed by Shanghai in China, where he
participated in the IFTR congress and presented a
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paper as a co-performed public lecture. The series of visits ended in Cape Town,
where Dr Taub presented a paper on Shakespeare. The expedition has opened
up a number of collaborative possibilities, including with the Flying Banana
Theatre company in Moscow and the St Petersburg Theatre Company.
2019/20 recipients of International Mobility Grants
International Mobility Grant holders
Dr Willie Chinyamurindi, University of Fort Hare
Mr James Mmadi, University of Limpopo
Prof Roxanne Piderit, University of Fort Hare
Dr Myer Taub, University of the Witwatersrand
Dr Alette Schoon, Rhodes University
Dr Emmanuel Rotimi Sadiku, Tshwane University of Technology
Dr Sara Matchett, University of Cape Town
Ms Natasha Parkins-Maliko, University of the Witwatersrand
Research synergies deliver results for India and South Africa
One of the first and most productive research partnerships that the Institute
has forged has been with our counterparts in India, the Indian Council for Social
Science Research (ICSSR). This partnership has already been in place for three
years and has seen the two institutes jointly funding an array of research projects
involving South African and Indian researchers in areas of common interest,
including discrimination, equity, social justice and social movements, migration
and urbanisation, and language and identity politics.

These broad fields of interest have been distilled into focused research projects
that address societal problems with which both countries have been grappling,
including disability, sexual violence, rural youth poverty and lack of access to
sanitation, particularly in rural areas. Other projects concern the cultural and identity
commonalities between India and South Africa, which are historically connected.
Through this partnership to date, Indian and South African researchers have
jointly undertaken 12 research projects over a three-year funding cycle, resulting
in numerous research outputs. These include four research reports, four book
chapters, nine international research seminars or workshops and eight journal
articles.
Joint ICSSR-NIHSS research projects in phase one of the collaboration
South African researcher

Project title

Dr Sikhumbuzo Mngadi,
University of Johannesburg

The literature of resistance: A comparative
study at Dalit and anti-apartheid literature

Prof Rajend Mesthrie, University
of Cape Town

Language change and identity among
Indian South Africans, with special
reference to Gujarati and Konkani

Dr Nolwazi Mkhwanazi,
University of the Witwatersrand

From digital revolution to sexual
revolution: youth and mobile phones in
India and South Africa

Dr Lindile Ndabeni, Tshwane
University of Technology

Broad-basing rural sanitation: Issues and
strategies in inclusive innovation in India
and South Africa

Dr Srila Roy, University of the
Witwatersrand

Contesting sexual violence in the public
sphere: new forms of feminist activism in
India and South Africa

Prof Pilane Moyo, University of
Fort Hare

Livelihoods and the rural youth poverty
question: Rethinking capabilities, local
youth visions and policy options in SA
and India

Prof Louise Vincent, Rhodes
University

Higher education as a public goodpromoting inclusion in higher education
in India and South Africa

Dr Shakila Dada, University of
Pretoria

Participation of children with intellectual
disabilities in India and South Africa:
Parents and children’s perspectives

Prof V Sujatha, University of
Cape Town

Towards a Southern sociology of work Mobile labour and intimate labour

Dr Amrita Pande, University of
Cape Town

Comparative history of nutrition and
reproductive health in post-liberal India
and South Africa

Prof Nirmala Gopal, University of
KwaZulu-Natal

Old diasporas, new identities: South
African Indians, between “Home” and
“Homeland”

Prof Rozena Maart, University of
KwaZulu-Natal

Race, space and city in India and South
Africa
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NIHSS
partnership with the
Indian Council for Social
Science Research (ICSSR):

12 research projects
8 universities
25 research outputs
From digital revolution to sexual revolution:
youth and mobile phones in India and
South Africa
Dr Nolwazi Mkhwanazi, University of the
Witwatersrand, and Professor Lakshmi Lingam, Tatu
Institute of Social Sciences, Mumbai
Digital technologies have brought about a sea
change in communication, affecting young people’s
intimate and sexual relationships and bringing
about what could be termed “digital intimacy”.
This study, running from 2016 to June 2019,
explored and compared the use of mobile
technologies in relation to sexual identities and
gender relations in two cities, namely Mumbai in
India and Johannesburg in South Africa.
In both cities, the research was ethnographic,
consisting of interviews with young people and in
some cases, also with their families and community
members. In addition, desktop research was done
on legislation, media representations of how young
people use their cellphones and reviews of previous
literature on the topic.
Owing to funding challenges linked to delays in the
funding for the Indian research team, the project
methodology was adapted. Where the focus of the
South African research was on in-depth interviews
with young people about their digital lives, the
Indian research focused more on the socio-legal
and political environment, and therefore on
violence and the harm that digital technologies
can do. To balance this, the researchers convened a
conference covering both aspects in both countries.
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Dr Nolwazi Mhkwanazi, Professor Lakshmi Lingam,
and participants, at the conference on Mobile Phones,
Gender and Society: Emerging Empirical Realities and
Feminist Perspectives, in Mumbai, India

from the conference is in the pipeline, with the working title of Mobile phones,
gender and society: Empirical realities and emerging feminist perspectives.
Rural sanitation project
Lindile L. Ndabeni, Institute for Economic Research on Innovation, Tshwane
University of Technology

The research team issued a call for papers, attracting
over 190 abstracts from South Africa, India, Nigeria,
Bangladesh, the United States and United Kingdom.
From these, 22 abstracts were selected and
developed into full drafts.
The conference was convened on 3 and 4 June 2019
at the Tata Institute of Social Sciences, and was titled
“Mobile phones, gender and society: emerging
realities and feminist perspectives”.
Just a few of the many topics covered were the
use of communication technologies in romantic
relationships, the impact of social media on attitudes
to dating violence on gender, children’s use of and
exposure to sexually explicit online material and
youth, mobile phones and masculinities.
In all, the project generated over 20 research
outputs, included two completed MA theses, eight
conference and workshop presentations, four book
chapters and two journal articles. An edited volume
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An estimated 2.5 billion people do not have access to improved sanitation
and 1.1 billion practise open defecation, which symbolises an embedded form
of marginalisation, especially in remote rural villages where latrines are often
restricted to village elites. This study sought to unpack specific conditions
that impact on poor sanitation while highlighting possibilities for systemic
interventions that could sustain rural sanitation improvements, particularly in
Asia and Africa.
In India, as many as 69.3% of rural households had no toilet facilities at all within
their premises and about 550 million people living in villages defecate in the
open, according to the Census of India 2011.
Although South Africa has achieved the Millennium Development Goal
target for rural sanitation, it faces a larger challenge of universalising access to
improved sanitation. Millions of South Africans are still using the bucket system,
unimproved pit toilets or the veld. Compounding this, water-borne sewerage
systems in South Africa are poorly designed and when they fail, the impact on
health is severe for those affected and others downstream.
This study, which is still in progress, has provided an opportunity for comparative
analysis, focusing on three aspects relevant to pragmatic policy lessons in

SECTION B

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES AND PERFORMANCE 2019/20

sanitation and hygienic practices across rural
areas. These are performance in terms of coverage,
spending and usage; policy instruments, campaigns
and intergovernmental initiatives; and observations
from field surveys as to attitude and behaviour
change concerning sanitation and hygiene.
On a policy level, the government of India has been
actively addressing sanitation shortfalls since 1986,
when the Central Rural Sanitation Programme was
launched. Further initiatives followed in 1999, 2003,
2004, 2005, 2012 and most recently, the Swacch
Bharat Abhiyan (Clean Indian Mission). There have
also been some non-state interventions.
In South Africa, government adopted a National
Sanitation Policy in 1996 and the Final Draft National
Sanitation Strategy in 2004.
The study has made good progress with the
fieldwork component. In India, four villages
each from two states (one advanced and the
other underdeveloped) were chosen for the
survey purpose. In South Africa, case studies
were undertaken in the Eastern Cape towns of
Lusikisiki and Port St Johns in the OR Tambo District
Municipality, AmaNdlambe Traditional Authority in
Buffalo City and Addo in the Sarah Baartman District
Municipality.
Preliminary observations are that South Africa has
impressive policies and good strategies, but the gap
between policy and implementation persists. The
link between fragile livelihoods and rural sanitation
tends to be overlooked and, in this era of green
economy and sustainable development, obsolete
technologies are used to improve rural sanitation.
Research outcomes so far include a theoretical
paper on rural sanitation, written as part of a
special issue of the Journal of Construction Project
Management and Innovation, focusing on water,
sanitation and hygiene.

India-South Africa collaboration enters second phase
The partnership between the NIHSS and the ICSSR is now entering a second,
more comprehensive phase, as captured in a Memorandum of Understanding
that came into effect on 1 March 2020.
In this MoU, the two partners commit to a Programme of Academic Collaboration
that builds on the first phase of the collaboration, with the aim of gaining a
better understanding of the HSS in India and South Africa through collaborative
research, networks of social scientists and free and open exchange of relevant
information.
The priorities of this programme are, among others, to address pressing current
problems in both countries, promote relevant, multidisciplinary research in areas
of medium and long-term interest, preserve scholarly rigour and objectivity,
facilitate wider dissemination of research findings and encourage scholars from
India and South Africa to actively engage in public debates on issues of national
and international significance, such as development.
The major activities under the Programme of Academic Collaboration include
an annual workshop to plan and discuss collaborative research, systematic
coordination of graduate and doctoral comparative research through student
exchange and co-supervision, and joint research projects involving people from
both countries. These research projects will revolve around nine overarching
themes, including experiences of pandemics (COVID-19), lessons learnt and the
future.
The NIHSS and ICSSR will coordinate these activities through a Joint Advisory
Committee representing both institutes.
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STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE 6
ACT AS A DYNAMIC KNOWLEDGE
BROKER BETWEEN THE WORLDS OF
KNOWLEDGE AND POLICY ACTION
ON BEHALF OF SOUTH AFRICA AS THE
SOUTH AFRICAN BRICS THINK TANK
NIHSS hosting of the SABTT closed
meeting with the Russian Delegation,
with SABTT cluster leaders and
observers from DHET and DIRCO

In a time of polarisation and unilateralism, the South
African BRICS Think Tank (SABTT) has the potential
to make a welcome contribution to the growth of
multilateralism. This is important as multilateralism
creates opportunities for BRICS academics to work
together to resolve research questions they may be
unable to address on their own.
What’s more, because the various BRICS Think Tanks
are officially part of the BRICS infrastructure, they
have the opportunity to serve as a bridge between
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academic knowledge and policy action. This space between academia and
policy is where the SABTT will increasingly be focusing its attention going
forward, seeking to link its research cluster projects and researchers more closely
with government partners and priorities.
For example, issues around the fourth industrial revolution (4IR) are becoming
increasingly important to BRICS presidents, raising questions about the future
of work and therefore employment levels. Technology is a major point of
contention in the United States-China-European Union trade negotiations, as
we have seen in the ongoing contestation around new technologies such as 5G
and specifically which nations or blocs will lead that space.
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Another dynamic affecting global economies and trade relationships is China’s
strengthening presence in the development and manufacture of high-level
products – and not just toys and clothing – significantly improving its ability to
compete with the US and EU countries.
Then there is the question of BRICS countries’ energy architecture. Together,
the BRICS are responsible for an estimated 38% of the total energy consumed
in the world. They also hold around 45% of the world’s coal reserves and are
responsible for some 41% of CO2 emissions.
At the same time, the BRICS are major players in the renewable energy sphere:
China is the top producer of wind turbines, India is a leader in global efforts to
facilitate access to solar technology and funding, and Brazil is already drawing at
least 40% of its power from renewable energy sources. South Africa’s 12-year-old
energy crisis continues to be an impediment to the country’s economic growth
and competitiveness.
For all these reasons, energy is of paramount importance to BRICS leaders, along
with other common challenges such as the water-food-health nexus across the
BRICS and BRICS Plus countries, as well as peace and security matters, both in the

cybersecurity arena and in the physical escalation of
armed conflicts around the world.
The SABTT has been actively involved in research in
all these fields and in the other broad research focus
areas outlined in the BRICS Long Term Strategy.
These focus areas are the promotion of cooperation
for economic growth and development; the
maintenance of peace and security; social justice,
sustainable development and quality of life; political
and economic governance; and achieving progress
by sharing knowledge and innovation.
SABTT research is guided by these five broad themes
and structured into “Cluster projects”. The first group
of such projects is known as BRICS Cluster l, and
consists of nine projects, all involving researchers
from multiple South African universities or research
institutions and, in many cases, academics from
other BRICS countries, particularly India and China.
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(Top) Ms Nomoya Mahlangu, audience participant at the
SABTT BRICS Cluster II Convening, February 2020. (Bottom)
Prof Nirmala Gopal and participants at the SABTT Peace
and Security cluster’s two-day conference on “BRICS as a
cohesive social actor”, October 2019

BRICS Cluster projects
Many of the SABTT’s nine Cluster l projects were in their third year
in 2019/20, making this an opportune time to take stock of the
think tank’s contribution to multilateral research within BRICS and to
explore ways to strengthen its value as a policy-influencing resource.
With this in mind, the NIHSS’s BRICS directorate hosted a two-day
SABTT meeting on 4 and 5 February 2020. On the first day, the
Cluster l project leaders reported back on the progress and status
of their projects. Day two was dedicated to discussions on the
next round of BRICS Cluster projects, Cluster II. At this meeting,
the Institute, which has been managing all SABTT activities since
2015/16, also announced the launch of the call for Cluster II
applications, with 28 February 2020 as the closing date.
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The work of the nine Cluster 1 projects was shared
through a number of conferences, seminars and
dialogues during the year:
• Peace and Security cluster: Professor Nirmala
Gopal of the University of KwaZulu-Natal and her
four-institution team on the project “BRICS as a
cohesive social actor” presented a two-day Peace
and Security conference on security in the 4IR.
Held in eThekwini on 3 and 4 October 2019, the
conference explored an array of relevant topics,
including skills development for the 4IR, public
perceptions of cybersecurity in South Africa, 4IR
in developmental states and the role of BRICS in
large-scale armed conflicts.
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(Top left) Dr Zakhele Shamase
(UniZulu) and participants, at the
SABTT Political and Economic
Governance cluster’s writing
workshop. (Bottom left) Dr
Sibongile Tshabalala (UniZulu)
and delegates at the Social Justice
cluster project seminar, April 2019

• Political and Economic Governance cluster:
Dr Zakhele Shamase of the University of Zululand
convened two two-day workshops on book
writing.
• The Social Justice cluster project, led by Dr
Sibongile Tshabalala of the University of Zululand,
convened a BRICS seminar that drew delegates
from Brazil, India, Russia and South Africa. It was
held in Gauteng on 2 April 2019.
• BRICS ICT 4D and Digital Economy and
Society Research: Prof Philani Moyo held a
colloquium on 12 and 13 March 2020, titled
“Revisiting the Rural Youth Poverty Question:
Rethinking Youth Capabilities, Youth Visions and
Policy Options in South Africa”.

• BRICS Energy Architecture: Mr Krish Chetty presented a webinar on
the financing of clean technology in BRICS cities on 19 March 2020.
• Knowledge and Innovation cluster: The Institute for Global
Dialogue and its partners at Wits University, Tshwane University of
Technology and the University of Johannesburg convened a public
seminar, “Trade wars, WTO trade talks and the future of multilateralism:
implications for the developing south and Africa”. This was held in
Johannesburg on 7 August 2019, with speakers from Brazil, China,
India and Russia discussing the implications of the US-China-EU
Trade Wars, the current WTO Ecommerce plurilateral talks and the
summit on WTO trade reforms. Panelists discussed how these global
issues affect African development and industrialisation in the context
of the African Continental Free Trade Area (AfCFTA) agreement and a
broader need for south-south cooperation in an eroding multilateral
global order.
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STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE 7
COORDINATE AND MANAGE ALL SOUTH
AFRICAN BRICS THINK TANK-RELATED
ACTIVITIES ON BEHALF OF SOUTH AFRICA

The South African
delegation at the 11th
Annual BRICS Academic
Forum, in Brasilia, Brazil

The SABTT delegation to Brazil was led by Professor
Siphamandla Zondi, who early in the new financial
year took over the SABTT Chairship and BRICS Think
Tank Council membership from Professor Ari Sitas.

Having had the honour of hosting the BRICS presidency and BRICS Academic
Forum in the previous year, South Africa handed these responsibilities over to
Brazil in 2019/20. For the Institute, which is the custodian of the South African
BRICS Think Tank, the academic face of the country’s BRICS representation, this
meant taking a step back from being at the centre of organising BRICS academic
activities to being a participant and playing a supporting role.
This included making the preparations for the SABTT’s participation at the 2019
BRICS Academic Forum in Brasilia, Brazil in September – ahead of the BRICS
Leaders’ Summit in mid-November – while looking ahead to the 2020 Academic
Forum in Moscow, Russia.
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Preparations for Brazil began early in the new
financial year, under the guidance of the SABTT
Advisory Committee, consisting of representatives
from the NIHSS, the Department of Higher
Education and Training (DHET) and the Department
of International Relations and Cooperative
Governance (DIRCO).
On 6 August 2019, the SABTT delegation selected
to represent South African academics in Brazil were
ready for their “dress rehearsal” – the Pre-Academic
Forum where the team members would go
through their presentations and be constructively
critiqued.
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(Left) Professor Peliwe Lolwana
(Wits). (Right) SABTT Chair
Professor Siphamandla Zondi

The delegation to the Academic Forum in Brazil consisted of nine members,
comprising Professor Zondi as the SABTT Chair, Mr Simon Motlhanke from the
DHET, Mr Senkhu Maimane from the NIHSS and six academics as speakers:
SABTT speakers in Brasilia
Prof Modimowabarwa Kanyane, Human Sciences and Research Council, whose
presentation highlighted the challenges for development financing in BRICS
Prof Nirmala Gopal, University of KwaZulu-Natal; her topic at the Academic
Forum was BRICS cooperation on fighting transnational crime
Prof Peliwe Lolwana, Wits University, whose topic was the fourth industrial
revolution in a developmental state
Dr Thokozani Simelane, Human Sciences and Research Council, whose topic
was energy and development in the BRICS
Dr Thulisile Mphambukeli, University of the Free State; whose presentation
focused on the political economy of agricultural cooperation in BRICS
Mr Cyril Prinsloo, South African Institute of International Affairs, who spoke on
BRICS trade and investment

The Pre-Academic Forum, held at the NIHSS’s
offices in Johannesburg, was well attended, with
participants from the DHET, DIRCO and the SABTT
research clusters.
The programme in Brazil commenced on
10 September 2019 with the BRICS Think Tank Council
meeting for the Chairs and key representatives of all
five BRICS think tanks. The agenda at BTTC meetings
included reviewing draft recommendations to be
submitted to the BRICS Leaders’ Summit.
The BRICS Academic Summit took place on 11 and
12 September, with panels discussing the six critical
topics selected by Brazil as holder of the BRICS
presidency in 2019. These topics were:
Financing for development: The creation of the
New Development Bank (NDB) has demonstrated
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(Left) Professor Modimowabarwa Kanyane
(HSRC). (Right) Professor Nirmala Gopal (UKZN)

the BRICS capacity to finance infrastructure and
sustainable development projects. That said, the
NDB faces a number of challenges, an important
one being the lower-than-expected amount of
credit granted at the time of the 2019 Academic
Forum. This was due mainly to the low quality
of some of the projects put forward and the risks
associated with infrastructure investment in
emerging economies. It should be borne in mind,
however, that the NDB should only be one of many
instruments for financial developments, others
being public-private partnerships and greater
market integration among the BRICS.
Trade and investment: Although there has been
an increase in intra-BRICS trade since 2011 as a
proportion of their total trade, trade levels are still
low, as are investment flows. For example, foreign
direct investment (FDI) in India from the other
BRICS countries is negligible. Panelists suggested
the need to create a free trade or partial scope
agreement, but the point was emphasised that this
should not be forced due to sensitive sectors and
regulatory measures in BRICS economies. There was
also discussion around the introduction of laws to
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regulate digital trade and e-commerce development, and the possibility that
such legislation could be used as an instrument of digital protectionism.
Science, technology and innovation (STI): The importance of expanding
STI cooperation was emphasised, especially in the context of the fourth
industrial revolution. This would require networks involving many actors in
the state, markets and civil society, raising the question of whether the BRICS
should consider a technological alliance, coordinated by a council consisting of
officials at the level of deputy prime minister. The panel noted that intra-BRICS
cooperation involving networks of academics and scientists is limited, and that
“denser” networks were needed, consisting of research institutes, universities,
government institutions, companies and think tanks. The point was made that
there is a need for global standards on the development of financial technologies,
as this would allow for greater cooperation on issues such as crowdfunding,
peer-to-peer and third-party payment, cross-border e-commerce, and so on.
Energy and development: Being responsible for around 38% of global
energy consumption, the BRICS are key players in the energy industry. Member
states should increase cooperation on both renewable and non-renewable
energy sources, though always considering the need to transition to lowcarbon economies. They should strengthen infrastructure construction and
cooperation in oil and gas pipeline networks and improve electricity installation
and power grids. As coal is still a major energy source, with BRICS countries
holding around 45% of coal reserves, they should in the short term use modern
coal technologies, including ultra-low emission coal-fired power plants. In the
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infrastructure, using ICTs and promoting climate-resilient agriculture. All this
requires large investments in research and development, as well as an approach
that considers agriculture as an interdisciplinary science encompassing biology,
economics and public policy. One of the obstacles to greater cooperation,
however, is non-tariff barriers among the BRICS. The panel felt it was unlikely
that agricultural cooperation would advance without a discussion of non-tariff
measures in intra-BRICS trade.

PREPARING FOR THE 2020 BRICS ACADEMIC FORUM IN RUSSIA

Dr Thulisile Mphambukeli (UFS)

On 4 March 2020, the NIHSS hosted the Russian delegation, consisting of
members of the Russian Embassy in Pretoria and members of the Russian
BRICS think tank, the National Committee for BRICS Research. The purpose of
the meeting was for Russia to take the SABTT BRICS Cluster project leaders, as
well as observers from DHET and DIRCO, through their priorities during their
Chairship, with the theme “BRICS partnership for global stability, shared security
and innovative growth”.

long term, they should plan to reduce or even
eventually decommission coal power plants.
Cooperation on fighting transnational crime:
Transnational crime has been a central concern for the
international community for the past three decades,
including money laundering, smuggling, drug
trafficking, human trafficking and terrorism, among
others. The BRICS countries should create a joint
commission to expand cooperation, especially on
crime prevention, conflicts of jurisdiction, extradition,
joint investigations, intelligence, protection of
witnesses and victims, and training and technical
assistance, among other things. Rather than being
hierarchical, this commission should “orchestrate”
action by mobilising various types of actors, such as
government sectors, civil society organisations and
universities, and design a framework of common
terminology and approaches.
Agricultural
cooperation:
Potential
for
cooperation among the BRICS is enormous, and
there should be growing emphasis on public
and private agricultural investment, protecting
small farmers, increasing investment in water

SABTT-DIRCO engagement. From left: Mr Dave Malcomson, Professor Siphamandla Zondi,
Ms Auriel Niemack, Ambassador Anil Sooklal, Ms Betsie Smith and Mr Thando Dalamba
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NIHSS office artwork –
Izimpande by Nkosinathi
Isaac Khanyile
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As an Institute that serves and pursues its mandate
in collaboration with the higher education sector,
enabling catalytic research and new scholarship,
the NIHSS requires a unique set of competencies
suited to supporting other researchers and scholars,
building national and international networks and
coordinating a wide array of projects, programmes
and activities.
The requisite skills set includes high-level strategic
planning capabilities, strong management and
coordination, excellent project management,
impeccable ethics and financial and supply chain
management and, of course the academic and
professional credentials to engage as equals
with partners and stakeholders. All of this has
implications for the way the NIHSS’s manages
its human resources, from recruitment and
organisational culture to training and development
and the ethical standards to which employees are
expected to subscribe.
The NIHSS’s staff complement increased from 30 to
32 as at 31 March 2020, including staff employed on
a temporary (short contract) basis. The overall staff
turnover was 17%.

ORGANISATIONAL CULTURE
The NIHSS strives to build a high-performance
culture conducive to delivery of the Institute’s
Strategic Plan while at the same time being
responsive to the needs of employees and
welcoming their diverse ideas and contributions.
According to the results of an employee
engagement study, over 96% of the Institute’s
employees said they understood the vision of the
organisation, an extremely positive and important

result as it demonstrates the level of understanding within the NIHSS around its
direction and purpose. Employee commitment to the Institute was also found
to be high: 85% of employees surveyed said they genuinely cared about the
organisation and were willing to put in a great deal of extra effort into helping
it succeed. Close to 90% said they felt loyal to the NIHSS, with almost 60%
expressing strong agreement about this. These findings are indicative of the
Institute’s success in attracting employees who identify with its vision, mission
and values, and consider it an employer of choice.

STAFF TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
The NIHSS HR vision is to ensure that the Institute provides learning activities
that enhance the knowledge, practical skills and workplace experience
and behaviour of all staff for optimal and sustainable NIHSS performance.
Programmes to facilitate this include staff bursaries for part-time studies that
contribute directly to the employee’s service line, area of specialisation and
current responsibilities or future responsibilities that have been identified.
During the 2019/20 financial year, the NIHSS awarded 20 bursaries to staff
members to allow them to further their studies.
In the year under review, senior management continued with their executive
coaching sessions, and participated in supply chain management group
training to refamiliarise themselves with good governance principles and equip
them with knowledge and tools for dealing with day-to-day procurement of
goods and services.
In total, the Institute invested R852 864 in staff training and development in
2019/20, equating to 4.14% of total expenditure. This was significantly higher
than the previous year’s training expenditure of R276 559, which amounted to
less than 1.5% of total expenditure.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY
We continued to strengthen our compliance on health and safety in the year
under review. In fact, the NIHSS once again received a letter of good standing
from the Department of Labour acknowledging full compliance with the
Compensation for Occupational Injuries and Diseases Act, No 130 of 1993
(COIDA).
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HR OVERSIGHT STATISTICS
Table 2: 2019/20 personnel cost per salary band

Level

Personnel
expenditure (R)

Personnel
expenditure as % of
personnel cost

Number of
employees

Average cost per
employee (R)

Top management

4 640 838

23%

2

2 320 419

Senior management

3 240 467

16%

4

810 117

Professionally qualified

3 122 823

15%

6

520 470

Skilled, technical and academically
qualified

5 932 562

29%

15

395 504

Semi-skilled

3 348 852

16%

10

334 885

293 700

1%

3

97 900

100%

40

Unskilled
Total

20 579 242

Table 3: 2019/20 staff training expenditure
Programme

Total expenditure

Staff training

20 579 242

Staff training
expenditure

As % of total
expenditure

Number of
employees

852 864

4.14%

40

Average cost
per employee
21 322

Table 4: Employment and vacancies as at 31 March 2020
2019/20 approved
posts

2019/20 number of
employees

2019/20 vacancies

% of vacancies

Top management

2

2

0

0.0%

Senior management

6

3

3

50%

Professionally qualified

9

5

4

44.0%

Skilled

12

12

0

0.0%

Semi-skilled

8

7

1

12.5%

Unskilled

3

3

0

0.0%

Total

40

32

8

20%

Level
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Table 5: Employment changes during 2019/20
Level

Employment at
31/03/2019

Appointments

Terminations

Employment at
31/03/2020

Top management

2

0

0

2

Senior management

4

0

1

3*

Professionally qualified

5#

0

0

5#

Skilled

12

4

4

12

Semi-skilled

7

2

2

7

Unskilled

3

0

0

3

Total

33

6

7

32

* The research directorate merged with BRICS directorate as one position
#

Two positions at this level were vacant at year end

Table 6: Reasons for employee turnover for the 2019/20 financial year
Reasons

Employment at 31/03/2020

Dismissals

1

Contract non-renewal

2

Resignations

4

Total

7

Table 7: Labour relations: Misconduct and disciplinary action
Nature of disciplinary action

Number

Verbal warning

0

Written warning

0

Final written warning

0

Dismissals

1

Total

1
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There was a slight change in the proportion of women to men among the Institute’s employees. Women accounted for 59% of the
Institute’s staff in 2019/20, compared with 60% in 2018/19.
In terms of employee race profile, 95% staff members were black, one was white and one coloured (Figure 2).
Figure 1: Gender profile of NIHSS employees (2014/15–2019/20)
100
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40

20
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Females

Males

2014/15

93%

7%

2015/16

67%

33%

2016/17
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2017/18

62%

38%

2018/19

60%

40%

2019/20

59%

41%
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Figure 2: Race profile of NIHSS employees (2014/15–2019/20)
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NIHSS GOVERNANCE
Effective governance is a function of effective leadership, strong
internal controls and the provision of adequate assurance on the
efficacy and reliability of these controls. At the NIHSS, governance
is in the capable hands of the Institute’s Board, appointed by the
Minister of Higher Education and Training for a four-year term of
office from 28 March 2018.

NIHSS BOARD AS GOVERNING BODY
The Board provides the vision, strategic direction and effective
leadership for the execution of the Institute’s mandate and longterm sustainability. Its responsibilities include approving the fiveyear Strategic Plan and Annual Performance Plan, as well as all
policies and standards, and monitoring their execution.
The current Board consists of the Chairperson and 12 ordinary
members with voting rights. At least three of the members must
be appointed from academic and management staff in the
public higher education institutions. In addition, the regulations
governing the NIHSS allow the Board to co-opt up to four nonvoting experts in relevant fields. During the period under review,
the Board had four coopted members. (The names of Board
members are listed in table 8.)

REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD
During the period under review, eligible Board members were
remunerated and reimbursed for expenses incurred while
executing NIHSS-related activities. For the disclosure of Board fees
and other related expenses, please refer to Note 18 of the Annual
Financial Statements.
MEETINGS OF THE BOARD
During the period under review, the NIHSS Board met five times
to provide leadership and oversight in the governance of the
Institute, including the following:

• Review of the NIHSS Strategy, Annual Performance Plan and
Budget for 2019/20;
• Monitoring of the implementation of the 2019/20 Annual
Performance Plan by reviewing the Institute’s quarterly reports;
and
• Review of policies and governance frameworks.
The meeting attendance record of each member is shown in
Table 8.
Table 8: Attendance of Board meetings in 2019/20
Name and position

No of meetings
Held

Attended

5

5

Dr Bernard Nthambeleni

5

4

Dr Rene Smith

5

5

Chairperson: Prof Ari Sitas
Members

Prof Fiona Tregenna

5

5

Mr Mahlubi Mabizela

5

3

Prof Nhlanhla Mkhize

5

3

Prof Ahmed Bawa

5

3

Mr Thapelo Molapo

5

3

Ms Cynthia Maponya

5

3

Prof Simphiwe Mini

5

2

Ms Luli Callinicos

5

3

Ms Nolwazi Mamorare

5

2

Ms Jacomien Rousseau

5

3

Ms Maleshini Naidoo

5

2

5

5

Ex-officio member (CEO)
Prof Sarah Mosoetsa

Five governance committees were in place throughout 2019/20
to assist the Board in carrying out its duties and to support the
CEO of the NIHSS in conducting her duties. These are the Executive
Committee, Audit and Risk Committee, Finance Committee,
Human Resource Committee and Academic and International
Advisory Committee:
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Table 10: Attendance of Finance Committee meetings in
2019/20

This committee comprises the Chairperson of the Board and the
chairpersons of the five Board committees. Its role is to assist the
Board in fulfilling oversight responsibilities relating to governance
and other strategic matters, including reviews of quarterly
performance and the adequacy and effectiveness of the Board’s
governance structures. The committee did not meet during the
year under review. All strategic matters were referred to and
deliberated on by the collective Board.

Name and position
Chairperson: Ms Jacomien Rousseau

No of meetings
Held

Attended

4

3

4

4

Members
Prof Fiona Tregenna
Prof Simphiwe Mini

4

2

Prof Aris Sitas

4

4

Ms Nolwazi Mamorare

4

4

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
HUMAN RESOURCE COMMITTEE
The role of this committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its
oversight responsibilities relating to financial reporting and audit
processes, risk management, the system of internal controls,
and the Institute’s compliance with applicable legislative and
governance frameworks. This includes an oversight role on risk
related to governance, as well as technology and information. The
committee is chaired by an independent member.

This committee ensures that adequate human resource policies
and strategies are in place and monitors the implementation of
these in accordance with set criteria and measures. It met four
times during 2019/20.
Table 11: Attendance of Human Resource Committee
meetings in 2019/20

Four Audit and Risk Committee meetings were held in 2019/20.
Table 9: Attendance of Audit and Risk Committee meetings
in 2019/20
Name and position

No of meetings
Held

Attended

4

4

Ms Nolwazi Mamorare

4

4

Ms Jacomien Rousseau

4

3

Mr Mahlubi Mabizela

4

3

Dr Bernard Nthambeleni

4

2

Dr Rene Smith

4

2

Chairperson: Ms Maleshini Naidoo
Members

Name and position
Chairperson: Mr Thapelo Molapo

No of meetings
Held

Attended

4

4

4

4

Members
Ms Luli Callinicos
Mr Mahlubi Mabizela

4

3

Prof Nhlanhla Mkhize

4

3

Prof Ari Sitas

4

2

Ms Cynthia Maponya

4

1

Prof Simphiwe Mini

4

1

ACADEMIC AND INTERNATIONAL
ADVISORY COMMITTEE

FINANCE COMMITTEE
The Finance Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight
responsibilities relating to sound financial management and
supply chain management processes, including financial
investments and infrastructure management (acquisition and
maintenance). The committee met three times during the year.
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The primary function of this committee is to advise the Board
on matters related to the intellectual trajectories of the Doctoral
Schools and Scholarships Programme, Catalytic Research Projects,
Humanities Hubs and the African Pathways Programme. It also
reviews the thematic and policy guidelines for all calls for proposals

and Doctoral School applications. Moreover, the Academic and
International Advisory Committee provides oversight about all
the international work of the Institute, including international
collaborations and partnerships, as well as the Institute’s extended
mandate related to BRICS. This committee held two meetings in
2019/20.
Table 12: Attendance of Academic and International
Advisory Committee meetings in 2019/20
Name and position
Chairperson: Prof Nhlanhla Mkhize

No of meetings
Held

Attended

2

2

Members
Dr Bernard Nthambeleni

2

2

Dr Rene Smith

2

2

Prof Fiona Tregenna

2

2

Ms Luli Callinicos

2

2

2

2

Member (CEO)
Prof Sarah Mosoetsa

NIHSS SECRETARIAT
The NIHSS Secretariat ensured that all Board structures were
functional and effective, and that the key governance frameworks
were developed or reviewed, such as the Charters/Terms of
Reference and Board remuneration.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND ASSESSMENT
The NIHSS has adopted an enterprise-wide risk management
(ERM) model of risk management. Following an ERM workshop
held in the first quarter of the year, we updated the NIHSS Risk
Register to review the Institute’s risk profile. The updated Risk
Register formed the basis for updating the risk-based Internal
Audit Plan.
The Risk Management Framework was implemented in the
2019/20 financial year and the Risk Register monitored quarterly.
This included the risks identified and incorporated into the Register
in the previous financial year.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS
The NIHSS categorises internal controls into two components:
basic internal controls and the training of employees on internal
controls in the execution of their day-to-day activities. Basic
internal controls are further categorised into prevention controls,
detection controls and segregation of duties.
The internal auditors assume responsibility for assessing key
controls for adequacy and effectiveness.
The internal audit function is aimed at providing assistance in the
assessment of significant organisational risks and the review of
the adequacy of internal control systems, and provides the Audit
and Risk Committee and the Board with assurance regarding the
adequacy and effectiveness of internal financial controls and
systems.
Internal audit operates in terms of a formal mandate, in full
conformance with the International Professional Practices
Framework for Internal Audit (Standards) and with leading riskbased and integrated methodology.
As in previous years, the internal audit function at the NIHSS
was outsourced to an independent firm, Outsourced Risk and
Compliance Assessment (ORCA). ORCA’s mandate is supported
by unrestricted access to the Chairperson of the Audit and
Risk Committee and the Board. The firm has the following
responsibilities, among others:
• Implement the third year of the Annual Internal Audit Plan (part
of the three-year Coverage Plan approved by the Audit and Risk
Committee during the 2016/17 financial year). This includes any
special tasks or projects, as appropriate, requested by the Audit
and Risk Committee and executive management;
• Provide a professional internal audit capability with sufficient
knowledge, skills and experience to meet the requirements of
the NIHSS;
• Keep the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board informed of
emerging trends and successful practices in internal auditing;
and
• In the event of suspected significant fraudulent activities within
the organisation, assist in the investigation of such activities
and notify management and the Audit and Risk Committee of
the findings.
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The evidence obtained from the audits performed for the 2019/20
financial year indicated that the processes and related system of
internal controls require improvements in the areas reviewed (see
list below). Improvements are necessary to provide reasonable
assurance that the NIHSS’s goals and objectives in these particular
areas will be achieved efficiently and effectively.
The following internal audit activities were conducted in 2019/20:
• Supply chain management (SCM) review;
• Performance information;
• Follow-up of external and internal audit findings;
• Review of 2018/19 annual financial statements;
• Follow-up of ICT policies and readiness for the Protection of
Personal Information (POPI) Act (No 4 of 2013);
• Technical opinion on SCM, and
• Governance.
The results of these audit activities have been discussed with
management and the Audit and Risk Committee, and appropriate
action plans developed to mitigate the risks.

FRAUD AND CORRUPTION
The NIHSS is committed to ethical behaviour and to the
prevention, detection and reporting of fraud in terms of a zerotolerance approach. As such, the Institute implements the Fraud
Prevention Plan that the Board developed and approved on
30 March 2017. The plan applies to any fraud, or suspected fraud,
involving Board members, employees, consultants, vendors,
contractors, outside agencies and any other parties in a business
relationship with the Institute.
The Fraud Prevention Plan highlights the roles and responsibilities
of the Board and different categories of staff members in
preventing fraud. It also provides internal mechanisms for the
detection and reporting of fraudulent activities through the
relevant governance structures and the regulatory bodies. Details
of the reported fraud cases in the previous financial years are
contained in Note 24 of the Annual Financial Statements.

MINIMISING CONFLICT OF INTEREST
EXTERNAL AUDIT
The Auditor-General South Africa (AGSA) is the external auditor,
responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the
NIHSS annual financial statements and performance information.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Board has established governance structures and frameworks
to assist the Institute’s compliance with legislative and regulatory
requirements, as well as corporate governance best practices. To
the extent possible, the NIHSS complied with applicable laws and
regulatory frameworks during the period under review. Where
instances of non-compliance were detected and/or observed,
corrective measures were implemented.
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The following processes have been implemented to reduce
conflict of interest that may arise within the SCM portfolio:
• All employees joining the NIHSS are inducted on the Code
of Ethics and Business Conduct and the Institute’s values
of ubuntu, teamwork, excellence, accountability, integrity,
creativity and respect;
• All suppliers conducting business with the NIHSS must sign a
declaration of interest form (SBD04 form), whereby they declare
any conflict of interest they might have in the procurement
process concerned; and
• All SCM officials and staff members involved in bid specification,
evaluation and adjudication are required to sign a declaration
of interest form for all tenders undertaken by the Institute.
During the period under review, no instances of conflict of
interest were declared. Should any cases be declared in future,
the individual will not participate in the procurement process
concerned.
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While the concept of a “social licence to operate” tends to be used largely in
relation to commercial enterprises, it is highly relevant to the NIHSS. Without
the ongoing acceptance and cooperation of our key stakeholders, it would be
near impossible for the Institute to succeed in achieving its strategic objectives.
Stakeholder inclusivity is fundamental to our ability to create the communities
of scholars and collaborative networks – in South Africa, the rest of Africa and
the Global South – that underpin our vision of a humanities and social sciences
at the epicentre of scholarship, pedagogy, community practice and social
responsibility.
From the outset, in fact even before the NIHSS was officially established, the
health of our stakeholder relationships and quality of stakeholder engagement
have been paramount. As an organisation that plays a supporting and facilitating
role, we appreciate that our stakeholders are at the forefront of delivering on the
Institute’s mandate and goals.
This is why we continually seek to extend and refine our engagement
processes and mechanisms with key stakeholders, as we did on 29 October
2019, for example, when the NIHSS Doctoral Alumni Forum was launched.
The Alumni Forum, open to all who successfully complete their PhDs through
NIHSS scholarships, is a platform for continued growth, both for the graduates
themselves and for their relationship with the Institute – a community of
scholars going from strength to strength.

Our strategic partnership with the South African
Humanities Deans’Association (Sahuda) also entered
a new phase during the year. In September 2019, for
the first time, we jointly hosted a conference, titled
“Time, Thought, Materiality: Africa and the Fourth
Industrial Revolution”. This marked the deepening
of the longstanding collaborative relationship
between the Institute and Sahuda, which has since
the inception of the NHSS played an invaluable role
in awarding and monitoring the PhD scholarships
that we fund.
Similarly, we seek to strengthen and sustain
healthy, vibrant relationships with all the other key
stakeholders that work with the NIHSS to renew
and reenergise the humanities and social sciences:
doctoral scholars, mentors, public universities,
professional associations, think tanks, African
and international partners, and the researchers
participating in or leading our Catalytic Research
Projects, Humanities Hubs, Working Groups and
international collaborations.

These relationships embody the elements of ‘social responsibility’ and ‘community practice’ that are part of the NIHSS’s vision.
Stakeholder

NIHSS deliverable(s)

South African doctoral students

Increased funding for HSS doctoral students

African Pathways Programme students Increased number of non-South African doctoral students funded by the NIHSS in the
HSS
Doctoral alumni

Provide a significant HSS platform to encourage alumni to share ideas and explore
future collaborations, and support their transition to the next phases in their careers

Mentors

Communities of scholarship established through mentorship and offering a
communally based approach to doctoral support through targeted interventions,
which enhance the creativity and technical capacities of doctoral graduates

Council for the Development of Social
Science Research in Africa (CODESRIA)

• Collaboration in African Pathways Programme applications for funding process (by
screening applications and through panel review)
• Policy frameworks developed for joint degrees within the Southern African
Development Community (SADC) and the broader continent
• An open and dynamic process created, through which African scholars cooperate,
collaborate and assist one another (to reflect on the past, present and future of this
continent)
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Stakeholder

NIHSS deliverable(s)

Department of Higher Education and
Training

•
•
•
•

Doctoral Schools

Increased number of Doctoral Schools established and operational, providing a
platform for academic support to NIHSS-funded doctoral students

NIHSS employees

• Favourable working conditions
• Support for students enrolled for study
• Support for research project leaders participating in various NIHSS programmes

Funders

Potential partnerships on ad hoc projects in line with agreed upon service levels

Higher education institutions

• Funding of research through Catalytic Research Projects
• Administering of NIHSS scholarships and research funding through HEIs’ internal
financial processes
• Provision of resources for better support for postgraduate students
• Provision of increased funding for PhD and masters students

National Skills Fund (NSF)

• Funding of HSS PhD students
• Funding of NIHSS research

South African Humanities Deans’
Association (Sahuda)

Collaboration in Doctoral Schools and Scholarships Programme application screening
through panel review

Partnering NGOs

Potential partnership on ad hoc projects in line with agreed upon service levels

South African citizens

• Demonstrating social responsibility and societal responsiveness
• Helping to address the socio-economic challenges facing South Africa and her
citizens
• Advising civil society on HSS-related matters; and increasing and guiding public
discourse about the crucial social issues that face us as citizens, in order to help build
a better South Africa for all

BRICS partner countries

SABTT engagement with other official think tanks from the BRICS countries through the
BTT

Department of International Relations
and Cooperation

A close working relationship maintained by the SABTT with government to align the
SABTT with government policy

BRICS Think Tank Council (BTTC)

Coordination and management by the SABTT of all BTTC-related activities (the BTTC is a
network of five official Think Tanks from the BRICS countries)

SA Parliament

Provision of sound and independent policy advice
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Comprehensive reporting at agreed levels
Performance monitoring in terms of the NIHSS mandate
Provision of policy advice in matters related to the HSS
Provision of advice to the Minister of Higher Education and Training and government
on HSS-related matters
• Increased and guided academic discourse about the crucial social issues that face us
as South African citizens (in order to help influence the character of the South African
community and to create a more humane, responsible and just society)
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KEY PARTNERSHIPS
The South African Humanities Deans’ Association (Sahuda)
• comprising the Deans of Humanities at South African public universities
• a strategic NIHSS partner who played an instrumental part in initiating the
body
• have closely collaborated with the NIHSS on an ongoing basis in awarding
and monitoring scholarships for PhD studies
The Council for the Development of Social Science Research in Africa
(CODESRIA)
• a pan-African research organisation
• partners the NIHSS on
- awarding scholarships for full-time non-South African PhD students based
at SA universities.
- mobility grants to SA researchers and postgraduate students pursing
collaborations and scholarship within the African continent
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Indian Council for Social Science
Research (ICSSR)
• the national body overseeing research
in the social sciences in India
• a key international NIHSS partner
• joint funding for collaborative
research between India and SA

Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences (CASS)
• a Chinese research institute and
think tank, focused on the social
sciences, policy-making and philosophy
• a young partnership with the NHISS
to fund and oversee collaborative
research between SA and Chinese
HSS researchers
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NIHSS office artwork –
Izimpande by Nkosinathi
Isaac Khanyile
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The effectiveness of internal control
The Institute has approved policies and/frameworks
to guide the implementation of effective and
efficient internal controls and procedures on an
ongoing process.
REPORT BY THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
For the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the Committee complied with
its responsibilities, as contained in the Charter that regulates the Committee’s
mandate.
Audit and Risk Committee membership and attendance of meetings
The Audit and Risk committee was only formally established on 1 November
2018 and was fully functional throughout the 2019/20 financial year. The
composition of the Committee and the attendance of meetings during the
period under review are listed under the Governance Section of the Annual
Report on page 51.
Audit and Risk Committee’s responsibilities
The main responsibilities of the Committee, as outlined in the Committee’s
Charter, include amongst others:
• Review the appropriateness of and compliance with accounting policies;
• Through the internal auditors, review the adequacy and effectiveness of
policies and procedures applicable to the NIHSS, and whether they are
complied with;
• A review of the financial management processes and the adequacy of
internal controls;
• A review of the Annual Financial Statements, the Annual Report and related
regulatory filings before these are released, in order to consider the accuracy
and completeness of the information;
• The governance of risk;
• The governance of Information and Communication Technology (ICT);
• Overseeing the internal and external audit functions and related audit
processes;
• A review of the Institute’s compliance with applicable legislative requirements
and governance frameworks; and
• Ensuring that all the disclosures and/or reporting requirements to the Board,
the Executive Authority, the National Treasury and the Auditor-General are
adhered to.
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The internal audit function was formerly established
through the appointment of the internal auditors,
Outsourced Risk and Compliance Assessment
(ORCA). A risk-based Internal Audit Three-Year Rolling
Plan was reviewed and approved; and prior audit
work done before the Committee was established
guided the internal auditors in the preparation
and implementation of the Annual Audit Plan and
ensured that the Internal Audit Plan was risk-based,
taking the NIHSS’s risk profile into consideration.
The Committee reviewed the reports from both
internal and external auditors and is satisfied that
the systems of internal control for the period under
review were effective.
Review and monitoring of performance
information
The Committee reviewed the actual performance of
the NIHSS against the strategic objectives and targets
set in the Annual Performance Plan for 2019/20;
and was satisfied with the content and quality of
the quarterly performance reports prepared and
issued by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) during the year under
review. Where required, the Committee made
recommendations for enhancements to the reports.
Evaluation of the Annual Financial Statements
The Committee reviewed and discussed the
unaudited Annual Financial Statements to be
included in the draft Annual Report in consultation
with the CEO, the Internal Auditors and the
Auditor-General on 26 May 2020. These were
subsequently recommended for Board approval on
9 June 2020.
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The Committee further reviewed the Audited
Annual Financial Statements on 11 August 2020,
in consultation with Management and the internal
and external auditors; and recommended them for
Board approval.
The Committee noted the extension granted by
the DHET, from 30 June 2020 to 31 August 2020,
for the submission of the Audited Annual Financial
Statements to the Minister. The extension was
granted due to the lockdown period imposed in the
country from 27 March 2020.
Summary of main activities undertaken by the
Committee during the financial year under
review
The Audit and Risk Committee attended to the
following matters:
• The review of the Committee’s Charter
subsequently approved by the Board;
• The review of the External Audit Strategy and fees
subsequently approved by the Board
• The approval of the Internal Audit Three-Year
Rolling Plan and associated audit fees;
• The review of the Institute’s risk profile resulting
in the updating of the Strategic Risk Register, the
implementation of which will continuously be
monitored into the 2020/21 financial year; and
• A review of the unaudited Annual Financial
Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 in
May 2020 and the review of the Audited Annual
Financial Statements in August 2020;
• Keeping the Board informed of key issues within
the Committee’s scope, with Committee Reports
submitted and presented at all Board meetings.

executed all the activities expected of them in terms of the Internal Audit Plan for
the reporting period; and concluded that the evidence obtained indicated that
the processes and related systems of internal controls, in the areas reviewed, are
reasonably adequate, and effective to provide reasonable assurance that
the NIHSS goals and objectives in the areas reviewed, will be achieved efficiently
and effectively. The results of the audits have been discussed with management
and appropriate action plans developed to mitigate the risks.
External audit
The external audit was overseen by the Auditor-General of South Africa and
outsourced to Mazars. The Auditor-General has issued an unqualified audit
opinion for the 2019/20 financial year.
Conclusion
Subsequent to the audit of financial statements, performance information and
compliance with legislation, we can report that the systems of internal control
for the 2019/20 financial year were effective and efficient; and there were no
significant deficiencies in internal controls identified.
Date the Audit and Risk Committee recommended AFS be approved
The Committee recommended the approval of the Audited Annual Financial
Statements at the Board meeting held on 4 September 2020 for submission
thereof to the Department of Higher Education and Training; the Accountant
General (National Treasury) and the Auditor-General.

Ms Maleshini Naidoo
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee
Date: 4 September 2020

Internal audit
The internal audit function is formally outsourced
to Outsourced Risk and Compliance Assessment ORCA); the internal auditors reported that they had
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CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S REPORT
I am extremely proud and honoured to present the financial
report of the NIHSS for the 2019/20 financial year. As the
Institute celebrated its sixth anniversary on 5 December
2019, each year brings with it remarkable milestones worthy
of celebrating. 31 March 2020 officially marks the end of
the five-year Strategic Plan period. It has been an absolute
pleasure to be part of this amazing journey. The journey has
gone a long way in changing the lives of ordinary South
Africans and those on the wider African continent, within the
humanities and social sciences sphere. As we look forward to
another five years, we remain eager and optimistic about the
journey ahead.
Great strides continue to be made through the NIHSSSahuda collaboration scholarships to grow the HSS within
the borders of South Africa, while our CODESRIA partnership
supports the scholarships within the broader African
continent through the African Pathways Programme. From
inception to date, the NIHSS has reported a total of 229 PhD
graduations cumulatively, inclusive of South African and nonSouth African students. This is evidence yet again that the
humanities and social sciences, through the NIHSS, are slowly
and gradually being transformed, demonstrating a definite
positive impact on the state of academia within the HSS.
Funding for the 2019/20 financial year was received as follows:
• A total of R34 696 000 was received from the DHET to
fund our operational requirements as the NIHSS. Included
in this amount was R6 800 000 for the BRICS programme,
which is project expenditure. This amount was received
quarterly in four tranches and the portion that related to

operations was recognised as revenue in full. The portion relating to
BRICS was deferred and will be recognised as and when contractual
obligations are met. A further R4 885 000 was received from the NSF to
fund administration costs of projects and a portion of this amount was
also recognised in full.
• A total of R80 528 325 was received from the NSF to fund projects and
programmes. Of this amount, R70 271 770 was recognised as revenue
with contractual obligations having been met during the financial
year. The difference was deferred and will be recognised as and when
contractual obligations are met. As at 31 March 2020, an amount of
R6 105 674 was still outstanding from the NSF. Continuous engagements
continue to happen between the NSF and NIHSS, to recover the funds.
• Interest income of R1 406 737 was received from investments and bank
accounts.
• A net loss of R26 959 was realised on the disposal of an asset.
The total revenue recognised for the 2019/20 financial year was therefore
R106 113 308, which represents a decline of 23.76% from the previous
year. This decline was as a result of budget cuts announced by the NSF in
October 2017, which impacted the prior and current financial years.
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9 049 000
Apr-19
DHET

9 049 000

9 049 000

July-19
DHET

Oct-19
DHET

9 049 000
Nov-19
NSF

Feb-20
DHET

The funds received throughout the year were disbursed as follows:

OPERATIONAL CHALLENGES EXPERIENCED

NIHSS SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAMME

• Late disbursement of funding for projects continued to
be a challenge in the 2019/20 financial year, where funds
were received in November 2019, four months before the
end of the financial year. This created challenges in terms
of disbursement to the beneficiaries. However, funds were
committed accordingly by the end of the financial year.
The NIHSS continues to engage with project funders to
ensure timely receipt of funds.
• On 27 March 2020, the country was placed under
lockdown due to the Covid-19 outbreak. All NIHSS staff
members were required to work from home throughout
the lockdown period. Staff members were equipped
with the necessary resources to enable them to work
from home, and therefore there was no major impact on
business continuity.

A total of R29 765 000 was disbursed to NIHSS-funded PhD fellows
within the South African public universities. This represents a decrease
in disbursements of 41.45% from the previous financial year. This was for
returning (renewed) students. Due to funding constraints, no new students
were enrolled during the 2019/20 financial year.
A total of R2 937 000 was disbursed to non-South African doctoral students
funded through CODESRIA. This represents a decrease in disbursements
of 73.89% from the previous financial year. This was also for returning
(renewed) students. No new uptakes of CODESRIA students were done in
2019/20, due to funding constraints.
Other significant projects supported during the period under review are:
• Catalytic Research Projects – a total of R1 063 087 was funded, resulting
in a decrease of 73.36% from the previous year.
• Humanities Hubs – a total of R2 199 740 was committed for support,
totalling an increase of 26.19% from the previous year.
• BRICS Think Tank – a total of R1 974 781 was funded, reflecting a decrease
of 87.07% from the previous year.
• Working Groups – a total of R6 385 460 was funded, reflecting an increase
of 18.62% from the previous year.
• National Mentorship Programme – a total of R3 637 500 was spent,
meaning an increase of 7.78%.
• Annual National Doctoral Conference – a total of R8 201 883 was
committed for this initiative, with its aim being to create and foster
student-centred approaches to doctoral research development, while
also providing students with a platform and opportunity to present and
showcase their research with fellow doctoral candidates.
Overall, total project expenditure decreased by 31.61%. This is mainly due to
the budget cuts announced in October 2017. This, however, did not impact
negatively on the ability of the NIHSS to meet its performance targets.
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Looking forward, we are optimistic about the next five
years of the NIHSS and eagerly await the outcomes of the
independent evaluation process.
I would like to thank the DHET and the NSF for their continued
support during the financial year.
A special thank you is due to the NIHSS Board, for their
continued leadership and guidance and holding us
accountable in all that we do.
I would like to thank our CEO, Prof Sarah Mosoetsa, for her
visionary leadership yet again, particularly through another
challenging financial year.
Last but certainly not least, gratitude goes to our students,
project leaders, mentors and various other stakeholders,
without whom we would not exist.

AUDIT OUTCOMES
Given that the Institute is in its sixth year of existence, outstanding results
have been achieved in terms of audit outcomes. The NIHSS obtained a
clean audit outcome from the Auditor-General of South Africa for the
fourth time (first:2016/17, second :2017/18, third: 2018/19, fourth: 2019/20).
This highlights the effectiveness of all endeavours and commitments
towards effective financial management and administration.

Tumelo Mokoena CA (SA)
Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO THE MINISTER
OF HIGHER EDUCATION, SCIENCE AND INNOVATION ON
THE NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR THE HUMANITIES AND
SOCIAL SCIENCES

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion
1. I have audited the financial statements of the National Institute for the
Humanities and Social Sciences, set out on pages 96 to 131, which comprise
the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, the statement of
financial performance, the statement of changes in net assets, the cash flow
statement and the statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts
for the year then ended, as well as the notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.
2. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the National Institute for the Humanities and Social
Sciences as at 31 March 2020, and its financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended, in accordance with Standards of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practice (Standards of Grap) and the requirements
of the Higher Education Act 101 of 1997.
Basis for opinion
3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on
Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of this auditor’s report.
4. I am independent of the institute in accordance with sections 290 and
291 of the Code of ethics for professional accountants, and parts 1 and 3
of the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) of the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants (IESBA codes), as well as the ethical requirements
that are relevant to my audit in South Africa. I have fulfilled my other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA codes.
5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for my opinion.
Responsibilities of accounting authority for the financial statements
6. The board of directors, which constitutes the accounting authority, is
responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with the Standards of Grap and the requirements
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of the Higher Education Act 101 of 1997, and
for such internal control as the accounting
authority determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
7. In preparing the financial statements, the
accounting authority is responsible for assessing
the National Institute for the Humanities and
Social Sciences ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
relating to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the
appropriate governance structure either intends
to liquidate the institute or to cease operations,
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements
8. My objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with the ISAs will
always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually
or in aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
9. A further description of my responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements is included
in the annexure to this auditor’s report.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT

Introduction and scope
10. In accordance with the Public Audit Act 25 of 2004 (PAA) and the general
notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report on the
reliability of the reported performance information against predetermined
objectives for selected objectives presented in the annual performance
report. I performed procedures to identify material findings but not to
gather evidence to express assurance.
11. My procedures address the reliability of the reported performance
information, which must be based on the approved performance planning
documents of the institute. I have not evaluated the completeness and
appropriateness of the performance indicators or measures included in the
planning documents. My procedures do not examine whether the actions
taken by the institute enabled service delivery. My procedures also do not
extend to any disclosures or assertions relating to planned performance
strategies and information in respect of future periods that may be included
as part of the reported performance information. Accordingly, my findings
do not extend to these matters.
12. I evaluated the reliability of the reported performance information in
accordance with the criteria developed from the performance management
and reporting framework, as defined in the general notice, for the following
selected objectives presented in the annual performance report of the
institute for the year ended 31 March 2020:
Strategic objectives

Pages in the annual
performance report

Strategic objective 2 Advance postgraduate
scholarship through a range
of innovations

28 – 31

13. I performed procedures to assess the reliability of the reported performance
information to determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete.
14. I did not identify any material findings on the reliability of the reported
performance information for the following objectives:
• Strategic objective 2 - Advance postgraduate scholarship through a range
of innovations.
Other matter
15. I draw attention to the matter below.
ACHIEVEMENT OF PLANNED TARGETS
16. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 22 to 25 for information on
the achievement of planned targets for the year and explanations provided
for the under-/overachievement of a number of targets.
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF COMPLIANCE
WITH LEGISLATION

Introduction and scope
17. In accordance with the PAA and the general
notice issued in terms thereof, I have a
responsibility to report material findings on
the institute’s compliance with specific matters
in key legislation. I performed procedures to
identify findings but not to gather evidence to
express assurance.
18. I did not identify any material findings on
compliance with the specific matters of
applicable legislation, as set out in the Higher
Education Act 101 of 1997.
OTHER INFORMATION

19. The accounting authority is responsible for
the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the
annual report. The other information does not
include the financial statements, the auditor’s
report or those selected objectives presented in
the annual performance report that have been
specifically reported in this auditor’s report.
20. My opinion on the financial statements
and findings on the reported performance
information and compliance with legislation
do not cover the other information, and I do
not express an audit opinion or any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
21. In connection with my audit, my responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements and the selected objectives
presented in the annual performance report,
or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
22. If based on the work I performed, I conclude
that there is a material misstatement in this
other information, I am required to report that
fact. I have nothing to report in this regard.
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Internal control deficiencies
23. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements,
reported performance information and compliance with applicable
legislation; however, my objective was not to express any form of assurance
on it. I did not identify any significant deficiencies in internal control.

Pretoria
04 September 2020

ANNEXURE – AUDITOR-GENERAL’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT

1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout my audit
of the financial statements and the procedures performed on reported
performance information for selected objectives, as well as on the institute’s
compliance with respect to the selected subject matters.
Financial statements
2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of financial statements as
described in this auditor’s report, I also:
• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error; design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks; and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control
• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the institute’s
internal control
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• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the board of directors, which constitutes
the accounting authority
• conclude on the appropriateness of the board
of directors, which constitutes the accounting
authority’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements. I also conclude, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the ability of
the National Institute for the Humanities and
Social Sciences to continue as a going concern.
If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements about the material uncertainty or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
my opinion on the financial statements. My
conclusions are based on the information
available to me at the date of this auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause
an institute to cease operating as a going concern
• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and determine whether the financial
statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
Communication with those charged
with governance
3. I communicate with the accounting authority
regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that I identify
during my audit.
4. I also confirm to the accounting authority
that I have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and
communicate all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to
have a bearing on my independence and,
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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The financial statements set out on pages 96 to 131, which have been prepared on the going concern basis,
were approved by the CEO and the Board on 4 September 2020 and were signed on its behalf by:

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

Prof Aristides Sitas
Board - Chairperson
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2020

Figures in Rands

Notes

2020

2019

Property, plant and equipment

4

3 678 350

4 371 945

Intangible assets

5

1 199 772

1 280 109

4 878 122

5 652 054

Assets
Non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories

8 252

28 620

454 381

360 322

Prepayments

6

Receivables from exchange transactions

7

1 831 799

316 728

Cash and cash equivalents

8

156 944 229

126 611 865

159 238 661

127 317 535

164 116 783

132 969 589

-

123 345

Total assets

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Finance lease liability

10

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions

9

2 888 462

3 443 353

Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions

9

152 750 355

119 852 553

Provisions

9.1

1 081 310

1 101 758

Short-term portion of finance lease liability

10

124 870

148 873

Cash and cash equivalents

8.1

Total liabilities
Net assets
Reserves
Net assets
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-

16 244

156 844 997

124 686 126

7 271 786

8 283 463

7 271 786

8 283 463

7 271 786

8 283 463
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Figures in Rands

Notes

2020

2019

15

1 406 737

994 240

153 801

-

1 560 538

994 240

Revenue
Revenue from exchange transactions
Investment revenue
Other income
Total revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Transfer revenue
Government funding

104 552 770

138 187 178

104 552 770

138 187 178

11

106 113 308

139 181 418

Employee related costs

12

20 579 242

19 570 209

Depreciation and amortisation

4,5

Total revenue from non-exchange transactions
Total revenue

Expenditure

1 806 241

2 559 456

3 000 011

2 680 780

13

70 271 770

102 746 798

General expenses

14.1

10 144 675

9 065 011

Project administration fee

14.2

1 350 005

1 974 868

107 151 944

138 597 122

Rent and utilities (lease rental)
Project expenses

Total expenditure
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets and liabilities
(Deficit) / surplus for the year

26 959

4 269

(1 011 677)

588 565
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Figures in Rands

Note

2020

2019

129 603 036

156 403 863

1 406 737

994 240

131 009 773

157 398 103

Project expenses

(71 621 775)

(104 721 666)

Compensation of employees and Board members

(20 844 105)

(19 792 349)

(7 150 500)

(11 854 505)

(99 616 380)

(136 368 520)

16

31 393 393

21 029 583

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

4

(616 466)

(414 807)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

4

26 959

15 698

Purchase of other intangible assets

5

(455 278)

(704 755)

(1 044 785)

(1 103 864)

-

-

-

-

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

30 348 608

19 925 719

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

126 595 621

106 669 902

156 944 229

126 595 621

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts
Government funding
Interest income

15

Payments

Payments to suppliers

Net cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Net cash flows from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from finance lease

10

Net cash flows from financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Figures in Rands

Note

Balance at 01 April 2018

8 027 442

Net surplus for the year ended 31 March 2019
Adjustment to retained earnings 31 March 2019

Reserves

588 565
29

(332 544)

Balance at 31 March 2019

8 283 463

Balance at 01 April 2019

8 283 463

Net deficit for the year ended 31 March 2020
Adjustment to retained earnings 31 March 2020
Balance at 31 March 2020

(1 011 677)
29

7 271 786
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS

Figures in Rands

Approved budget

Actual

Variance

Note

4 950 000

1 406 737

(3 543 263)

21

-

153 801

153 801

4 950 000

1 560 538

(3 389 462)

Government funding - operations

39 144 732

34 281 000

(4 863 732)

21

Government funding - projects

91 934 000

70 271 770

(21 662 230)

21

Total revenue from non-exchange transactions

131 078 732

104 552 770

(26 525 962)

Total revenue

136 028 732

106 113 308

(29 915 424)

23 371 235

20 579 242

2 791 993

21

Depreciation and amortisation

2 296 000

1 806 241

489 759

21

Rent and utilities (lease rental on operating lease)

3 061 509

3 000 011

61 498

21

Project expenses

95 834 000

70 271 770

25 562 230

21

General expenses

10 185 351

10 144 675

40 676

21

1 280 637

1 350 005

(69 368)

21

Total expenditure

136 028 732

107 151 944

28 876 788

Operating surplus

-

(1 038 636)

(1 038 636)

Gain (loss) on disposal of assets and liabilities

-

26 959

26 959

Surplus for the year

-

(1 011 677)

(1 011 677)

Statement of financial performance

Revenue
Revenue from exchange transactions
Investment revenue
Other income
Total revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Transfer revenue

Expenditure
Employee related costs

Project administration fee
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Presentation of financial statements
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with, and comply with, effective Standards of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any
interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the
Accounting Standards Board.

Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured at
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

The implementation of new GRAP standards has not resulted in
any change in accounting policy.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have
been assessed as follows:

These financial statements have been prepared on an accrual
basis of accounting and are in accordance with historical cost
convention as the basis of measurement, unless specified
otherwise.
A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have
been consistently applied in the preparation of these financial
statements, are disclosed below.
1.1 Presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in South African Rands,
which is the functional currency of the NIHSS.
1.2 Going concern assumption
These financial statements have been prepared based on the
expectation that the NIHSS will continue to operate as a going
concern for at least the next 12 months. Management’s assessment
revealed that the NIHSS’s ability to continue as a going concern
is not significantly affected by Covid-19. Furthermore, a review
process is currently being conducted by the review panel as
appointed by the Minister to assess whether the NIHSS’s mandate
will be extended. The mandate was originally determined to end
at 31 March 2020; however a budget was allocated and approved
for the financial year ended 31 March 2021.
1.3 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. Cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the asset. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality
of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised
as an asset when:
• it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential
associated with the item will flow to the NIHSS; and
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
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Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straightline basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated
residual value.

Item

Average useful life

Depreciation rates

Office furniture and
fittings

9 - 11 years

9% - 11%

Office equipment

4 - 6 years

16% - 25%

2 - 4 years

25% - 50%

over the lease term
(3 years)

33%

Computer equipment
Leasehold
improvements

An assessment is done at each reporting period of whether
there is any indication that the entity’s expectation about the
residual values and the useful lives of assets has changed since
the preceding reporting period. If any such indication exists,
the expected useful lives and/or residual values are revised
accordingly.
NIHSS derecognises its item of property, plant equipment and/
or significant part of an asset upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits or service potential can be derived from the
asset.
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of
property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or deficit
when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the
derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds,
if any, and the carrying amount of the item.
Where the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and
equipment is greater than its estimated recoverable service
amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
(i.e. impairment losses are recognised).
Expenditure incurred on assets to repair and maintain them are
disclosed separately in the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Impairment of assets
Impairment is the loss in the future economic benefits or service
potential of an asset over and above the systematic recognition of
the loss through depreciation or amortisation.

1.5 Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial
asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual interest of
another entity.

Assets are annually assessed, by considering internal and external
factors where there is an indication of impairment.

Initial recognition
The NIHSS recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its
statement of financial position when the entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated at the higher of fair value less cost to sell and its value
in use.
Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
service amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written
down to its recoverable service amount.
1.4 Intangible assets
An intangible asset is initially measured at cost. An intangible asset
is recognised when:
• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or
service potential that are attributable to the asset will flow to
the NIHSS; and
• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.
Intangible assets are subsequently measured at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. The useful
lives of intangible assets have been assessed as follows:
Item
Computer software

Useful life

Depreciation rate

2-4 years

50% - 100%

An assessment is done at each reporting period of whether there
is any indication that the entity’s expectation about the residual
values and the useful lives of intangible assets has changed since
the preceding reporting period. If any such indication exists, the
expected useful lives and/or residual values are revised accordingly.
The gain or loss is the difference between the net disposal
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount. It is recognised in
surplus or deficit when the asset is derecognised.
Where the carrying amount of an intangible asset is greater than
its estimated recoverable service amount, it is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount (i.e. impairment losses are
recognised).
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Initial measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair
value plus, in case of a financial asset or financial liability not
subsequently measured at fair value, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
instrument.
1.5.1 Financial assets
All financial assets of the NIHSS are categorised as Cash and cash
equivalents, and Receivables. The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at
the time of initial recognition.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at amortised cost, which, due
to their short-term nature, closely approximates their fair value.
Financial assets at amortised cost
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market
are classified as “financial assets at amortised cost”. These financial
assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate.
Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset or, where appropriate, a
shorter period.
Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at each
year end.
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Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows
of the investment have been impacted. For financial assets carried
at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets, with the exception
of trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable
is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in the surplus
or deficit.
Derecognition
A financial asset shall be derecognised when the NIHSS realises the
contractual rights to benefits specified in the contract, the rights
expire and the NIHSS surrenders those rights, or the NIHSS loses
control of the contractual rights that comprise a financial asset.
On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount of
the financial asset and the sum of the proceeds received shall be
recognised in the net surplus or deficit for the period.
1.5.2 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities include Trade and other payables from
exchange transactions.
All financial liabilities of the NIHSS are classified as financial liabilities
at amortised cost. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial liabilities and is determined at the time of
initial recognition.
Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of
transaction costs.
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense
recognised on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.
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Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. On
derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability and the amount paid is included in the net
surplus or deficit for the period.
Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset if there is any
intention to either settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously and a legally enforceable right
to offset exists.
1.6 Tax
No provision has been made for taxation, as the NIHSS is exempt
from income tax in terms of Section 10 of the Income Tax Act, 1962
(Act 58 of 1962).
1.7 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is classified
as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership.
Finance leases refer to a contract that transfers the risks, rewards,
rights and obligations incidental to ownership to the lessee and
is recorded as a purchase of property, plant and equipment by
means of long-term borrowing. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases (leases other than finance
leases) are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. When an
operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired,
any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty
is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination
takes place.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.7.1 Finance leases - lessee
Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the
Statement of Financial Position at amounts equal to the fair
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of
the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to
the lessor is included in the Statement of Financial Position as a
finance lease obligation.

Liabilities for annual leave are recognised as they accrue to
employees. The NIHSS recognises the leave obligation during
the vesting period based on the best available estimate of the
accumulated leave expected to vest. The liability is based on the
total amount of leave days due to employees at year end and
on the total remuneration package of the employee. The leave
liability is recognised as an accrual.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance
charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to
produce a constant periodic rate on the remaining balance of the
liability.

No provision has been made for retirement benefits as the NIHSS
does not provide for retirement benefits for its employees.

1.7.2 Operating leases - lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between the
amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments
are recognised as an operating lease asset or liability.
1.8 Inventories
Inventories consist of consumables on hand at the reporting date
and are measured at cost. An individual inventory item whose
cost does not exceed R1 000 is recognised, on acquisition, in
surplus or deficit.
Inventories are subsequently measured at the lower of cost and
net replacement value.
1.9 Employee benefits
The cost of employee benefits is recognised during the period
in which the employee renders the related service. Employee
entitlements are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the reporting date.
Termination benefits are recognised and expensed only when the
payment is made.
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1.10 Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when the NIHSS has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits or service potential will be
required or can be made to settle the obligation.
Provisions are measured as management’s best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the obligation at the reporting
date and are discounted to present value where the amount of
the provision is material.
Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence
will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of an
uncertain future event not wholly within the control of the NIHSS.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised but are disclosed in the
notes to these financial statements, unless the possibility of an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service
potential is remote.
1.11 Revenue
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the NIHSS and these benefits can be
measured reliably.
1.11.1 Revenue from exchange transactions
Revenue from exchange transactions is recognised when it is
probable that future economic benefits or service potential will
flow to the NIHSS and these benefits can be measured reliably.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Interest income is accrued on a time-proportionate basis, taking
into account the principal outstanding and effective interest rate
over the period to maturity.
1.11.2 Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Non-exchange revenue transactions result in resources being
received by the NIHSS, usually in accordance with a binding
arrangement.
When the NIHSS receives resources as a result of a non-exchange
transaction, it recognises an asset and revenue in the period that
the arrangement becomes binding and when it is probable that
the NIHSS will receive economic benefits or service potential and
it can make a reliable measure of the resources transferred.
Where the resources transferred to the NIHSS are subject to the
fulfilment of specific conditions, it recognises an asset and a
corresponding liability. As and when the conditions are fulfilled,
the liability is reduced, and revenue is recognised.
The asset and the corresponding revenue are measured on
the basis of the fair value of the asset on initial recognition. The
following sources of receipts are considered revenue from nonexchange transactions:
Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET) - operations
funding
The MTEF (Medium Term Expenditure Framework - three-year
rolling government budget) allocated funding received from the
DHET. The funding for the NIHSS operations is not conditional and
revenue is recognised when the funds are received.
National Skills Fund (NSF)
The NSF funds all the NIHSS award projects (including the African
Pathways Programme scholarships and the BRICS Think Tank).
The funds for the projects are conditional and revenue is only
recognised to the extent that expenditure is incurred.
1.12 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in
vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been
exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure
is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The
expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the
expense, and where recovered it is subsequently accounted for as
revenue in the Statement of Financial Performance.
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1.13 Irregular expenditure
Irregular expenditure is expenditure other than unauthorised
expenditure, incurred in contravention of or not in accordance
with the NIHSS supply chain policy.
1.14 Reserves
Any surplus funds at the end of the financial year are retained and
utilised for project expenditure in the new financial year.
1.15 Related parties
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability
to control the other party or exercise significant influence over
the other party in making financial and operating decisions or if
the related party entity or another entity are subject to common
control. Where such a situation exists, the nature and type of
transactions and relationships between parties are disclosed in
the notes to these financial statements.
1.16 Commitments
Commitments are disclosed where the NIHSS has, in the normal
course of its operations, entered into a contractual agreement
with third parties for project expenses which are not yet due for
payment.
Commitments are measured at the amount the entity would
pay to settle the obligation, to a third party at reporting date.
Commitments are included in the disclosure note to these
financial statements.
1.17 Reporting period
The reporting period for the 2019/20 financial year is over a
12-month period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.18 Comparatives
The NIHSS was established on 5 December 2013. The financial
period for the 2019/20 financial year is over a 12-month period
from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020.
Where there has been a change in accounting estimate to the
extent that it gives rise to changes in assets and liabilities, or relates
to an item of net assets, the change is recognised by adjusting
the carrying amount of the related asset, liability or item of net
assets in the period of the change. The comparative amounts are
therefore not adjusted.
1.19 Budget information
The approved budget covers the fiscal period from 1 April 2019 to
31 March 2020.
These financial statements and the approved budget are on
the same basis of accounting; therefore, a comparison of actual
performance with budgeted amounts for the reporting period
has been included in the statement of comparison of budget and
actual amounts.
1.20 Events after reporting date
Events after reporting date are those events, whether favourable
and unfavourable, that occur between the reporting date and the
date when the financial statements are approved. Two types of
events can be identified:
• those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the
reporting date (adjusting events after the reporting date); and
• those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the
reporting date (non-adjusting events after the reporting date).
The NIHSS will adjust the amount recognised in the financial
statements to reflect adjusting events after the reporting date
once the event occurred.
The NIHSS will disclose the nature of the event and an estimate
of its financial effect or a statement that such estimate cannot be
made in respect of all material non-adjusting events, where nondisclosure could influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of the financial statements.
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1.21 Significant judgments and sources of estimation
uncertainty
In preparing these financial statements, management is required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts represented in these financial statements and related
disclosures. Use of available information and the application of
judgment is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results
in the future could differ from these estimates which may be
material to these financial statements.
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at year end, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year:
Estimation of useful lives and residual value
An assessment is done at each reporting period to determine
whether there is any indication that the entity’s expectation
about the residual values and the useful lives of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets have changed since the
preceding reporting period. If any such indication exists, an
estimation of the revised expected useful lives and/or residual
values is done.
Impairment of assets
The NIHSS assesses its receivables for impairment at the end of
each reporting period. In determining whether an impairment
loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, management makes
judgments as to whether there is observable data indicating
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from
receivables.
Segment reporting
Management has assessed that the NIHSS operates as one segment
both geographically and in-service offering. There, management
has not divided the financial information into different segments
as required by GRAP 18.
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2. General information
The creation of the National Institute for the Humanities and Social
Sciences (NIHSS) to dynamise these fields of study in South Africa’s
higher education system has emerged out of a wide-ranging
consultative process initiated by the then Minister of Higher
Education and Training, Dr Bonginkosi Blade Nzimande.
In 2010, he appointed the then Minister of Higher Education
and Training appointed a task team to develop a Charter on the
Humanities and Social Sciences. This was aimed at affirming
the importance of humanities and social sciences as forms
of scholarship. The final Report of the Charter was submitted
to the Minister at the time on 4 August 2011. One of the key
recommendations of the Report was the establishment of an
institute for the promotion of humanities and social sciences.

The functions of the NIHSS are to:
a. provide services to the higher education sphere within the
humanities and social sciences
b. Advance learning within the specific scope or application of
the Institute by facilitating collaboration, cooperation and
coordination of the work of higher education institutions; and
c. advise the Minister of Higher Education and Training on matters
relating to its specific scope or application, or higher education
generally.
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Guided by the overwhelming support for the recommendations
from stakeholders, the Minister then provided for the
establishment of the National Institute for the Humanities and
Social Sciences (NIHSS) through Government Gazette Notice No.
37118 on 5 December 2013.
The scope of the NIHSS is that of advancing and coordinating
scholarship, research and ethical practice in the fields of the
humanities and the social sciences within and through the existing
public Universities and those to be established or declared in
future as public universities.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

107

SECTION F

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. New standards and interpretations
3.1 Standards issued, but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, there are standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective. These
include the following standards and interpretations that are applicable to the NIHSS and may have an impact on future financial
statements:

Standard/ Interpretation:

Effective date:

Expected impact:

GRAP 104 - Financial Instruments

1 April 2020

The standard provides guidance on how an entity recognises a financial asset or a financial liability
in its statement of financial position when, and only when, the entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.
The amendments to the standard are not effective as at end of financial year.

• IGRAP 1: Applying the
Probability Test on Initial
Recognition of Revenue

1 April 2020

The standard provides guidance on how an entity applies the probability test on initial recognition
of non-exchange revenue that arises when there is uncertainty that the revenue will eventually be
received.

• IGRAP 20: Accounting for
Adjustments to Revenue

1 April 2020

The standard refers to adjustments to revenue recognised in terms of legislation or similar means
following completion of an internal review process or outcome of an external appeal or objection.

3.2 Standards not yet effective or relevant
The following standards and interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective are not applicable to the NIHSS and will not
have an impact on future financial statements:

Standard/ Interpretation:

Effective date:

Expected impact:

• Grap 18: segment reporting

1 April 2020

No significant impact on future disclosures

• Grap 34 separate financial statements

1 April 2020

No significant impact on future disclosures

• Grap 35 consolidated financial statements

1 April 2020

No significant impact on future disclosures

• Grap 36 investments in associates and joint ventures

1 April 2020

No significant impact on future disclosures

• Grap 37 joint arrangements

1 April 2020

No significant impact on future disclosures

• Grap 38 disclosure of interests in other entities

1 April 2020

No significant impact on future disclosures

• Grap 110 living and non-living resources

1 April 2020

No significant impact on future disclosures
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4. Property, plant and equipment
2020
Figures in Rands

2019

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying value

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying value

Office furniture and fittings

3 417 404

(1 350 691)

2 066 713

3 301 241

(1 009 701)

2 291 540

Office equipment

1 474 691

(1 055 648)

419 043

1 447 144

(674 921)

772 223

Computer equipment

1 468 250

(870 496)

597 754

1 454 124

(997 935)

456 189

Leasehold improvements

3 805 572

(3 266 929)

538 643

3 805 572

(3 040 859)

764 713

154 992

(98 795)

56 197

154 992

(67 712)

87 280

10 320 909

(6 642 559)

3 678 350

10 163 073

(5 791 128)

4 371 945

Office Equipment - Project Assets
Total
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Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2020
Figures in Rands

Opening
balance

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation

Total

Office furniture and fittings

2 291 540

116 163

-

(340 990)

2 066 713

Office equipment

772 223

27 547

-

(380 727)

419 043

Computer equipment

456 189

472 756

(39 433)

(291 757)

597 755

Leasehold improvements

764 713

-

-

(226 071)

538 642

87 280

-

-

(31 083)

56 197

4 371 945

616 466

(39 433)

(1 270 628)

3 678 350

Office Equipment - Project Assets
Total

During the 2019/20 financial year, a total amount of R56 506 was incurred to repair and maintain various assets.
Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2019
Figures in Rands

Opening
balance

Office furniture and fittings
Office equipment
Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements
Office Equipment - Project Assets

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation

Total

2 620 246

8 052

(6 335)

(330 423)

2 291 540

898 840

308 789

(2 773)

(432 633)

772 223

724 116

62 692

(11 429)

(319 190)

456 189

1 227 624

25 404

-

(488 315)

764 713

108 111

9 870

-

(30 701)

87 280

5 578 937

414 807

(20 537)

(1 601 262)

4 371 945

2020

2019

2 066 713

2 291 540

419 043

772 223

Computer equipment

597 754

456 189

Leasehold improvements

538 643

764 713

Total

Gross carrying value
Office furniture and fittings
Office equipment

Office Equipment - Project Assets
Total

56 197

87 280

3 678 350

4 371 945
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5. Intangible assets
2020
Figures in Rands

2019

Cost

Accumulated
amortisation

Carrying value

Cost

Accumulated
amortisation

Carrying value

Computer software

1 156 208

(828 814)

327 394

1 088 196

(622 925)

465 271

Internally generated computer
software

2 739 289

(1 866 911)

872 378

2 352 024

(1 537 186)

814 838

3 895 497

(2 695 725)

1 199 772

3 440 220

(2 160 111)

1 280 109

Total

The NIHSS has developed a Grant Management System internally during the 2016/17, 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20 financial years. The
cumulative expenditures on developing the system have been recognised in the carrying amount of these intangible assets

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2020
Figures in Rands

Opening
balance

Additions

Amortisation

Total

Computer software

465 271

68 012

(205 889)

327 394

Internally generated computer software
Total

814 838

387 266

(329 726)

872 378

1 280 109

455 278

(535 615)

1 199 772

Opening
balance

Additions

Amortisation

Total

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2019
Figures in Rands
Computer software
Internally generated computer software

462 708

250 973

(248 410)

465 271

1 070 840

453 782

(709 784)

814 838

1 533 548

704 755

(958 194)

1 280 109

2020

2019

1 199 772

1 280 109

Gross carrying value
Computer software
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6. Prepayments
Figures in Rands

Notes

2020

2019

Assets paid in advance

92 000

92 000

Rental paid in advance

241 207

249 404

Warranty prepayment

-

391

Other prepayments

61 481

18 527

Medical aid prepayment

59 693

-

454 381

360 322

2020

2019

Total
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7. Receivables
Receivables from exchange transactions
Figures in Rands

Notes

Recoverable amount of fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Other receivables
Total Receivables

124 791

130 477

1 707 008

186 251

1 831 799

316 728

2020

2019

3 131 940

4 632 483

21 166 600

15 118 175

1 535

3 044

8. Cash and cash equivalents
Figures in Rands

Notes

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
NIHSS Operating Bank Account
NIHSS NSF Bank Account
Cash on hand
Investments

132 644 154

106 858 163

156 944 229

126 611 865

2020

2019

Credit Card

-

16 244

Total

-

16 244

Total
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash held by NIHSS. The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair values.

8.1 Cash and cash equivalents
Figures in Rands

Notes
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9. Payables
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions
2020

2019

Trade payables

Figures in Rands

Notes

1 061 300

931 142

Trade accruals

1 171 721

1 774 799

35 600

70 950

Employees’ payables - 13th cheque
Accrued leave pay

619 841

666 462

2 888 462

3 443 353

2020

2019

Trade payables

7 888 000

3 963 950

Trade accruals

3 261 000

712 786

The carrying amount of trade and other payables approximate their fair value due to the
relatively short-term maturity of these financial liabilities.

Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions
Figures in Rands

Notes

Trade payables (NSF) *
Total payables

141 601 355

115 175 817

152 750 355

119 852 553

155 638 817

123 295 906

* The trade payables relating to NSF have been accounted for as deferred revenue in line with GRAP 104.
The funds for the projects are conditional and recognised as deferred revenue. Revenue is only recognised to the extent that expenditure is
incurred.
9.1 Provisions
2020

2019

Opening carrying amount

Figures in Rands

Notes

1 101 758

1 162 568

Amounts not utilised

(448 036)

(508 622)

Amounts paid out/utilised

(653 722)

(653 946)

Additional amount provided

1 081 310

1 101 758

Closing carrying amount

1 081 310

1 101 758

The Provision relates to provisions for performance incentives which are expected to be paid out before the end of August 2020. These are
performance based and are driven by the employees’ performance evaluations.
10. Finance lease liability
Figures in Rands
Finance lease liability
Less: Short-term portion disclosed under current liabilities
Non-current lease liability

112 ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20

Notes
17.2

2020

2019

124 870

272 218

(124 870)

(148 873)

-

123 345

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. Revenue
Figures in Rands

Notes

Investment revenue - interest
Government funding
Other income
Total

2020

2019

1 406 737

994 240

104 552 770

138 187 178

153 801

-

106 113 308

139 181 418

2020

2019

1 406 737

994 240
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The amount included in revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services is as follows:
Figures in Rands

Notes

Investment revenue - Interest

The amount included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions is as follows:
Transfer revenue (Government funding)
Figures in Rands

Notes

Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET) - Operations funding
National Skills Fund (NSF)
Total Government funding

2020

2019

34 281 000

35 440 380

70 271 770

102 746 798

104 552 770

138 187 178

12. Employee-related costs
Figures in Rands
Basic salaries

Notes

2020

2019

19 136 314

18 322 789

UIF

55 226

56 874

SDL

183 871

173 213

Acting allowances

259 363

130 749

9 482

15 276

Accrued leave pay

46 620

157 861

Arbitration awards

147 360

-

Performance incentives

634 495

593 137

76 682

36 715

Subsistence allowances

Provident fund - employer contributions
Temporary staff
Total

29 829

83 595

20 579 242

19 570 209
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13. Project expenses
Awards
Figures in Rands

Notes

2020

2019

Catalytic Projects

1 063 087

3 990 339

Humanities Hubs

2 199 740

1 743 134

-

132 500

Pan African South Collaboration

684 554

-

Awards

919 856

180 000

Evaluation Panels and Award Ceremony

9 290 697

4 988 151

Working Groups

6 385 460

5 382 943

-

250 000

BRICS Think Tank

1 974 781

15 274 434

Emeriti Professors

3 637 500

3 375 000

National Doctoral Conference

8 201 883

3 694 453

135 855

1 219 509

2 991 048

129 643

85 309

199 192

37 569 770

40 559 298

2 937 000

11 352 000

29 765 000

50 835 500

Total Scholarships

32 702 000

62 187 500

Total project expenses

70 271 770

102 746 798

2020

2019

Audit fees - external

746 873

749 512

Audit fees - internal

239 371

259 430

Advertising and Promotions

39 990

490 867

Bank Charges

20 700

19 107

264 863

222 140

82 053

67 935

1 245 442

1 460 002

BRICS Collaboration

Professional Associations

African Pathways Teaching and Research Mobility
National and Regional workshops and seminars
Workshop Costs (project) travel
Total awards

African Pathways (NSF funded scholarships)
SAHUDA (NSF funded scholarships)

14.1 General expenses
Figures in Rands

Board Member Emoluments
Cleaning
Consulting Fees
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Figures in Rands

Notes

2020

2019

3 771

5 670

289 485

262 217

Internet costs

31 110

6 728

Loss on disposal of asset

39 433

9 109

Rental of equipment - finance costs

25 350

11 451

Legal fees

274 425

751 428

Licenses

367 200

402 722

288

-

272 527

277 995

74 942

212 657

80 312

63 314

3 710

506

Small assets

19 202

11 521

Groceries

51 293

41 645

Staff recruitment

315 790

31 644

Staff refreshments

244 689

335 869

Staff training

852 864

276 559

194 780

131 347

48 512

31 184

Supplies and services

716 115

474 863

Telephone and fax

600 630

629 733

Travel & accommodation

752 111

460 228

Water and electricity

794 232

670 863

391

1 570

-

63 310

1 414 014

631 885

5 123

-

33 084

-

10 144 675

9 065 011

Courier and postages
Insurance

Meetings costs
Printing and stationery
Rates and taxes
Repairs and maintenance

4

Security expenses

Staff welfare
Subscriptions to professional bodies

Warranty costs
Workmen’s compensation
Workshop costs (operational)
Bad debts
Loss on impairment of receivables
Total

25
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14.2 Project administration fee
Figures in Rands

Notes

2020

2019

7 261

78 648

Workshop costs (project)

448 632

1 757 439

NSF project administration costs

894 112

138 781

1 350 005

1 974 868

2020

2019

1 406 737

994 240

1 406 737

994 240

2020

2019

(1 011 678)

588 565

(26 959)

(4 269)

Depreciation and amortisation

1 806 241

2 559 456

(Decrease) / Increase in operating and finance lease liability

(107 915)

(118 400)

20 368

28 352

(1 549 437)

332 050

Decrease / (Increase) in receivables from non-exchange transactions

5 837 238

(203 916)

Increase in trade and other payables from exchange transactions

26 425 535

18 180 289

-

(332 544)

31 393 393

21 029 583

Doctoral Schools

15. Investment revenue
Figures in Rands

Notes

Net interest income received per income statement
Investment income

16. Net cash flows from operating activities
Figures in Rands
(Deficit) / Surplus for the year

Notes

Adjustments for:
Gain on disposal of assets

Changes in working capital:
(Increase) in inventories

Increase in trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions
Increase / (Decrease) in retained earnings
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17. Commitments
17.1. Operating lease commitments - As lessee (expense)
Figures in Rands

Notes

2020

2019

• within one year

-

997 618

• in second to fifth year (inclusive)

-

-

-

997 618

Minimum lease payments due:

The lease term where the NIHSS is occupied came to an end in July 2019 and was extended until March 2020. A new lease agreement was
entered into for a five-year period beginning 1 April 2020 until 31 March 2025, subject to the renewal of the NIHSS mandate post
31 March 2020. The building is located on Erf 902, 24 St Andrews Road, Parktown.
17.2. Finance lease commitments - As lessee
Figures in Rands

Present Value

Interest

Payment

124 870

4 803

129 672

-

-

-

124 870

4 803

129 672

Reconciliation of total future minimum lease payments and their present values:
Due not later than one year (current liabilities)
Due later than one year and not later than five years (non-current liabilities)

The Institute entered into two finance lease agreements for the rental of photocopying and printing equipment during the financial year.
There are no annual escalation clauses associated with the leases. The leases have been accounted for in terms of GRAP 13. No provision has
been made for the option to renew the leases on expiry.
Both leases are for a two-year period ending on 28 February 2021 and 31 October 2020, respectively.
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17.3. Project commitments
Projects
All projects and African Pathways Programme scholarships are funded by the National Skills Fund (NSF). The contract period ranges from one to
three years for all projects.

Institution / Entity Programme

Reference

New
Contractual
contracts for
value at
year ending
31 March
31 March
2019
2020

Additional
funding

Project
refunds

Write
backs

Expenditure
for the year
ending
31 March
2020

Contractual
value at
31 March
2020

-

-

Stellenbosch
University

Catalytic Research
Programme

CRP01702

232 500

University of the
Witwatersrand

Catalytic Research
Programme

CRP01625

213 400

213 400

-

University of Cape
Town

Catalytic Research
Programme

CRP01639B

150 000

-

150 000

Humanities Hubs

NIHSS-LF 001

50 000

-

-

-

-

Brics
Collaboration

232 500

(50 000)

211 103

211 103

University of Fort
Hare

African Pathways
Programme

AMG191036

-

144 500

144 500

-

University of
KwaZulu-Natal

Emeriti Professors

NMP201910

-

300 000

300 000

-

University of
Limpopo

Emeriti Professors

NMP201904

-

300 000

300 000

-

University of South
Africa

Emeriti Professors

NMP201907

-

300 000

300 000

-

University of
Stellenbosch

Emeriti Professors

NMP201908

-

300 000

300 000

-

University of
Johannesburg

Emeriti Professors

NMP201903

-

300 000

300 000

-

University of South
Africa

Emeriti Professors

NMP201905

-

300 000

300 000

-

Nelson Mandela
University

Emeriti Professors

NMP201909

-

300 000

300 000

-

Emeriti Professors

NMP20192001

-

300 000

300 000

-

Emeriti Professors

NMP20192002

-

300 000

300 000

-

University of
Pretoria

Emeriti Professors

NMP201906

-

300 000

300 000

-

University of Fort
Hare

Emeriti Professors

NMP201911

-

300 000

300 000

-

University of
Western Cape

Emeriti Professors

NMP201901

150 000

112 500

37 500

Stellenbosch
University

Catalytic Research
Programme

CRP2018/01

150 000

-

410 000

Durban University
of Technology

Catalytic Research
Programme

CRP01605B

200 000

-

-

University of
Pretoria

Catalytic Research
Programme

CRP01611B

150 000

150 000

-
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New
Contractual
contracts for
value at
year ending
31 March
31 March
2019
2020

Additional
funding

Project
refunds

Write
backs

Expenditure
for the year
ending
31 March
2020

Contractual
value at
31 March
2020

Institution / Entity Programme

Reference

University of the
Witwatersrand

Catalytic Research
Programme

CRP01505B

150 000

150 000

-

Nelson Mandela
University

Catalytic Research
Programme

CRP01828B

30 000

30 000

-

University of the
Western Cape

Catalytic Research
Programme

CRP01617B

200 000

200 000

-

University of the
Witwatersrand

Catalytic Research
Programme

CRP016033B

150 000

-

150 000

University of
KwaZulu-Natal

Catalytic Projects

CRP 01501

137 500

-

-

University of
Pretoria

Catalytic Research
Programme

CRP01619B

150 000

150 000

-

University of Fort
Hare

Working Groups
Programme

CRP01614

99 000

99 000

-

North-West
University

Emeriti Professors

NMP2017/09

150 000

150 000

-

-

University of the
Witwatersrand

Emeriti Professors

NMP2017/21

150 000

150 000

-

-

University of the
Western Cape

Emeriti Professors

NMP2018/01UWC

75 000

75 000

-

University of
KwaZulu-Natal

Emeriti Professors

NMP2019/03/01

150 000

150 000

-

University of the
Witwatersrand

Working Groups
Programme

WG 01718

250 000

-

250 000

University of Cape
Town

Working Groups
Programme

WG01737

64 188

64 188

-

-

University of the
Witwatersrand

Working Groups
Programme

WGO01647

97 953

97 953

-

-

University of Cape
Town

Working Groups
Programme

WGPG18/1041

30 000

-

30 000

University of the
Witwatersrand

Working Groups
Programme

WGP18/1020

30 000

30 000

-

UKZN Press,
University of
KwaZulu-Natal

Working Groups
Programme

WG01657B

240 000

-

240 000

WGPC2018/02

100 000

100 000

-

-

30 000

542 718

-

18 600

-

Mapungubwe
Institute for Strategic Working Groups
Programme
Reflection (MIS
Institute for Global
Dialogue

Working Groups
Programme

WGP18/1043

30 000

HSRC Press

Working Groups
Programme

WGPG18/1018

720 000

University of
KwaZulu-Natal

Working Groups
Programme

WGPG18/1070

18 600

137 500

(177 282)
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Institution / Entity Programme

Reference

New
Contractual
contracts for
value at
year ending
31 March
31 March
2019
2020

Additional
funding

Project
refunds

Write
backs

Expenditure
for the year
ending
31 March
2020

Contractual
value at
31 March
2020

University of
Johannesburg

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1108

-

299 000

299 000

-

University of
Pretoria

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1112

-

300 000

300 000

-

University of
Johannesburg

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1023

-

441 250

441 250

-

University of the
Witwatersrand

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1036

-

300 000

300 000

-

Nelson Mandela
University

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1037

-

296 400

296 400

-

University of the
Witwatersrand

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1089

-

140 000

140 000

-

University of the
Free State

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1128

-

131 966

131 966

-

University of the
Witwatersrand

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1053

-

300 650

300 650

-

University of
KwaZulu-Natal

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1080

-

298 450

298 450

-

University of Fort
Hare

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1034

-

300 000

300 000

-

University of Fort
Hare

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1025

-

299 236

299 236

-

WGP19/1003

-

299 200

299 200

-

-

300 000

300 000

-

Amazwi
Abesifazane - Voices Working Groups
Programme
of Women
Abantu Book
Festival

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1138

Modjadji Books

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1141

300 000

150 000

150 000

Apartheid Museum

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1140

300 000

300 000

-

University of Cape
Town

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1139

80 000

80 000

-

University of
Johannesburg

BRICS Academic
Cluster

NIHSS/BRICSCluster 05:2017

150 000

150 000

-

-

Freedom Park

Humanities Hubs
Programme

00201703HUB

412 443

412 443

-

-

University of Fort
Hare

Humanities Hubs
Programme

00201705HUB

1 500 000

1 500 000

-

-

Lwandle Migrant
Labour Museum

Humanities Hubs
Programme

00201702HUB

441 740

441 740

-

Mapungubwe
Humanities Hubs
National Park and
Programme
World Heritage Sites

00201707HUB

600 000

-

600 000
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Institution / Entity Programme

Reference

New
Contractual
contracts for
value at
year ending
31 March
31 March
2019
2020

Additional
funding

Project
refunds

Write
backs

Expenditure
for the year
ending
31 March
2020

Contractual
value at
31 March
2020

180 000

-

284 200

The Hunterstoun
Heritage Centre,
University of Fort
Hare

Humanities Hubs
Programme

00201704HUB

104 200

Rhodes University
North-West
University

Humanities Hubs
Programme

00201709HUB

198 000

198 000

-

University of the
Western Cape

Humanities Hubs
Programme

00201710HUB

160 000

160 000

-

Liliesleaf Trust

Humanities Hubs
Programme

00201713HUB

300 000

1 000 000

50 000

Robben Island
Museum

Humanities Hubs
Programme

00201711HUB

150 000

-

150 000

Market Theatre
Foundation

Humanities Hubs
Programme

00201712HUB_B

-

400 000

100 000

North-West
University

BRICS Working
Group

BWG17/001

40

-

-

University of Cape
Town

BRICS Working
Group

BWG/2018/10
(2)

135 000

135 000

-

The Black Board
Trust

BRICS Working
Group

BWG/2019/01

300 000

300 000

-

Support for SABTT

BRICS Working
Group

BWG/2019/02

600 000

600 000

-

Tshwane University
of Technology

African Pathways
Programme

BMG19/1018

102 000

102 000

-

Rhodes University

African Pathways
Programme

BMG19/1021

-

43 460

43 460

-

University of the
Witwatersrand

African Pathways
Programme

BMG19/1030

-

150 000

150 000

-

University of
Limpopo

African Pathways
Programme

AMG19/1034

-

33 855

33 855

-

University of the
Witwatersrand

African Pathways
Programme

BMG19/1007

-

77 200

77 200

-

University of Cape
Town

African Pathways
Programme

BMG19/1014

-

115 788

115 788

-

University of Fort
Hare

African Pathways
Programme

BMG19/1047

-

60 000

60 000

-

Institute for Global
Dialogue (IGD)

SABTT-IGD Policy
Dialogues for
2017/18

Institute for
Economic Research
and Innovation (IE

BRICS Research
and Development
(R&D) Mapping

Lyfestyle Media

Consultancy
Agreement

-

700 000

50 000

500 000
40

400 000

(400 000)

-

-

1 240 000

(1 240 000)

-

-

262 736

37 647

232 883

67 500
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Institution / Entity Programme

Reference

Consultancy
Agreement

New
Contractual
contracts for
value at
year ending
31 March
31 March
2019
2020

Additional
funding

Project
refunds

Write
backs

181 826

Expenditure
for the year
ending
31 March
2020

Contractual
value at
31 March
2020

81 000

100 826

South African
History Online

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1014

-

300 000

300 000

-

University of Venda

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1120

-

289 250

289 250

-

Wits University Press

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1136

200 000

-

200 000

UKZN Press

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1137

200 000

-

200 000

Jacana Media

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1142

300 000

300 000

-

University of
Johannesburg

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1143

4 000 000

-

4 000 000

Durban University
of Technology

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1146

300 000

300 000

-

HSRC Press

Working Groups
Programme

WGP19/1147

259 823

259 823

-

499 232

-

499 232

Independent Media
(PTY) LTD

-

-

University of
Johannesburg

BRICS Joint NIHSSCASS R

BC01/2019/08

498 000

-

498 000

Institute for Global
Dialogue

BRICS Joint NIHSSCASS R

BC01/2019/06

500 000

-

500 000

University of
Johannesburg

BRICS Joint NIHSSCASS R

BC01/2019/09

480 223

-

480 223

University of
Witwatersrand

BRICS Joint NIHSSCASS R

BC01/2019/03

499 100

-

499 100

University of
KwaZulu-Natal

BRICS Joint NIHSSCASS R

BC01/2019/02

500 000

-

500 000

University of
Johannesburg

BRICS Joint NIHSSCASS R

BC01/2019/04

499 000

-

499 000

HSRC

BRICS Joint NIHSSCASS R

BC01/2019/07

500 000

-

500 000

Rhodes University

BRICS Joint NIHSSCASS R

BC01/2019/05

492 000

-

492 000

15 311 722

11 637 728

Total

10 450 376

20 482 083

960 000

3 105 727 (1 837 282)

NSF project
operational
expenses ^
Total

^ These are operational expenses incurred to support the NSF projects that do not fall under a contract.
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Expenditure
for the year
ending 31
March 2020

Contractual
value at 31
March 2020

2 541 000

2 937 000

-

-

-

-

-

396 000

2 541 000

-

2 937 000

-

Write backs

Expenditure
for the year
ending 31
March 2020

Contractual
value at 31
March 2020

Contractual
value at 31
March 2019

New contracts for
year ending31
March 2020

African Pathways Programme

396 000

African Pathways operational
expenses #

Scholarships (African Pathways)

Total

Additional
funding

Project
refunds

Write backs
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# These are operational expenses incurred to support the African Pathways Programme.

Scholarships (Sahuda)

Contractual
value at 31
March 2019

New contracts for
year ending31
March 2020

7 338 000

24 661 000

60 000

29 765 000

2 174 000

7 338 000

24 661 000

60 000

29 765 000

2 174 000

Scholarships
Total

Additional
funding

Project
refunds

18. Related parties
Relationship
Controlling entity:

Department of Higher Education andTraining (DHET)

Entities under common control:

NSF

Members of key management:

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa

CEO

Mr Tumelo Mokoena

CFO

Members of the Board:

Prof Aristides Sitas (Chairperson)
Prof Ahmed Bawa
Dr Rene Smith
Dr Bernard Nthambeleni
Prof Fiona Tregenna
Mr Mahlubi Mabizela
Ms Luli Callinicos
Prof Nhlanhla Mkhize
Ms Jacomien Rousseau
Mr Thapelo Molapo
Ms Nolwazi Mamorare
Ms Cynthia Maponya
Prof Simphiwe Mini
Ms Maleshini Naidoo (Chairperson of Audit and Risk Committee)
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Related party balances payables
Figures in Rands

2020

2019

141 601 355

115 175 817

104 552 770

138 187 178

Chief Executive Officer

1 608 249

1 524 420

Chief Executive Officer - Secondment payment to Wits University

1 020 536

956 120

Chief Financial Officer

1 760 883

1 377 355

4 389 668

3 857 895

Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET)
All related party balances and transactions to DHET include the transfer to/from the National Skills Fund

Related party transactions
Transactions
Revenue
Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET)
Remuneration - Members of key management

Total

The key management group consists of the NIHSS’s CEO and CFO.

Remuneration - Board members
Figures in Rands

Re-imbursements
2019/20

Board Fees
2019/20

Total
2019/20

Total
2018/19

Prof Aristides Sitas

-

37 906

37 906

33 017

Prof Ahmed Bawa

-

7 338

7 338

-

5 287

19 914

25 201

19 723

Prof Fiona Tregenna

-

29 352

29 352

25 492

Ms Luli Webster

-

29 352

29 352

18 345

Mr Gillion Frencel

-

-

-

16 439

1 508

-

1 508

1 524

-

26 660

26 660

22 800

Dr Rene Smith

939

23 583

24 522

20 723

Ms Cynthia Maponya

845

-

845

7 580

Ms Nolwazi Mamorare

-

30 921

30 921

9 957

Mr Thapelo Molapo

-

25 922

25 922

26 899

Prof Siphiwe Mini

-

18 345

18 345

11 007

Ms Maleshini Naidoo (Chairperson of Audit and Risk Committee)

-

15 570

15 570

8 634

8 579

264 863

273 442

222 140

Dr Bernard Nthambeleni

Ms Jacomien Rousseau
Prof Nhlanhla Mkhize

Total

The Board consists of members appointed in terms of the Government Gazette 37118. Remuneration is paid to members.
NIHSS has remunerated members of the Board for attending Board and sub-committee meetings as disclosed above.
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Transactions made to organisations associated with Board members **
Figures in Rands

Notes

2020

2019

2 773 788

5 798 530

100 000

200 000

1 240 250

2 302 000

Entities associated with Board members

Associating Board members

University of Cape Town

Prof Aristides Sitas

Mapungubwe Institute for Strategic Reflection
(MISTRA)

Ms Luli Callinicos

University of Venda

Dr Bernard N Nthambeleni and Mr Thapelo
Molapo

Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University

Dr Bernard N Nthambeleni

-

3 903 084

Durban University of Technology

Dr Rene Smith

-

476 706

Molapo Industries (Pty) Ltd

Mr Thapelo Molapo

-

16 388

University of Johannesburg

Ms Nolwazi Mamorare and Prof Fiona Tregenna

3 292 321

5 487 530

Human Sciences Research Council

Ms Jacomien Rousseau

802 541

-

University of the Witwatersrand ***

Prof Sarah Mosoetsa (CEO)

6 032 168

11 324 008

14 241 068

29 508 246

TOTAL
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** These transactions are between the NIHSS and the entities that are associated with Board members/CEO.
***In the comparative amount, an amount of R956 120 has been reclassified to Secondment payment to Wits under Remuneration of key
management above.
All transactions above occurred under terms that were no more favourable than those available in similar arm’s length dealings.
19. Risk management
The focus of risk management in the NIHSS is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the
NIHSS. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, management endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that the appropriate
infrastructure, controls, systems and ethics are applied throughout the NIHSS and managed within predetermined procedures and
constraints.
As the NIHSS acquires finance from the DHET and does not have borrowed funds, it does not have major exposure to credit, liquidity,
interest and market risk.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the NIHSS will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Ultimate responsibility
for liquidity risk management rests with the DHET, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the
management of the NIHSS’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements.
2019/20
Payables from exchange transactions
2018/19
Payables from exchange transactions

6 months or less

6-12 months

1-2 years

2 888 462

-

-

6 months or less

6-12 months

1-2 years

3 443 353

-

-
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Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to meet an
obligation. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as outstanding
receivables and committed transactions. For banks and financial institutions, only highly reputable financial institutions are used.
2019/20
The ageing of receivables from exchange transactions:
Not past due
The ageing of cash and cash equivalents
Not past due

Gross

Impairment

2019: Total

1 831 799

-

1 831 799

Gross

Impairment

2019: Total

156 944 229

-

156 944 229

Gross

Impairment

2018: Total

316 728

-

316 728

Gross

Impairment

2018: Total

126 611 865

-

126 611 865

2018/19
The ageing of receivables from exchange transactions:
Not past due

The ageing of cash and cash equivalents:
Not past due

Market risk
No significant events occurred during the year in the market that NIHSS is aware of.
Interest rate risk
The NIHSS has limited exposure to interest rate risk. NIHSS’ cash and cash equivalents are subject to interest rate risk for the portion of
interest received. The interest rate risk is limited as funds are invested with one of the four major banks and this is assessed annually.
20. Events after the reporting date
No adjusting events after the reporting date occurred that the NIHSS is aware of. On 27 March 2020, the country was place under
lockdown due to the Covid-19 outbreak. All NIHSS staff members were required to work from home throughout the lockdown period.
Staff members were equipped with the necessary resources to enable them to work from home, therefore was no major impact on
business continuity.
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21. Budget differences
Notes to Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts
Item

Reason

Investment revenue

Interest from investments from the projects funding has been processed to the deferred revenue account.

Government Funding

The full allocation of funding for operations was received in the financial year. There is an outstanding amount of R6.1m still due
for project funding.
The variance is due to deferred revenue which will be recognised as soon as grant conditions are met.

Employee-related costs

The employee-related costs were under budget due to a reduction of staff members during the year. As such, there were vacant
positions yet to be filled at year end.

Depreciation and
amortisation

The variance is due to asset additions during the 2019/20 financial year. All assets purchased were budgeted for.

Rent and utilities

Rent is under budget due to an extension of the current lease of the building. The extensions were made on the same terms and
conditions as the original lease agreement, which ended on 30 October 2018.

Project expenses

The full allocation of funding for operations was received in the financial year. There is an outstanding amount of R6.1m still due
for project funding.
The amount under budget has been fully committed and will be disbursed as soon as contract conditions are met.

General expenses

General expenses were incurred during the financial year and in line with budget. The amount over budget was financed from
funds received during the year, not initially budgeted for.

Project administration fee

The full allocation of funding for operations was received in the financial year. There is an outstanding amount of R6.1m still due
for project funding. The amount over budget was financed from interest.
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22. Financial instruments disclosure
Categories of financial instruments
2019/20
Financial assets
Figures in Rands

At amortised cost

Total

1 831 799

1 831 799

-

-

156 944 229

156 944 229

158 776 028

158 776 028

At amortised cost

Total

2 888 462

2 888 462

2 888 462

2 888 462

At amortised cost

Total

316 728

316 728

-

-

126 611 865

126 611 865

126 928 593

126 928 593

At amortised cost

Total

3 443 353

3 443 353

3 443 353

3 443 353

At amortised cost

Total

Contingent liabilities

-

-

Total

-

-

Receivables from exchange transactions
Receivables from non-exchange transactions
Cash and cash equivalents
Total

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions
Total

2018/19
Financial assets
Figures in Rands
Receivables from exchange transactions
Receivables from non-exchange transactions
Cash and cash equivalents
Total

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions
Total

23. Contingencies

2019/20
The NIHSS appealed the case which was ongoing in the prior year, during the 2019/20 financial year and the matter was settled in
favour of the organisation. Therefore, no contingent liability exists. No other possible obligation was identified during the 2019/20
financial year.
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2018/19
The possible obligation of R5 744 150 exists due to a labour case between the NIHSS and a former employee. The estimate Labour
Court order amounts to R5 344 150 and an estimate of the cost of the Labour Court to the former employee is R400 000, for legal
fees incurred. NIHSS was granted leave to appeal at the Labour Appeal Court. The case is ongoing.
Contingent asset 2019/20
A possible asset of R234 000 exists due to scholarship beneficiaries who could possibly have defaulted in terms of their contractual
agreements with the Institute. As at financial year end, further investigations were still ongoing for students with contractual
obligations and therefore the asset is contingent upon finalisation of the process.
2018/19
A possible asset of R234 000 exists due to scholarship beneficiaries who could possibly have defaulted in terms of their contractual
agreements with the Institute. At financial year end, investigations were still ongoing and therefore the asset is contingent upon
finalisation of the process.
24. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 2019/20
The fruitless and wasteful expenditure balance relates to the alleged fraudulent transaction that was carried out by a staff member
during 2016/17. The employee has paid back a portion of the funds owed to the NIHSS in the 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20 financial
years.
2018/19
The interest and penalty of R30 562.42 that were incurred during the 2017/18 financial year from the Department of Labour, were
condoned by the Board during 2018/19 financial year.
Reconciliation of fruitless and wasteful expenditure:
Figures in Rands

Notes

2020

2019

130 477

173 539

(6 000)

(13 489)

314

989

-

(30 562)

124 791

130 477

2020

2019

-

265 770

Irregular expenditure condoned

-

(265 770)

Irregular expenditure awaiting condonement

-

-

Opening Balance
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure recovered
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure incurred
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure condoned
Fruitless and Wasteful expenditure awaiting recovery

25. Irregular expenditure
Reconciliation of irregular expenditure:
Figures in Rands
Opening balance

Notes

Irregular expenditure incurred
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2019/20
There was no irregular expenditure incurred during the 2019/20 financial year.
2018/19
The Accounting Authority condoned the irregular expenditure of R265 770.14, incurred in the 2017/18 financial year.
26. Going concern
There are no known instances that cast doubt on the NIHSS’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s assessment
revealed that the NIHSS’s ability to continue as a going concern is not significantly affected by Covid-19. Furthermore, a review process
is currently being conducted by the Review Panel appointed by the Minister to assess whether the NIHSS’s mandate will be extended.
The mandate was originally determined to end at 31 March 2020; however a budget was allocated and approved for the financial year
ended 31 March 2021.
27. Significant judgments and sources of estimation uncertainty estimation of useful lives and residual value
Management is of the opinion that all assets of the NIHSS have a useful life that is equal to the economic life as assets are used to
a point where they cannot be sold at an open market. Management therefore considers the residual value to not be material and
significant.
Impairment of assets
Management is of the opinion that there is no objective evidence individually or in a group that the receivables will not be
recoverable.
28. Change in accounting estimate
The useful lives of computer equipment, leasehold improvements and computer software are as follows:
Average useful life

Depreciation rates

9 - 11 years

9% - 11%

Office equipment

3-5 years

33.33% - 20%

Computer equipment

2- 4 years

25% - 50%

Computer software

1-2 years

50% - 100%

Leasehold improvements

3-5 years

33.33% - 20%

Office furniture and fittings

An assessment was done during the 2019/2020 reporting period to ascertain whether there is any indication that the entity’s
expectation about the residual values and the useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets has changed since
the preceding reporting period. Such an indication did exist for a few items of computer equipment, leasehold improvements and
computer software and the useful lives were revised as follows (only on those specific items):
Average useful life

Depreciation rates

Office equipment

Extended by 1 more year

33.33% - 50%

Computer equipment

Extended by 1 more year

25% - 50%

Computer software

Extended by 1 more year

50% - 100%

Leasehold improvements

Extended by 1 more year

25% - 33.33%

Internally generated computer software

Extended by 1 more year

33.33% - 50%
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The revised useful lives had the following effect on the carrying amounts of the assets:
Average useful life

Depreciation rates

Office equipment

Increase in carrying amount

3 465

Computer equipment

Increase in carrying amount

88 131

Computer software

Increase in carrying amount

116 494

Leasehold improvements

Increase in carrying amount

481 333

Internally generated computer software

Increase in carrying amount

466 285

Total

1 155 708
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The change above was recognised by adjusting the carrying amounts of the related assets.
29. Prior period error 2019/20
No prior period error was identified during the 2019/20 financial year.
2018/19
A prior period error was discovered in the 2018/19 financial year, which related to the 2017/18 financial year. This related to two
expenses as follows:
Advertising

Department of Labour
Total

301 981

30 563

The invoice and statement were only received in the 2018/19 financial year and as
such, were not accrued for in the 2017/18 financial year
This relates to interest charged by the Department of Labour, for late submission of
Return on Earnings. This was disclosed as fruitless and wasteful expenditure in the
2017/18 financial year and was condoned by the Board in 2018/19.

332 544

The total effect of the above was a reduction/adjustment of retained earnings by R332 544.
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